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The following is a summary of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results,
cash flows or stock price. Discussion of the risks listed below, and other risks that we face, are discussed in the section titled
Risk Factors ” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. « We have-are currently involved in litigation and
may in the future be involved in additional lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which could be expensive, time
consuming and unsuccessful. ¢ We discontinued our PRISM4 Phase 3 trial of CP101 in recurrent C. difficile infection (* CDI
) in January 2023 and have shifted our strategic focus towards realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other
assets. This process maybe-has been costly, time consuming and complex, and we may not realize any additional value. If we
fail to execute successfully on this reprioritized strategic focus, our Board may decide to pursue other options, including a
dissolution and liquidation of the Company. * We have a limited operating history, have incurred net losses in every year since
our inception and may continue to incur net losses in the future. « We may require additional funding to finance our operations.
If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to consider a dissolution and hqu1datron of the Company. *
We have 1dent1ﬁed Condrtrons and events that rarqe qub%tantral doubt about our abrhty to contrnue asa gorng concern. * Aetions

y be unable to retain the services oft-he—key—fem&rmng—membefs—ef
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of dlrectors, and asa reqult we may be unable to fully monetize our 1ntellectual property estate and other assets. « Our
1ntellectual property portfoho is based on mrcrobrome therapeutrc% which is a newly approved approach to therapeutrc

-}atef-—‘stage—tﬂa-ls—‘—Product candidates developed using our mrcrobrome technology may be a%socrated W1th serious adverse
undesirable or unacceptable side effects or other properties or safety risks, which may delay or halt their clinical development,
or prevent marketing approval. If such side effects are identified during the development of product candidates developed using
our microbiome technology, or are identified following approval of such product candidates, the development of such product
candidates may be suspended or abandoned, the commercial profile of any approved label may be limited, or the developers of
such product candidates may be subject to other significant negatrve Congequences followrng marketrng approval Wthh could
harm the Value of our 1ntellectual property portfoho o 1 ; volv

trral and wrt-hdfa—w—n» Wlthdrew our IND for CPlOl we remain %ubJ ect to limited ongoing regulatory obligations, including
requirements for record retention, which may result in signifteant-additional expense, and we may be subject to penalties if
we fail to comply with such regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems. « The manufacture of product
candidates developed using our microbiome technology is complex and developers of such product candidates may encounter
difficulties in production, particularly with respect to process development or scaling- up of our manufacturing capabilities. * We
have relied on third- party donors of biological material to manufacture certain product candidates such as CP101, and if we did
not detect all pathogens in donor material, there may be adverse reactions in persons who use or consume products that are
derived from that material. * Some of our product candidates may be studied in clinical trials sponsored by organizations or
agencies other than us, or in investigator- sponsored clinical trials, which means we will have minimal or no control over the
conduct of such trials. * Our current and future collaborations will be important to our business. If we are unable to enter into
new collaborations, or if these collaborations are not successful, our business could be adversely affected. * If we are unable to
obtain or protect intellectual property rights related to any of our technologies, product candidates, or additional assets that
otherwise have value, we may not be able to compete effectively or leverage our intellectual property to generate value. ¢ Patent
terms may be inadequate to protect the competitive position of the products of our future collaboration partners, if any, for an
adequate amount of time, and if we do not obtain protection under the Hatch- Waxman Amendments and similar non- United
States legislation for extending the term of patents covering each product candidate, our business may be materially harmed. ¢ If
we fail to cornply with our obligations in our current and future 1ntellectual property hcensei W1th third parties, we could lose
rights that are important to our business = : 3 a h
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intellectual property from third parties that may be required to develop and commercialize our product candidates. ¢ Third
parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we or a collaboration partner are infringing their intellectual property rights ,
or initiate challenges to the validity of our patents in administrative proceedings before various patent offices, including
inter- partes review, or IPR, proceedings before the United States Patent and Trademark Office ., the outcome of which
would be uncertain and could have a negative impact on the success of our business. * We may be subject to claims challenging
the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property. ¢ Intellectual property rights do not necessarily
address all potential threats to our competitive advantage. « Our-shares-We have received a notification of delisting eemmen
stoek-eonld-be-delisted-from the-The Nasdaq Global Select Market based on the determination of the Listings Qualification
Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“ Nasdaq ) that we are a “ public shell ” under Nasdaq’ s criteria. We
dispute Nasdaq’ s determination and have taken the necessary steps to appeal the determination to delist our common
stock. However , which-we may be unsuccessful in our appeal. In addition, our shares of common stock may also be
delisted from the Nasdaq Global Select Market if we do not satisfy Nasdaq’ s rules requiring that we maintain a
minimum market value of publicly held shares of the Company’ s common stock of $ 5. 0 million. The delisting of the
Company’ s shares of common stock from the Nasdaq Global Select Market could result in, among other things, less
liquidity for holders of shares of our common stock and a decline in the price of our common stock. PART I Item 1. Business.
Overview We are a microbiome technology company with a portfolio of intellectual property and microbiome assets. Our
objectives are to realize the value of our intellectual property estate through licensing our technology to collaboration partners
and enforcing our patent rights against infringing parties through intellectual property litigation and, in certain cases, to
generate additional data on selected product candidates through academic collaborations. We have a robust intellectual property
estate reflecting our pioneering role in the microbiome therapeutics field, including more than #6-113 issued U. S. and foreign
patents with relevance for both donor- derived and donor- independent microbiome therapeutics in a range of potential
indications. Our assets include CP101, an investigational, orally administered microbiome candidate designed for the prevention
of recurrent C. difficile infection, or CDI, with positive clinical data from a Phase 2 randomized, placebo- controlled trial and a
Phase 2 open- label trial, and pre- clinical assets that are designed to target ulcerative colitis, Crohn’ s disease, and autism
spectrum disorder. Additionally, we have developed a significant biorepository of strains and samples. We are currently
engaged in litigation proceedings with Rebiotix Inc. and Ferring Pharmaceuticals Inc. (collectively," Rebiotix"), in which
Rebiotix filed a complaint against us in the U. S. District Court for the District of Delaware on December 1, 2021. The
complaint seeks a declaratory judgment of non- infringement and invalidity with respect to seven United States Patents
owned by us. On February 7, 2022, we filed an answer and counterclaims against Rebiotix for infringement of three of
the patents. On March 7, 2022, we filed an amended answer and counterclaims, in which we, together with the Regents
of UMN, alleged infringement by Rebiotix of three United States Patents owned by UMN and exclusively licensed to us.
The Court set a trial date for a five- day trial beginning on May 20, 2024. On January 23, 2023, we filed a second
amended answer and counterclaims, in which we alleged infringement of two additional patents owned by us. The Court
issued a claim construction order on February 28, 2023. On July 6, 2023, Rebiotix filed a motion to dismiss certain
counts of our second amended answer and counterclaims based on the assertion that we lack standing to sue as to the’
107 Patent,” 702 Patent,” 309 Patent,” 406 Patent,” 413 Patent,” 193 Patent, and’ 080 Patent. Rebiotix specifically alleges
that the sole named inventor on these patents, Thomas J. Borody, did not assign his rights in those patents to Finch, and
as a result, we do not own them and therefore do not have standing to assert them. Briefing on this motion is complete.
The parties have mutually agreed to narrow the case to include only claims from the’ 309,” 702, 193,” 080,” 914, and’ 012
Patents. On December 8, 2023, both parties filed dispositive motions asking the Court to resolve certain aspects of the
case in advance of the jury trial. On February 21, 2024, the Company received a notice that the U. S. District Court for
the District of Delaware issued an order resetting the trial date from May 20, 2024 to August 5, 2024. We spend a
significant amount of our financial and management resources pursuing and managing this litigation matter, and the
outcome of these matters is key to our strategy realize the value of our intellectual property estate. [n January 2023, we
announced the decision to discontinue our PRISM4 trial, a Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in recurrent CDI and focus on
realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets. We have wound are-eurrently-in-the-proeess-of-winding
down our development efforts and significantly sealing-scaled back our expenses, including by terminating vendor contracts and
reducing headcount to one full time employee . Until January 2023, we were a clinical- stage microbiome therapeutics
company using our Human- First Discovery platform to develop a novel class of orally administered biological drugs. The
microbiome consists of trillions of microbes that live symbiotically in and on every human and are essential to our health. When
key microbes are lost, the resulting microbiome disruption can increase susceptibility to immune disorders, infections,
neurological conditions, cancer and other serious diseases. We developed our Human- First Discovery platform to use reverse
translation to identify diseases of microbiome disruption and to design microbiome therapeutics that address them. We were
previously dev e]opmg CP101 as an omlly admlmsteled complete mlcroblome thempeutlc designed for the prev ention of
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indications. We have also used our Human- First Discovery platform to develop FIN- 211, an investigational microbiome
candidate designed to address the gastrointestinal and behavioral symptoms of autism spectrum disorder, or ASD. Following a
strategic review of our pipeline, on November 10, 2022, we announced the decision to suspend efforts to initiate our planned
Phase 1 clinical trial of FIN- 211 in ASD, or the AUSPIRE trlal Our%ﬁ%aﬂaafy%@lq—w&eﬁtefed-mfe-aﬁ-agfeeﬂ&em—whieh—we
fefer—te-as-t-he—other product candldates prevmusly akedaAgreement,-with-TakedaPharmaeeutieal-Compar -0
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disease—tn—a-l-l—ﬁe}ds—weﬂdwtde—We wrl-l—also 1ntend to explore opportunltles to realize the value of our 1ntellectual property
through strategic partnerships and potential licensing opportunities. We also continue to explore opportunities to develop
realize-the-vatue-ofour inteHeetual-property-and-microbiome assets through strategie-partnerships-and-academic collaborations.
These include an ongoing investigator- sponsored trial for the evaluation of CP101 in ulcerative colitis at Brigham and
Women’ s Hospital and our licensing relationship with the University of Minnesota, or UMN, pursuant to which UMN is
conducting multiple investigator- sponsored clinical trials using a microbiome product candidate comprised of compositions to
which we hold an exclusive license. In addition to our clinical and pre- clinical assets, we have developed a biorepository of
samples and strains that can be used in a variety of research applications and may form the basis for future collaborations . On
each of April 19,...... broader sector trends in the biotechnology industry . Targeted and Enriched Consortia Product Candidates
In addition to CP101, a Complete Consortia product candidate designed to address community- level dysbiosis, or disruption
across many functional pathways and species, we also developed certain Targeted Consortia product candidates that consist of
individual bacteria grown from master cell banks to engage narrower pathway- level dysbiosis. The ability to pursue both of
these product strategies enabled us to tailor our product candidates to the pathophysiology of each indication. This combination
of capabilities also enabled us to pursue a third product strategy, Enriched Consortia, which is designed to address dysbiosis at
both the community and pathway level. These product strategies are summarized in the schema below: The Human Microbiome
and its Impact on Disease The human microbiome describes the community of more than 30 trillion microbes that reside on and
inside the human body. By evolving together over millions of years, microbes and humans have developed an intricate and
mutually beneficial relationship that has only recently been uncovered. Enabled by the genomic revolution, researchers have
discovered that humans carry over 1, 000- fold more microbial genes than host genes and that microbiome signaling is
fundamentally intertwined with many aspects of human physiology ranging from immune and metabolic functions to
neurological function and reproductive health. The deep inter- relationship between microbes and their human hosts is a co-
evolution that has resulted in a learned dependency, leaving humans now reliant on inputs from this previously unrecognized
organ system. Disruption of the gut microbiome is associated with a large number of diseases that have dramatically increased in
prevalence among populations in developed countries over the past century. We believe these epidemiological trends are linked
to changes in the microbiome, which if reversed could potentially address an underlying cause of these diseases and change the
epidemiology as a result. The rise of these chronic illnesses coincides with our adoption of a number of practices that disrupt the
microbiome: as of 2015, more than 42 billion doses of antibiotics are administered annually, many killing 40- 60 % of microbial
species in the gut; a third of babies in the United States today are born by caesarean sections, and are consequently unable to
inherit this organ from their mother; and a highly sanitized and artificial environment, absent the environmental inputs expected
by our microbiome, applies further pressure on this ecosystem within us. The effects of these environmental inputs coalesce
around the gut microbiome resulting in dysbiosis and these changes are linked to a wide variety of chronic diseases. For
example, antibiotic exposure doubles the risk of developing inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD, as well as significantly
increases the risk of developing over 10 types of cancer. Early microbiome disruption is also associated with ASD, autoimmune
indications such as celiac diseases, and allergies and asthma, and microbiome disruption later in life has been linked to
neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer’ s disease and Parkinson’ s disease. Importantly, in multiple animal models,
these diseases can be induced by microbiome disruption and corrected by restoration, providing evidence of causality. For
several of these therapeutic areas, this has been further bolstered by clinical data with fecal microbiota transplantation, or
FMT. The effects of gut microbiome dysbiosis teverberates— reverberate throughout the body, both because immune cells are
heavily concentrated in the gut, where more than 70 % of the body’ s immune cells are located, and because microbial
metabolites enter systemic circulation, acting on organs throughout the body. For example, researchers at the California Institute
of Technology showed that the transfer of the microbiome from human donors with ASD into microbiome- free mice promoted
hallmark autistic behaviors. In addition, a large body of research has documented the connection between over a dozen different
microbiome species and molecular pathways connecting the gut’ s enteric nervous system to the brain. We believe the gut- brain
axis is but one example of how the microbiome can provide therapeutic benefits to diseases beyond the gut. Restoring the
microbiome, or its inputs, is an opportunity to directly address the underlying causes of many diseases driven by disruption of
the microbiome. Many existing drugs target only the downstream symptoms of disease, for example, anti- tumor necrosis factor,
or anti- TNF, biologics are prescribed to IBD patients to suppress systemic immunity, without addressing the underlying drivers
of gut inflammation and immune dysregulation. This can lead to unintended side effects as well as an incomplete resolution of
disease. Treating the root cause of disease is more likely to deliver a therapeutic breakthrough and for many diseases of
microbiome disruption, we believe that only through the restoration of the critical physiological role of the microbiome organ
can this be achieved. Intellectual Property As a core source of value at the Company, we believe that our intellectual property



portfolio is foundational for the field of microbiome therapeutics. We believe that this portfolio may present attractive licensing
opportunities as the field continues to mature and new applications for microbiome technology emerge. We have filed or in-
licensed U. S. and foreign patents and patent applications related to this foundational technology. As a result, we have developed
a significant portfolio of intellectual property assets. The patent positions of biopharmaceutical companies like us are generally
uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions. In addition, the coverage claimed in a patent may be
challenged in courts after issuance. Moreover, many jurisdictions permit third parties to challenge issued patents in
administrative proceedings, which may result in further narrowing or even cancellation of patent claims. We cannot predict
whether the patent applications we are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or at all, whether the
claims of any patent applications, should they issue, will cover relevant product candidates, or whether the claims of any issued
patents will provide any competitive advantage or value for the enterprise. Because patent applications in the United States and
certain other jurisdictions are maintained in secrecy for 18 months following their submission, or potentially even longer, and
because publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature often lags behind actual discoveries and patent application
filings, we cannot be certain of the priority of inventions covered by pending patent applications. Accordingly, others may
contend that we may not have been the first to invent the subject matter disclosed in some of our patent applications or the first
to file patent applications covering such subject matter. We have a large and diverse patent portfolio consisting of more than 76
113 issued U. S. and foreign patents that we own or exclusively license from others Our patent portfoho has broad applicability
of specific inventions across the mlcroblome ﬁeld mcludlng -and des e 3
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deve{eped- For CP101 spemﬁcally, our patent portfoho 1ncludes more than ten U. S pat nts that cover CP101 and spe(:1ﬁc
methods of use and manufacture. These patents have expiration dates between 2031 and 2037. Foundational Protection for
Multiple Product Candidates Many of our patents and patent applications originate from patent families that embody pioneering
work in the microbiome by Dr. Thomas Borody, a prolific inventor and founder of the Centre for Digestive Diseases in
Australia, and Drs. Alexander Khoruts and Michael Sadowsky at the University of Minnesota. These patent families have
priority dates that precede the entry into the microbiome field by many of our competitors. As a result, we have been successful
in obtaining broad patent coverage from these patent families over the composition formulation, method of manufacture and
method of using our product candidates. These patent families include: + We own a patent family that includes 24 evertwenty
issued U. S. patents, one pending U. S. patent application, granted foreign patents in Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Israel,
Mexico, Republic of Korea, New Zealand and Japan, and #we-four pending foreign patent applications. Representative issued U.
S. patents in this family include U. S. 10, 022, 406, U. S. 9, 962, 413, U. S. 10, 328, 107, U. S. 10, 278, 997, and U. S. 10, 617,
724, that have claims directed to specific approaches to pharmaceutical compositions comprising stool bacterial material and a
cryoprotectant, methods of processing stool received from healthy human donors, methods of manufacturing, and formulations.
Patent applications, if issued, and patents in this family are expected to expire in 2031, assuming all required maintenance fees
are paid and absent any applicable patent term extension or patent term adjustment. « We exclusively in- license a patent family
from the Regents of the University of Minnesota that includes six ever-five-issued U. S. patents, three-one pending U. S. patent
apphieations— application , granted foreign patents in Australia, Europe, Canada and China, and three-two pending foreign
patent applications. Representative issued U. S. patents within this family include U. S. 10, 028, 980, U. S. 10, 286, 011, U. S.
10, 286, 012, and U. S. 10, 251, 914, that have claims directed to specific approaches to formulations comprising fecal bacteria,
methods of increasing fecal microbiota diversity, and methods of decreasing the relative abundance of a bacteria . Issued U. S.
Patent No. 11, 801, 269 has claims related to methods of treating or preventing a recurrent Clostridium difficile infection
using compositions comprising fecal bacteria extracted from a stool provided by a screened human donor . Patent
applications, if issued, and patents in this family are expected to expire in 2032, assuming all required maintenance fees are paid
and absent any applicable patent term extension or patent term adjustment. « We own a patent family that includes three issued
U. S. patents U. S. 9,901, 603, U. S. 10, 821, 138 and U. S. 11, 123, 377, one pending U. S. patent application, granted patents
in Australia, Brazil, Japan and-, China, Mexico, Korea and eight-Hong Kong, and five pending foreign patent applications.
These issued U. S. patents have claims directed to specific approaches to room temperature stable products containing human-
derived bacteria. Patent applications, if issued, and patents in this family are expected to expire in 2036, assuming all required
maintenance fees are paid and absent any applicable patent term extension or patent term adjustment. Complete Consortia
Product Candidates, including CP101 Our patent portfolio provides comprehensive patent protection for our Complete
Consortia product candidates, including CP101. Representative patents and patent applications from our foundational patent
families that have claims that cover CP101 and other Complete Consortia product candidates include: « One owned issued U. S.
patent (U. S. 10, 617, 724) covering specific approaches to capsules containing lyophilized fecal microbiota from healthy
donors, expected to expire in 2031. » Three owned issued U. S. patents (U. S. 9, 962, 413, U. S. 10, 328, 107, and 10, 849, 937)
covering specific approaches to the collection and processing of stool from healthy donors, expected to expire in 2031. ¢« One
owned issued U. S. patent (U. S. 10, 022, 406) covering specific approaches to compositions comprising fecal microbiota
derived from healthy donors, expected to expire in 2031. « Four in- licensed issued U. S. patents (U. S. 10, 028, 980, U. S. 10,
286,011, U. S. 10, 286, 012, and U. S. 10, 251, 914) covering specific approaches to formulations of fecal microbiota derived
from healthy donors and their use, expected to expire in 2032. < One in- licensed issued U. S. patent (U. S. 11, 801, 269)
covering specific approaches to methods of treating orpreventing a recurrent C. difficile infection using compositions
comprising fecal bacteria extracted from a stoolprovided by a screened human donor, expected to expire in 2032. « Two
owned issued U. S. patents (U. S. 9, 901, 603 and U. S. 10, 821, 138) covering specific approaches to room- temperature stable
products containing human- derived bacteria. * One in- licensed issued U. S. patent (U. S. 10, 849, 936) covering specific
approaches to a method of treating C. difficile infection using lyophilized fecal microbiota, expected to expire in 2037. * One
in- licensed issued U. S. patent (U. S. 11, 819, 523) covering specific approaches to methods of treating C. difficile




infection using a microbial preparation derived from a stool of a healthy human donor, expected toexpire in 2037.
Targeted Consortia Product Candidates For our Targeted Consortia product candidates and their manufacture, our portfolio
consists of several issued U. S. patents from our foundational patent families that provide patent coverage. We are also pursuing
patent protection that we expect will cover each of our Targeted Consortia product candidates, including FIN- 524.
Representative patents that we own and provide protection for our Targeted Consortia product candidates include issued U. S.
patents (U. S. 10, 610, 551 and U. S. 10, 278, 997) covering specific approaches to compositions having lyophilized bacteria
from the genus Bacteroides or the phylum Firmicutes derived from healthy donors and their manufacture, which are expected to
expire in 2031. Additionally, U. S. Patent 11, 850, 269 relates to methods comprising combining expanded fecal bacteria
from a first and second culture media to produce a microbial composition, and to methods of manufacture comprising
formulating a pharmaceutical composition to include multiple bacterial species from a cultured fecal flora, and it is
expected to expire in 203 1. Enriched Consortia Product Candidates Our Enriched Consortia product candidates, such as FIN-
211, are protected by many of the same patents and patent applications that cover our Complete Consortia product candidates.
We also have patent protection for these Enriched Consortia product candidates specifically as well as various pending
applications that we expect will cover these product candidates. Representative patents and patent applications that have claims
that cover our Enriched Consortia product candidates include: « One owned issued U. S. patent (U. S. 11, 207, 356) covering
specific approaches to encapsulated compositions containing donor- derived microbiota enriched with one or more cultured
bacterial strains, expected to expire in 2031. ¢ One in- licensed issued U. S. patent (U. S. 11, 202, 808) covering specific
approaches to methods of treating ASD or an associated gastrointestinal symptom by orally administering a donor- derived
microbial community and a bacterial isolate from a genus with potential therapeutic applications in ASD, expected to expire in
2037. « Two owned issued U. S. patents (U. S. 9,901, 603 and U. S. 10, 821, 138) covering specific approaches to room
temperature stable formulations containing human- derived bacteria, expected to expire in 2036. * One in- licensed issued U. S.
patent (U. S. 10, 286, 012) covering specific approaches to the use of formulations of fecal microbiota derived from healthy
donors, expected to expire in 2032. Patent Term Generally, issued patents are granted a term of 20 years from the earliest
claimed non- provisional filing date. In certain instances, patent term can be adjusted to recapture a portion of delay by the
United States Patent and Trademark Office in examining the patent application (patent term adjustment) or extended to account
for term effectively lost as a result of the U. S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA regulatory review period (patent term
extension), or both. In some cases, the term of a U. S. patent may be shortened by terminal disclaimer, which reduces its term to
that of an earlier- expiring patent. Patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of
1984 is available for one U. S. patent that includes at least one claim covering the composition of matter of a first approved
FDA drug product, or its methods of use or manufacture. The extended patent term cannot exceed the shorter of five years
beyond the non- extended expiration of the patent or fourteen years from the date of the FDA approval of the drug product, and
a patent cannot be extended more than once or for more than a single product. During the period of extension, if granted, the
scope of exclusivity is limited to the approved product for approved uses. Some foreign jurisdictions, including Europe and
Japan, have analogous patent term extension provisions, which allow for extension of the term of a patent that covers a drug
approved by the applicable foreign regulatory agency. If and when product candidates developed using our intellectual property
receive FDA approval, we expect to apply, if appropriate, for patent term extension on patents covering those product
candidates, their methods of use and / or methods of manufacture. Trade Secrets In addition to patents, we rely on trade secrets
and know- how to develop and maintain our competitive position. We typically rely on trade secrets to protect aspects of our
business that are not amenable to, or that we do not consider appropriate for, patent protection. We protect trade secrets and
know- how by establishing confidentiality agreements and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants,
scientific advisors, contractors and collaborators. These agreements provide that all confidential information developed or made
known during the course of an individual or entities’ relationship with us must be kept confidential during and after the
relationship. These agreements also provide that all inventions resulting from work performed for us or relating to our business
and conceived or completed during the period of employment or assignment, as applicable, shall be our exclusive property. In
addition, we take other appropriate precautions, such as physical and technological security measures, to guard against
misappropriation of our proprietary information by third parties. Our CeHeaberations-and-License Agreements Exclusive License
Agreement with Arizona State University In July 2017, we entered into a license agreement, or the Arizona State Agreement,
with Skysong Innovations LLC (formerly Arizona Science and Technology Enterprises LLC), or Skysong, pursuant to which we
obtained a worldwide, royalty- bearing, exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under certain patents and patent
applications of Arizona State University to make, have made, use, have used, sell, have sold, offer to sell, have offered for sale,
import, have imported, export or have exported products and services that are covered by such licensed patents. In July 2018, we
subsequently amended the Arizona State Agreement to include certain additional patents and patent applications of Arizona
State University. The patents and patent applications that we have exclusively licensed from Arizona State University under the
Arizona State Agreement relate generally to compositions and methods to treat autism spectrum disorder and related symptoms
and comorbidities. If issued, the patents within the licensed intellectual property would be expected to expire beginning in 2033.
Pursuant to the terms of the Arizona State Agreement, we, our affiliates or our sublicensees, are obligated to use commercially
reasonable efforts in connection with the development and commercialization of products and services, the manufacture, use,
sale, offering for sale, importation or exportation of which, but for the license granted under the Arizona State Agreement,
would infringe one or more licensed patents, or licensed products. Such efforts are limited to the United States and include a
specific performance milestone. We have had are-alse-eurrently-engaging-in-discussions with Skysong regarding our reeent
strategic reprioritization and the potential implications of these changes on our ongoing obligations under the Arizona State
Agreement. Under the terms of the Arizona State Agreement, we paid Skysong an upfront fee of $ 10, 000 and reimbursed
Skysong for prior patent prosecution expenses. Additionally, we have agreed to make a low- six digits milestone payment upon



the first commercial sale of a product in each of the United States, England, France, Germany, Italy, Spain and Japan, and a one-
time commercial milestone payment in the low- seven digits upon the achievement of cumulative, worldwide net sales of all
licensed products by us, our sublicensees or respective affiliates in the low- nine digits. We are also obligated to pay Skysong a
low- single digit royalty on net sales of licensed products, including a minimum annual royalty payment in the mid- four digits
to low- five digits that is creditable against the royalties due in such year. The royalty obligations continue on a country- by-
country basis as to each licensed product until expiry of the last to expire claim within the licensed patents that covers such
licensed product in such country. Moreover, we are obligated to pay a percentage of any non- royalty consideration received by
us from a sublicensee in the high- second decile. The Arizona State Agreement expires on the date of expiration of all royalty
obligations. Upon expiration of our royalty obligations with respect to a licensed product in a country we will have a royalty-
free, irrevocable, perpetual license to such licensed product in such country. We may terminate the Arizona State Agreement for
any reason or upon an uncured material breach of the agreement by Skysong. Skysong may terminate the Arizona State
Agreement upon our uncured material breach of the agreement, our insolvency, our initiation of any proceeding or claim
challenging the validity or enforceability of any licensed patent, or our failure to meet a specific performance milestone.
Exclusive Patent License Agreement with the University of Minnesota In March 2012, CIPAC Limited, an entity established
under the laws of Malta, or CIPAC, entered into a license agreement, or , as amended, the UMN Agreement, with Regents of
UMN, pursuant to which CIPAC obtained a worldwide, royalty- bearing, exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses,
under certain patents and inventions of the University of Minnesota to make, have made, use, offer to sell or sell, offer to lease
or lease, import, or otherwise offer to dispose or dispose of any product or service that is covered by such licensed patents. The
UMN Agreement was subsequently amended in June 2014 and October 2014. In May 2015, CIPAC transferred its interest in the
UMN Agreement to us. Subsequent to such transfer, the UMN Agreement was subseguently-further amended in December
2016 and September 2017. We amended and restated the UMN Agreement in January 2022, to consolidate earlier amendments
and extend the deadline for satisfying performance milestones by one year Pufsu&ﬁt—te—t-he—tenms—e—ﬁOn Aprll 12 2023 we
amended the UMN Agreement —we—afe—ebhgated—to among tse-eommere e S e e
things +
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UMN Agreement we paid UMN an aggregate upfront fee of $ 155, 000, and are obhgated to pay annual maintenance fees in
the mid- four digits. We are also obligated to pay UMN a royalty on net sales of licensed products ranging in the low- single
digits depending on which licensed patents cover such licensed product, subject to a minimum annual royalty payment
escalating over time in the low- five digits to low- six digits payable at the end of each applicable year. Such minimum annual
royalty payments began in 2021. The royalty obligations continue on a country- by- country basis as to each licensed product
until expiry of the last to expire claim within the licensed patents that cover such licensed product in such country. Moreover,
we are obligated to pay a percentage of any non- royalty consideration received by us from a sublicensee in the high- second
decile. The UMN Agreement expires on the date of expiration of all claims under the licensed patents. We may terminate the
UMN Agreement upon an uncured material breach of the UMN Agreement by UMN. UMN may terminate the UMN
Agreement upon our uncured material breach of the agreement, our insolvency, or upon the commencement by us of any
proceeding asserting or alleging the invalidity or unenforceability of the licensed patents. Agreements with OpenBiome Asset
Purchase Agreement In November 2020, we entered into an asset purchase agreement, or the OpenBiome Agreement, with
Microbiome Health Research Institute, Inc., or OpenBiome, pursuant to which we acquired certain biological samples, including
aliquots of human stool that have been used in clinical trials and under enforcement discretion for the treatment of CDI not
responding to standard therapy, and obtained a perpetual license to certain OpenBiome technology, and, upon closing of the
transaction, we acquired certain additional assets of OpenBiome, including capital equipment (comprising lab equipment) and
contracts relating to the operating maintenance of a lab facility. In connection with entering into the OpenBiome Agreement, we
terminated our other existing agreements with OpenBiome, as such agreements were superseded by the OpenBiome Agreement
and certain other agreements entered into concurrently with the OpenBiome Agreement. In connection with the signing of the
OpenBiome Agreement, OpenBiome granted us a worldwide, irrevocable and perpetual license, with the right to grant
sublicenses (through multiple tiers) under certain of OpenBiome’ s technology that is necessary or useful in the manufacture of
products manufactured directly from stool from a stool donor source without the use of culturing or replication, which we refer
to as Natural Products, including technology pertaining to the selection of human stool donors, the collection and processing of
stool from human donors and the preparation of stool- based products, and under any improvements to our intellectual property
previously developed by OpenBiome or developed by OpenBiome during a specified period of time after the closing of the
transaction, in each case to exploit products and services. In addition to the foregoing license, except under certain limited
circumstances, OpenBiome agreed not to license or transfer to our competitors any rights to those aspects of its manufacturing
technology that are not publicly available as of the date of the OpenBiome Agreement. Pursuant to the OpenBiome Agreement,
for the period prior to the closing of the transaction we granted OpenBiome a worldwide, non- exclusive license under certain of
our intellectual property rights to make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and export certain Natural Products solely for the
treatment of recurrent CDI in the United States under an FDA policy of enforcement discretion and to conduct clinical research
in all fields other than the diagnosis, treatment, palliation or prevention in humans of CDI not subject to an FDA policy of
enforcement discretion, IBD, ASD or hepatitis B virus, or HBV. Additionally, for the period beginning on the closing of the
transaction, we granted OpenBiome a worldwide, non- exclusive license under certain of our intellectual property rights to sell
certain Natural Products manufactured prior to the closing of the transaction solely for the treatment of recurrent CDI in the




United States under enforcement discretion, and to make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and export certain Natural Products for
purposes of conducting clinical research in all fields other than the diagnosis, treatment, palliation or prevention in humans of
CDI not subject to an FDA policy of enforcement discretion, IBD, ASD or HBV. Notwithstanding the foregoing license,
OpenBiome has agreed to certain restrictions related to the use, sale and supply of such products in connection with clinical
research of our competitors. Additionally, the license grant excludes any license to exploit a Natural Product wherein processed
stool is lyophilized (such as in the case of CP101). In connection with the signing of the OpenBiome Agreement, we paid
OpenBiome $ 1. 0 million in the form of an upfront payment and $ 150, 000 as reimbursement for OpenBiome’ s attorneys’ fees
and expenses in connection the negotiation of the OpenBiome Agreement. On the closing of the transaction, we paid
OpenBiome $ 2. 25 million, plus an additional $ 1. 6 million if no regulatory restrictions were in place preventing the sale and
distribution of OpenBiome’ s products under enforcement discretion as of the date of closing. In addition to the foregoing
payments, we are obligated to pay to OpenBiome a low single digit royalty on net sales of Natural Products by us and our
affiliates and a high single digit royalty of certain sublicensing revenue (including royalties) received in connection with Natural
Products, as well as a low single digit royalty on net sales of FIN- 524, FIN- 525 and any product that is not a Natural Product or
a product that comprises both material manufactured directly from stool from a stool donor source without the use of culturing
or replication and drug substance or drug product comprising one or more active pharmaceutical ingredients, and, in either case
contains one or more isolates derived from certain stool donors that are exclusive to us, or Cultured Products, by us and our
affiliates and a high single digit percentage of certain sublicensing revenue (including royalties) received in connection with
Cultured Products. On a country- by- country basis, our payment obligations with respect to Natural Products expires— expire
twenty- five years after first commercial sale of such Natural Product in such country, and, with respect to Cultured Products
expites— expire fifteen years after first commercial sale of such Cultured Product in such country. We are also obligated to pay
OpenBiome up to $ 6. 0 million in the aggregate upon achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones with
Natural Products and $ 20. 0 million in the aggregate upon achievement of certain commercial milestones with Natural Products.
LMIC License Agreement In November 2020, concurrently with entering into the OpenBiome Agreement, we entered into a
license agreement, or the LMIC Agreement, with OpenBiome, pursuant to which we granted OpenBiome a non- exclusive
license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under certain of our patents, patent applications and know- how that are reasonably
necessary or useful for the exploitation of products manufactured directly from stool from a stool donor source without the use
of culturing or replication, or Natural Products, to make, use, sell, have sold, offer for sale and import Natural Products and
formulated liquid suspensions derived from the stool of a stool donor source that may be incorporated into a Natural Product, in
either case for the treatment in humans of malnutrition and neglected tropical diseases in certain low- and middle- income
countries, or the LMIC Territory. The license grant excludes any license to exploit a Natural Product wherein processed stool is
lyophilized (such as in the case of CP101) or to otherwise use the licensed intellectual property to lyophilize a product. Pursuant
to the LMIC Agreement, we own all improvements, enhancements or modifications to the licensed intellectual property
(whether or not patentable) invented by either party during the term of the LMIC Agreement. OpenBiome has agreed to assign
to us its interest in and to any such improvements, enhancements or modifications. Pursuant to the LMIC Agreement, we are
entitled to receive tiered royalties on net sales of Natural Products and products that incorporate formulated liquid suspensions
derived from the stool of a stool donor source that may be incorporated into a Natural Product in the LMIC Territory ranging
from mid- single digit to low- second decile. Royalties are payable on a product- by- product and country- by- country basis
during the period beginning on the first commercial sale of such product in such country and ending on the later of the
expiration of the last to expire valid claim from a licensed patent that covers such product or ten years from the date of the
LMIC Agreement. The LMIC Agreement expires on product- by- product and country- by- country basis upon expiry of the
applicable royalty obligation for such product in such country. OpenBiome has the right to terminate the LMIC Agreement upon
specified prior written notice to us. Either party may terminate the LMIC Agreement in the event of an uncured material breach
by the other party of either the LMIC Agreement (or uncured breach by OpenBiome of the OpenBiome Agreement), provided
that if such uncured material breach is limited to a breach of the LMIC Agreement in a particular country, our right to terminate
the LMIC Agreement is limited to just such country. Either party may terminate the LMIC Agreement in the event of the
insolvency of the other party. We may terminate the LMIC Agreement in the event that OpenBiome brings, or assists in
bringing, a challenge to the validity, patentability, scope, construction, inventorship, ownership, enforceability or non-
infringement of any licensed patent or patent application. Government Regulation Government authorities in the United States at
the federal, state and local level and in other countries and jurisdictions including the European Union, extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage,
record- keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, post- approval monitoring and reporting, marketing and export and import
of biological products, such as our product candidates. Although we have-discontinued the PRISM4 trial and witherawn—-
withdrew our investigational new drug application, or IND, for CP101, as the sponsor of completed or terminated clinical
trials and the holder of the withdrawn IND hetder-, we along with third- party contractors, remain subject to certain limited
regulations. These include FDA regulatory requirements for record retention. Additionally, parties developing and / or
commercializing product candidates developed using our microbiome technology, including investigator- sponsors
studying our product candidates in investigator- initiated trials, are subject to extensive government regulation. Failure to
comply with the applicable regulatory requirements at any time during the product development process or post- approval may
subject an applicant to delays in development or approval or licensure, as well as administrative or judicial sanctions , which
could harm the value of our intellectual property portfolio . Regulatory Approval of Biological Products in the United States
In the United States, biological products are subject to regulation under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA,
the Public Health Service Act, or PHSA, and their implementing regulations. Biological products are also subject to other
federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations. Preclinical Studies Before testing any biological product candidates in



humans, the product candidate must undergo rigorous preclinical testing. Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluations of
product biological characteristics, chemistry, toxicity, formulation and stability, as well as in vitro and animal studies to assess
the potential for adverse events and in some cases to establish a rationale for therapeutic use. The conduct of preclinical studies
is subject to federal and state regulations and requirements, including the Good Laboratory Practice regulations for safety /
toxicology studies. An IND sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical studies, together with manufacturing information,
analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical studies, among other things, to the FDA as part of
an IND. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA by a sponsor to administer an investigational product to humans
and must become effective before human clinical trials may begin. Clinical Trials The clinical stage of development involves
the administration of the investigational product to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of qualified
investigators, generally physicians not employed by or under the trial sponsor’ s control. Clinical trials must be conducted: (i) in
compliance with federal regulations; (ii) in compliance with Good Clinical Practice, an international standard meant to protect
the rights and health of patients and to define the roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators and monitors; as well as (iii)
under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the trial, dosing procedures, subject selection and eligibility
criteria, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated in the trial. Each protocol
involving testing on U. S. patients and subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.
Furthermore, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an institutional review board, or IRB, for each institution at
which the clinical trial will be conducted to ensure that the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trials are minimized
and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. There also are requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical
trials and completed clinical trial results to public registries. Information about certain clinical trials, including clinical trial
results, must be submitted within specific timeframes for publication on the www. clinicaltrials. gov website. Information
related to the investigational product, patient population, phase of investigation, clinical trial sites and investigators and other
aspects of the clinical trial is then made publrc as part of the regrstratron Drsclosure of the results of these clinical trrals can be
delayed in certam Crrcumstances - vho-w : : i :

: Durmg all phases of clinical development
regulatory agencies require extensive monitoring and auditing of all Clmrcal actrvrtres clinical data, and clinical trial
investigators. Annual progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted to the FDA. Written IND
safety reports must be promptly submitted to the FDA and the investigators for serious and unexpected adverse events, any
findings from other studies, tests in laboratory animals or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk for human subjects, or
any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator
brochure. The sponsor must submit an IND safety report within fifteen calendar days after the sponsor determines that the
information qualifies for reporting. The sponsor also must notify the FDA of any unexpected fatal or life- threatening suspected
adverse reaction within seven calendar days after the sponsor’ s initial receipt of the information. International Regulation In
addition to regulations in the United States and-Burepe-, a variety of foreign regulations govern development, clinical trials,
commercialization eemmeretatsates-and distribution of biologic products such as our product candidates and products
developed using our microbiome technology . Employees and—I{mﬁaﬁ—Gapﬁal—Resetﬁees—As of March 20 %92—3—2024 we had
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orrgmally mcorporated in Delaware in November 2014 and untrl September 21 2017 or the Merger Date, we conducted our
business through Finch Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation. On the Merger Date, pursuant to the terms of the agreement
and plan of merger, or the Merger Agreement, Finch Therapeutics, Inc. and Crestovo Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, completed a merger of equals. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each of Finch Therapeutics, Inc. and
Crestovo Holdings LLC became a wholly- owned subsidiary of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. Crestovo Holdings LLC was
renamed Finch Therapeutics Holdings LLC in November 2020. Our principal executive office is located at 75 State Street 266
InnerBeltRead-, Suite 466-100 , Semervite-Boston , Massachusetts 82443-02109 . Our telephone number is (617) 229- 6499.
Our website address is www. finchtherapeutics. com. Information contained in, or accessible through, our website does not
constitute a part of, and is not incorporated into, this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Available Information We are subject to the
informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and, accordingly, file
reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. The SEC maintains a
website (http: / / www. sec. gov) that contains material regarding issuers that file electronically, such as ourselves, with the SEC.
We make available free of charge on our website our Annual Reports on Form 10- K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q, Current
Reports on Form 8- K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Exchange
Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Item 1A. Risk



Factors Our business is subject to numerous risks. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, in
addition to other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K as well as our other public filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Any of the following risks could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects and cause the trading price of our common stock to
decline. Risks Related to Our Shift in Strategic Focus, Financial Position and Capital Needs We are currently involved in
litigation and may in the future be involved in additional lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, which have may be
involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents,which could be expensive,time consuming and
unsuccessful. Competitors may infringe the patents for which we have applied.To counter infringement or unauthorized
use,we may be required to file infringement claims,directly or via a licensor or collaboration partner,which can be
expensive and time- consuming.In certain circumstances it may not be practicable or cost effective for us to enforce our
intellectual property rights fully,particularly in certain developing countries or where the initiation of a claim might
harm our business relationships.We may also be hindered or prevented from enforcing our rights with respect to a
government entity or instrumentality because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity.If we,directly or via a licensor or
collaboration partner,initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent,the defendant could
counterclaim that the patent is invalid and / or unenforceable.In patent litigation in the United States,counterclaims
alleging invalidity and / or unenforceability are common,and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party can
assert invalidity or unenforceability of a patent.In an infringement proceeding,a court may decide that the patent claims
we are asserting are invalid and / or unenforceable,or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at
issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the technology in question.Third parties may also initiate legal
proceedings against us claiming that our patents are not infringed,invalid and / or unenforceable.For example,on December
1,2021,Rebiotix Inc.and Ferring Pharmaceuticals Inc.(collectively," Rebiotix") , filed a complaint against us in the U.S.District
Court for the District of Delaware.The complaint seeks a declaratory judgment of non- infringement and invalidity with respect
to seven United States Patents owned by us.On February 7,2022,we filed an answer and counterclaims against Rebiotix for
infringement of three of the patents.On March 7,2022,we filed an amended answer and counterclaims,in which we,together with
the Regentq of UMN alleged 1nfr1ngement by Reblotlx of thlee United States Patents owned by UMN and exclusively licensed
0 d 0 ve—d —On January 23,2023, we filed a second amended
answer and counterclalmi in which we alleged mfnngement of two addltlonal patents owned by #s-Finch . The-Courtissued-a
Reblotlx has filed claims a-motion-to-dismiss-eertain-eountsof
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States or abroad,even outside the context of litigation.Such mechanisms include re- examination,post grant review,inter partes
review and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (for example,opposition proceedings).Such proceedings could result
in revocation of or amendment to our patents,including patentetatrr-amendments unfavorable to us,our licensors or a
collaboration partner.The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to
the validity question,for example,we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art,of which we,our patent counsel,and
the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution.If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and / or
unenforceability,we may lose some,and perhaps all,of the patent protection that is valuable to our business or otherwise relates
to our microbiome assets.An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly,could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could have a material
adverse impact on our business.Moreover,even if we are successful in any litigation,we may incur significant expense in
connection with such proceedings,and the amount of any monetary damages may be inadequate to compensate us for damage as
a result of the infringement and the ineurred-inrelationto-the-proceedings. We are focused on monetizing our microbiome
assets,including through licensing transactions to collaboration partners and other third parties.An adverse outcome in any
proceedings to enforce or defend our patent rights could diminish the value of our microbiome assets,could discourage third
parties from entering into collaboration or other licensing agreements with us and could have a material adverse impact on our
ability to generate revenue from our intellectual property and other microbiome assets.Interference proceedings provoked by
third parties or brought by us may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patent applications.An
unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related technology or force us to take a license under the patent rights of
the prevailing party,if available.Furthermore,our business could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on
commercially reasonable terms.Our defense of litigation or interference proceedings may fail and,even if successful,may result
in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees. We may not be able to prevent misappropriation of our
intellectual property rights,particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the United
States.Furthermore,because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property
litigation,there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of
litigation. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings,motions,or other interim proceedings or



developments If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative,it could have a material adverse effect on
the price of our common stock. We In-eertainetrenmstaneesit-discontinued our PRISM4 Phase 3 trial of CP101 in recurrent C.
difficile infection (“ CDI ”) in January 2023 and have shifted our strategic focus towards realizing the value of our intellectual
property estate and other assets. This process may-be-has been costly, time consuming and complex, and we may not realize any
additional value. If we fail to execute successfully on this reprioritized strategic focus, our Board may decide to pursue other
options, including a dissolution and liquidation of the Company. We-have-In January 2023, we discontinued our PRISM4
Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in recurrent CDI and shifted our focus towards realizing the value of our intellectual property
estate and other assets , including through enforcing our patent rights against infringing parties . The process of reorienting
our business strategy -1s—has been costly, time consuming and complex, and we have incurred, and may in the future incur,
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our technology, enforcement of our patent rlghts the sale of certain of our assets, strategic partnerships, joint ventures,
restructurings, divestitures, investments or other alternatives, as well as current and any potential new investigator- sponsored
trlals to advance our microbiome assets and de rlsk future development opportun1t1es in the mlcroblome space —Fhese

y y e A v H s an . Further, our strategic
reprlorltlzatlon may result in unexpected expenses or hab1ht1es and / or write- offs There is no assurance that we will be
successful at executing on our revised strategy or that any particular course of action, business arrangement or transaction, or
series of transactions, will be pursued, successfully consummated, lead to increased stockholder value, or achieve the anticipated
results. If we are unable to execute successfully on our reprioritized strategic focus, our cash resources may not last as long as
estimated and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Our Board
may decide to pursue other options, including a dissolution and liquidation of the Company, which may result in our
stockholders receiving little or no value in respect of their shares of common stock. We-have-reeently-In January 2023, we
reprioritized our strategic operations and are new focusing on realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other
assets. We have a limited operating history in both this capacity and as a clinical- stage microbiome therapeutics company. Since
our inception, we have focused primarily on developing and progressing our product candidates through clinical development,
organizing and staffing our company, research and development activities, establishing and protecting our intellectual property
portfolio, including for our Human- First Discovery platform, and raising capital. Consequently, and particularly due to our
strategic reprioritization, we have no meaningful operations upon which to evaluate our business and predictions about our
future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of
successfully developing and commercializing drug products. Although we may use our product candidates and microbiome
technology to support third- party research, including investigator- sponsored trials, we do not currently expect to progress any
product candidate through clinical trials or commercial approval and we do not currently expect to generate any revenue from
product sales. We have incurred losses in each reporting period since our inception. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 and2024+-, we reported net losses of $ 74. 8 million and $ 114. 6 million and-$-582-mithen, respectively. As of
December 31, 20222023 , we had an accumulated deficit of $ 275-350 . 64 million. We expect to continue to incur significant
losses for the foreseeable future as we attempt to realize the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets. We may
never succeed in realizing the full value of our intellectual property estate and other assets and, even if we do, we may never
generate revenue that is significant or large enough to achieve profitability. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to
sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. A decline in the value of our company also could cause you to
lose all or part of your investment. Even if we succeed in realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets,
we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect
our business. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to
generate revenue. Our prior losses and expected future losses have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our
stockholders’ equity and working capital. To date, we have primarily funded our operations through the initial public offering
(the" IPO"), private placements of equity securities and upfront and milestone payments received pursuant to our previous
collaboration agreement with Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited ;-erFakeda-. This agreement was terminated
effective November 2022 . We expect to spend substantial amounts in an effort to maximize the value of our intellectual
property estate and other assets, including through enforcement of our patents. We may require additional capital to do so, which
we may raise through equity offerings, debt financings, and other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements
or other sources. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our ability to raise
capital is dependent on a number of factors, including the market demand for our securities, which is uncertain. Our failure to
raise capital as and when needed would have a negative effect on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business
strategy. In addition, attempting to secure additional financing may divert the time and attention of our management from day-
to- day activities and harm our operational efforts. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on acceptable terms, we
would be forced to consider a dissolution and liquidation of the Company. In Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements, we
disclose that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Although we currently forecast that our
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $ 7425 . 8-1 million as of December 31, 20222023 will be sufficient to fund our
operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least twelve months from the issuance of our annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2822-2023 , we have identified certain qualitative conditions
and-events-that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern —OnJanuary-24-within one year after
the date that our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 . 2023 are issued. In particular, our
anticipated cash expenditures and funding requirements are largely dependent on the outcome of our ongoing litigation
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currently expect to generate any revenue from product sales . While we believe strongly in the value of our pioneering
intellectual property portfolio and the merits of our current litigation activities relating to those assets, we may never succeed in
realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets and even if we do, we may encounter unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our ability to continue as a going
concern. Further, we have suffered recurring losses from operations since our inception and expect to continue to incur
operating losses for the foreseeable future. These factors raise substuntldl doubt about our ability to continue as a <romg concern.
Based on our internal estimates and current operating plan, z A6
reduetions—i-foree;-we believe that our existing unrestricted cash and cush equivalents will enable us to fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2025 —; Hewever-however , our anticipated cash expenditures and
funding requirements are largely dependent upon the outcome of our ongoing litigation against Rebiotix, which is
scheduled to go to trial in August 2024. In addition , this estimate is based on our current assumptions that may prove to be
wrong, and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. We may not be able to limit expenses
to the extent we predict, and adequate additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we cannot
Contmue asav iable entlty our shdleholdeu may lose some or all of then investment in us. Aet—teﬁs—t-h&t—we—ha-ve—takeﬂ—te—fefeeus

services of t-he—our only employee, Matthew P. Bhschak our board of d1rectors, and key consultants fema-rn-mg—members—ef
otr-management-teamor-attractretain-and contractors metivate-the-qualified-personnelneeessary-to the Company oversee
aﬂd—rm-p-}emeﬂt—euﬁstrateg-r&fepﬂeﬂ&z&&efraﬂd- and as a result, we may be unable to fully monetize our intellectual property
estate and other assets. We are highly dependent on our meanagement-team;-ineluding-Mark-Smith; Ph-—D—eur-Chief Executive
Officer, Matthew P. Blischak, and are reliant on certain other consultants and contractors to the Company, including
Lance Thlbault our Chief Financial Officer, as we work to realize the value implement-our-strategie-repriotitizatton—Eaeh
member-of our management-teamrintellectual property estate. The loss of the services of these individuals could impede our
ab1hty to fully monetize our 1ntellectual property and other assets. Mr. Bhschak may termmate 't'he'l'l"—hls employment with

7 : ar-wit-fe Fee-with-us and Danforth Adv1sors, LLC, whlch—"l"—he—uneerfarn-ty—tfﬂ&ereﬂt—rn
t-liris—eﬂge-'rng—restfuetur-rng—may be dx—fﬁeul-t—te—maﬂage—termmated at any time. Additionally . in April 2023 may-eatise

v v , our board of directors eliminated cash compensation for board and
may-committee service and reduced grants of annual equity compensation to members of our board of directors. The
impact of these events could make it more difficult for us to attract new-—employeestn-thefuture-who-with-and retain
qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on committees of our board of directors or as members of senior
management If we are unable to do S0, we may be key—unable to comply w1th regulatlons tm-p-}emeﬂ&ng—lmplemented by

and erderly
ide-(he Nasdaq Stock Market

lose one or more members of eurexeeuﬁve—efﬁeers—erour key—emp-}eyees—new ma

nagement team or our board of directors ,

or if we are unable to attract and retain new executive officers and employees key to the execution of our strategic
reprioritization, our ability to implement our business strategy successfully could be seriously harmed. The loss of the services
of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the achievement of our business objectives and adversely affect
our ability to successfully implement our reprioritized business strategy. Additionally, our limited senior management team size
mdy hampel our dblllty to etfectlvely manage a pub]ldy traded compdny while operatmg our busmess Gur—maﬂ&gemeﬁt—te&m

eﬂ—t-heﬁt-rateg-re—fepﬂeﬂtﬁa—t—teﬁ—Attmcmm dnd retaining qudlmed personnel to guide—operate the ( ompany t-hreug-h—ettf



; a d-may be difficult and may
take an extended perlod of time because of the hmlted number of 1nd1V1dua1§ in our 1ndu§t1y Wlth the breadth of skills and
experience required to successfully implement our business strategy. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and
we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel . Rent expenses and other factors related to our
leased facility could adversely impact our business. On August 3, 2021, we entered into a 10- year lease agreement, or the
Hood Lease, with Hood Park LLC, pursuant to which we lease approximately 61, 139 square feet of office and
laboratory space, or the Property, in Charlestown, Massachusetts. Our annual base rent for the Property started at
approximately $ 4. 5 million, and the lease agreement contains annual rent escalations. The Hood Lease subjects us to
potential financial risk. Although we are currently subleasing the Property to two subtenants for three- year terms, there
is no guarantee that the current subtenants will continue the subleases past the initial term of the agreements, or that we
will be able to find alternate subtenants or negotiate sublease arrangements on attractive terms or at all. While we have
the right to sublease the Property under specified conditions, we may not be able to sublease the Property if or when we
would like to do so, or we may incur substantial costs to terminate the Hood Lease or sublease the Property. If we are
unable to sublease, assign or otherwise terminate our obligations under the Hood Lease, we will be required to pay rent,
including any rent expense in excess of sublease income, and certain expenses for the balance of the lease term, and the
performance of such obligations would negatively impact our liquidity position and have a material adverse impact on
our financial condition . Our liquidity position could be adversely affected if the financial institutions in which we hold our
cash and cash equivalents fail. We regularly maintain cash balances at third- party financial institutions ystekas-StheonValley
-Baﬁ-lem excess ofthe Fedelal Depo%lt ln%urance Cmporatlon (the “FDIC ”) insurance limit. -Si-l-reen—V&Hey—B&nH‘—eﬁgemg

Failures of a depomory institution to return our deposits or other adver%e development% in ﬁnanClal or Cledlt market@ could
further impair our liquidity position, including our ability to satisfy working capital needs, and create additional market and
economic uncertainty . Economic uncertainty and volatility in the U. S. and global financial markets could limit our
ability to access capital or increase the cost of capital needed to fund our business operations. As of December 31, 2023,
economic uncertainty, inflationary pressures, the ongoing war in Ukraine, the Israel- Hamas war, rising interest rates
and the expectations around the terminal target interest rate of the Federal Reserve continue to produce volatility in the
debt and equity markets. Such volatility may affect our ability to access capital markets, which could lead to higher
borrowing costs or other unattractive financing terms or, in some cases, the inability to fund ongoing operations.
Adverse changes or continued volatility in the financial markets could render us either unable to access additional
financing or able to access these markets only at higher costs and with restrictive financial or other conditions, which
could severely affect our business operations and hinder our fiber expansion plans . Risks Related to the Development and
Manufacture of Product Candidates Developed Using Our Microbiome Technology Our intellectual property portfolio is based
on microbiome therapy, a therapeutic approach that is designed to treat disease by restoring the function of a dysbiotic
microbiome. At this time, we are aware of only ene-two predaet-products that kas-have received regulatory approval for a
therapeutic based on this approach, and we are not yet aware of its degree of commercial success. With such limited precedent,
we cannot be certain that this approach will lead to the development of additional approvable or marketable products. In
addition, the efficacy potential of product candidates developed using microbiome technology may vary based on indication and
use in different patient populations including geographical areas. Finally, the FDA or other regulatory agencies may have
limited experience in evaluating the safety and efficacy of products based on microbiome therapeutics, which could result in a
longer than expected regulatory review process or evolving FDA standards and guidance, increase expected development costs
for developers of microbiome therapeutics and delay or prevent commercialization of product candidates developed using our
microbiome technology. Regulatory requirements governing microbiome therapies are still developing and may change in the
future. Regulatory authorities and advisory groups, and the new guidelines they promulgate, may lengthen the regulatory review
process, require developers of microbiome therapeutics to perform additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, increase
development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or prevent approval and commercialization
of product candidates developed using microbiome technology or lead to significant post- approval limitations or restrictions.
Microbiome therapies in general may not be successfully developed or commercialized or gain the acceptance of the public or
the medical community. The success of microbiome therapeutic product candidates, if approved, will depend upon physicians
who specialize in the treatment of diseases targeted by product candidates developed using microbiome technology, prescribing
potential treatments that involve the use of product candidates developed using microbiome technology in lieu of, or in addition
to, existing treatments with which they are more familiar and for which greater clinical data may be available. The success of
microbiome therapeutic product candidates, if approved, will also depend on consumer acceptance and adoption of any such
commercialized products. Adverse events in non- IND human clinical studies and clinical trials of product candidates developed
using microbiome therapeutics, as well as any other adverse findings that may arise in connection with the continued research
and development in the microbiome field, could result in negative publicity and a decrease in demand for any microbiome
therapeutic product. In addition, responses by the federal, state or foreign governments to negative public perception or ethical
concerns may result in new legislation or regulations that could limit the ability of any of our current or future partners and
collaborators, and the ability of others developing therapeutic candidates using our microbiome technology, to successfully
develop or commercialize any product candidates, obtain or maintain regulatory approval, identify alternate regulatory pathways
to market or otherwise achieve profitability. More restrictive statutory regimes, government regulations or negative public
opinion would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and may delay or
impair the development and commercialization of or demand for product candidates developed using microbiome technology



and could harm the value and marketability of our intellectual property as a whole . Clinical trials may fail to demonstrate
substantial evidence of the safety and efficacy of product candidates developed using our microbiome technology, which would
prevent or delay or limit the scope of regulatory approval and commercialization and could harm the value and marketability of
our intellectual property portfolio. To obtain the requisite regulatory approvals to market and sell any product candidates
developed using our microbiome technology, any developers of such product candidates must demonstrate through extensive
preclinical studies and clinical trials that the investigational drug products are safe and effective for use in each targeted
indication. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure
can occur at any time during the clinical development process. For example, any developers of such product candidates may be
unable to establish clinical endpoints that applicable regulatory authorities would consider clinically meaningful. Moreover, a
clinical trial can fail at any stage of testing and most product candidates that begin clinical trials are never approved by
regulatory authorities for commercialization. Further, the process of obtaining regulatory approval is expensive, often takes
many years following the commencement of clinical trials and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and
novelty of the product candidates involved, as well as the target indications, patient population and regulatory agency. Prior to
obtaining approval to commercialize any product candidates in the United States or abroad, the developer of such product
candidate must demonstrate with substantial evidence from adequate and well- controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, that such product candidates are safe and effective for their intended uses.
Clinical trials conducted by developers of product candidates that utilize our microbiome technology may not demonstrate the
efficacy and safety necessary to obtain regulatory approval to market such product candidates. In some instances, there can be
significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due to numerous
factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations,
changes in and adherence to the clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. If the results of
any future clinical trials involving product candidates developed using our microbiome technology fail to demonstrate or are
inconclusive with respect to safety and efficacy, if such product candidates do not meet the designated clinical endpoints with
statistical and clinically meaningful significance, or if there are safety concerns associated with such product candidates, the
developers of such product candidates may be delayed in obtaining marketing approval, if at all, and the value and marketability
of our intellectual property portfolio as a whole may be harmed. Any of these occurrences would have negative implications for
the future development potential of product candidates developed with our microbiome technology and our intellectual property
portfolio and may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, any safety concerns observed
in any clinical trials involving product candidates developed using our microbiome technology could limit the prospects for
regulatory approval of such product candidates in those and other indications and harm the value and marketability of our
intellectual property portfolio as a whole. Even if any clinical trials with respect to product candidates developed using our
microbiome technology are successfully completed, clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses,
and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not interpret the results in the same manner as the proponent of
the product candidate. More trials could be required before such product candidates are submitted for approval, especially for
indications for which clinical endpoints are not well- established. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may
not view such product candidates as being efficacious even if positive results are observed in clinical trials. Moreover, results
acceptable to support approval in one jurisdiction may be deemed inadequate by another regulatory authority to support
regulatory approval in that other jurisdiction. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application, approval of any other current or future product
candidates may be significantly delayed, or significant additional resources may be required to conduct additional trials in
support of potential approval of such product candidates. Even if regulatory approval is secured for a product candidate, the
terms of such approval may l1m1t the scope and use of the %pemﬁc product candidate, which may also limit its commercial
potent1al ; ; Ay ;

developed using our mlcroblome technology could cause the developers of quch product candldateq or regulatory authormeq to
interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. The results from future preclinical studies and clinical trials of product



candidates developed using our microbiome technology may identify safety concerns or other undesirable properties of such
product candidates. Additionally, if the development of such product candidates is expanded into new patient populations or
disease areas, side effects or adverse events not seen in preclinical and clinical research conducted to date could emerge. The
results of clinical trials of product candidates developed using our microbiome technology may show that such product
candidates cause undesirable or unacceptable side effects or even death. In such an event, the relevant clinical trials could be
suspended or terminated, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order the developers of such product
candidates to cease further development of or deny approval of such product candidates for any or all targeted indications. The
drug- related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in
potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences would have negative implications for the future development
potential of product candidates developed with our microbiome technology and our intellectual property portfolio and would
significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, if product candidates developed using
our microbiome technology are associated with undesirable side effects in preclinical studies or clinical trials or have
characteristics that are unexpected, the developers of such product candidates may elect to abandon their development or limit
their development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less
prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk- benefit perspective, which may limit the commercial expectations for the
product candidate, if approved. Additionally, adverse developments in clinical trials of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical
products conducted by other companies or institutions or with commercial products offered by others may cause the FDA or
other regulatory oversight bodies to suspend or terminate clinical trials of product candidates developed using our microbiome
technology or change the requirements for approval of such product candidates or otherwise adversely impact the clinical and
commercial development of such product candidates. Such adverse developments may cause the FDA to perceive such product
candidates as unsafe and bring increased regulatory scrutiny to the clinical operations of the developers of such product
candidates more broadly, may lead to decreased confidence by patients, physicians and contract research organizations, or
CROs, in such product candidates, and may result in reduced demand for any product ultimately developed, if approved.
Additionally, if any product candidates developed using our microbiome technology receives marketing approval and
undesirable or unacceptable side effects caused by such products are later identified, a number of potentially significant negative
consequences could result, including: ¢ site institutional review boards or safety monitoring committees may recommend that
enrollment or dosing be placed on hold or that additional safety measures be implemented for ongoing trials; ¢ regulatory
authorities may withdraw or limit approvals of such product and require the removal of the approved product from the market; ¢
regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings, a contraindication or field alerts to
physicians and pharmacies; * regulatory authorities may require a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for
distribution to patients, or the implementation of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, plan to ensure that the
benefits of the product outweigh its risks; ¢ the developer of the applicable product candidate may be required to change the
way the product is dosed, distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the labeling of the product; ¢
the developer of the applicable product candidate may be subject to limitations on how the product may be promoted; ¢ sales of
the product may decrease significantly;  we or the developer of the product candidate may be subject to litigation or product
liability claims; and ¢ our reputation and / or the reputation of the developer of the product candidate may suffer. Any of these
events could prevent the developers of any product candidate developed using our microbiome technology from achieving or
maintaining market acceptance of the affected product or could substantially increase commercialization costs and expenses,
which in turn could delay or prevent the generation of significant revenue from the sale of such product candidate, if approved.
Any such occurrence may have negative implications for the future development potential of product candidates developed with
our microbiome technology and could harm the value and marketability of our intellectual property as a whole would have
a material adverﬂe effect on our business, ﬁna11c1al Condmon and reqult% of operations. Although we Ffem—t-m&e—te—t-m&e—t-he
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eenﬂﬁefeia-l-ized-sueees%fu-l-lry—we may be ttna-b}e—sub]ect to e*eeﬁte—eﬁ—penaltles 1f we falled to comply w1th prevmusly
applicable requirements ot or business-strategy-of- maximizing-fail to comply with the walge-eflimited continuing
regulatory requirements eur—- or inteHeetual-property-estate-experience unanticipated problems . Although we have
discontinued the PRISM4 trial and withdrawsa- withdrew our IND application for CP101, as the sponsor of clinical trials and
IND holder, we remain subject to regulation. Our failure or the failure of our third- party contractors to comply with the
applicable regulatory requirements of the FDA or other applicable governmental authormeq at any tlme mcludmg contlnulng
requirements related to records retention, among the-other things manufae Rg1a
tmpert-erexport, may subject us to administrative or judicial sanctions, Wthh Could have a materlal adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations and could harm the value and marketability of our intellectual
property as a whole . The manufacture of product candidates developed using our microbiome technology is complex and
developers of such product candidates may encounter difficulties in production, particularly with respect to process development
or scaling- up of our manufacturing capabilities. Product candidates developed using our microbiome technology to date are
biologics that consist of bacteria and may include other microorganisms. The process of manufacturing such product candidates
is complex, highly regulated and subject to multiple risks. The manufacture of such product candidates involves complex
processes, including obtaining biological material (human stool) from qualified third- party donors. As a result of these, and
other, complexities, the cost to manufacture such product candidates in particular is generally higher than traditional small
molecule chemical compounds, and the manufacturing process is typically less reliable and may be more difficult to reproduce.
Further, as product candidates developed using our microbiome technology are developed through early- to late- stage clinical
trials towards approval and commercialization, the developers of such product candidates may make alterations to these product
candidates and their method of manufacture and use, including changes to the manufacturing processes, in an effort to optimize
processes and results. Such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives, and any of these changes
could cause such product candidates to perform differently than they did in the past and affect the results of planned clinical
trials or other future clinical trials. In such circumstances, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may require that the
developers of such product candidates conduct bridging comparability testing or other additional clinical studies to confirm the
clinical relevance of prior data. While the stool donor program on which we relied to manufacture certain product candidates,
including CP101, involved extensive screening of potential entrants, we can make no assurances that it successfully screened
for, or was able to identify, all diseases and conditions that could adversely affect the health of persons who use or consume
products that contain biological material from those donors. The screening processes may have failed to identify certain existing
diseases or conditions in the humans that we evaluated for entry into our donor program. In addition, while enrolled in our
program, donors may have developed new diseases or conditions, or the worsening of pre- existing or underlying diseases or
conditions, that we may have failed to identify. The use by a collaboration partner of stool material from a third- party donor
who has a certain condition or disease may result in material adverse effects to our business, including if there are any adverse
reactions in patients who use or consume products derived from that donor. While our stool donor program was operating, we
extensively tested the biological materials that we received from qualified third- party donors or suppliers for the presence of
certain pathogens and other microorganisms; however, there can be no assurances that we detected all pathogens and other
microorganisms in our product candidates, which could result in an adverse reaction in persons who use or consume our product
candidates. Our testing processes may have failed to identify pathogens in the stool that we received from donors within our
donor program, or such testing processes may be unacceptable to regulatory authorities. For example, in the clinical hold letter
we received on February 24, 2022 for our CP101 IND, the FDA requested more information with respect to, among other
things, our SARS- CoV- 2 testing methods. The presence of pathogens in the stool material that we received from third- party
donors may also result in adverse reactions in persons who use or consume products that are derived from that material. Even if
product candidates developed using our microbiome technology obtain regulatory approval, the products may not gain market
acceptance among physicians, patients, hospitals and others in the medical community, and they may not have the degree of
commercial success necessary for us to generate significant revenue. The use of microbiome therapies is a recent development
and may not become broadly accepted by physicians, patients, hospitals and others in the medical community. Various factors
will influence whether product candidates developed using our microbiome technology are accepted in the market, including: *
the clinical indications for which such product candidates are approved; ¢ physicians, hospitals and patients considering such
product candidates as a safe and effective treatment; ¢ the potential and perceived advantages of such product candidates over




current or future alternative treatments; ¢ the ability of the developers of such product candidates to demonstrate their advantages
over other microbiome therapies; ¢ the prevalence and severity of any side effects; ¢ the prevalence and severity of any side
effects for other microbiome medicines and public perception of other microbiome medicines; * product labeling or product
insert requirements of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities; ¢ limitations or warnings contained in the labeling
approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities; ¢ the timing of market introduction of such product
candidates as well as competitive products; ¢ the cost of treatment and the availability of testing for patient selection; ¢ the
pricing of such products, if approved, and the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement by third- party payors and
government authorities;  the willingness of patients to pay out- of- pocket in the absence of coverage by third- party payors and
government authorities; ¢ relative convenience and ease of administration, including as compared to alternative treatments and
competitive therapies; and  the effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts for such product candidates. If product candidates
developed using our microbiome technology are approved for commercialization but fail to achieve market acceptance among
physicians, patients, hospitals or others in the medical community, we will not be able to generate significant revenue. In
addition, serious adverse events or deaths in other clinical trials involving the microbiome, or in clinical trials involving similar
therapeutic approaches, even if not ultimately attributable to products developed using our microbiome technology, could result
in increased government regulation, unfavorable public perception and publicity, potential regulatory delays in the testing or
licensing of such product candidates, stricter labeling requirements for those product candidates that are licensed, and a decrease
in demand for any such product candidates and could harm the value and marketability of our intellectual property as a
whole . Even if products developed using our microbiome technology achieve market acceptance, the developers of such
products may not be able to maintain that market acceptance over time if new products or technologies are introduced that are
more favorably received, are more cost effective or render such products obsolete. We may become exposed to costly and
damaging liability claims, either when esr-product candidates developed using our microbiome technology arc tested in the
clinic or at the commercial stage, and our product liability insurance may not cover all damages from such claims. We are
exposed to potential product liability and professional indemnity risks that are inherent in the research, development,
manufacturing, marketing and use of biopharmaceutical products. While we currently have no products that have been approved
for commercial sale, our product candidates and product candidates developed using our microbiome technology have been
used in clinical trials, and from 2017 to 2019, we manufactured Fv¥¥fecal microbiota transplantation materials, produced to
specifications defined by OpenBiome, that were distributed and sold by OpenBiome for use under its interpretation of the FDA’
s policy of enforcement discretion for CDI not responding to standard therapies and for use in clinical research. This past use, as
well as any future use of product candidates developed using our microbiome technology by our collaborators and partners,
including through investigator- sponsored trials with academic institutions, and the potential sale of any approved products in
the future, may expose us to liability claims. The FDA may not agree with OpenBiome’ s interpretation or application of the
FDA’ s enforcement discretion policy to its product distribution activities, including its distributions to clinical sites without an
IND in place with the FDA. These claims might be made by patients who use or have used our products and product candidates,
healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies, our collaborators or others selling such products. Any claims against us,
regardless of their merit, could be difficult and costly to defend. Although we have-discontinued the PRISM4 trial and
withdraws- withdrew our IND for CP101, if any of our product candidates were to have caused adverse side effects during
clinical trials, we may be exposed to substantial liabilities. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may
result in: ¢ injury to our reputation; © initiation of investigations by regulators; ¢ costs to defend or settle the related litigation; * a
diversion of management’ s time and our resources; and ¢ substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients. Although
we believe we maintain adequate product liability insurance for our product candidates, it is possible that our liabilities could
exceed our insurance coverage. If a successful product liability claim or series of claims is brought against us for uninsured
liabilities or in excess of insured liabilities, our assets may not be sufficient to cover such claims and our business operations
could be impaired. Should any of the events described above occur, this could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations and could harm the value and marketability of our intellectual property as a
whole . Risks Related to Government Regulation Healthcare legislative or regulatory reform measures may have a negative
impact on our ability to realize revenue from our intellectual property assets. In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions,
there has been significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare
costs, improving quality of life and / or expanding access. In the United States, the pharmaceutical industry continues to be a
particular focus of these efforts and has been significantly affected by health care reform initiatives at the federal and state level,
a number of which have been implemented. The commercial success of a drug product depends in large part on whether
government authorities and health care programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private health insurance cover the
product and provide adequate reimbursement for the product. Health care reform efforts that adversely affect coverage and
reimbursement or restrict the prices that companies can set for their products would likely adversely affect the ability of a
company to commercialize successfully any new product. If challenges to the successful commercialization of drug products
increase as the result of health care reform, our ability to license or sell our intellectual property assets and the value of those
assets may be adversely affected. If we or our third- party manufacturers and suppliers fait-failed to comply with environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could have a material
adverse effect on the success of our business. Our activities have historically implicated numerous environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and
disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our research and development activities involved the use of biological and
hazardous materials and produce hazardous waste products. We generally contracted with third parties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination to the environment or other injury from these materials,
which could cause environmental damage resulting in costly clean- up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations



governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. Although we believe that the
safety procedures utilized by our third- party manufacturers for handling and disposing of these materials generally complied
with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that this is the case or eliminate the risk of
accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In such an event, we may be held liable for any resulting damages and
such liability could exceed our resources and state or federal or other applicable authorities may curtail our use of certain
materials and / or interrupt our business operations. Furthermore, environmental laws and regulations are complex, change
frequently and have tended to become more stringent. We cannot predict the impact of such changes and cannot be certain of
our future compliance. In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or
production efforts. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other
sanctions. Although we are not aware of any current or ongoing violations, we cannot be certain that our past activities will not
be subject to challenge in the future. Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses
we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials or other work- related injuries, this
insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not carry specific biological waste or hazardous
waste insurance coverage, workers compensatron or property and casualty and general liability insurance policies that include
coverage for damages and fines arrslng from brologrcal or hazardous waste exposure or Contamrnatron We-are-stbjeettoU—S-

on Third Parties Some of our product Candrdates may be studred in clinical trials sponsored by organizations or agencies other
than us, or in investigator- sponsored clinical trials, which means we will have minimal or no control over the conduct of such
trials. We have in the past supplied, and expect to continue to supply, and otherwise support, third- party research, including
investigator- sponsored clinical trials with academic and private non- academic institutions, such as an ongeing investigator-
sponsored trial for the evaluation of CP101 in ulcerative colitis at Brigham and Women’ s Hospital and our licensing
relationship with the University of Minnesota, or UMN, pursuant to which UMN is conducting multiple investigator- sponsored
clinical trials using a microbiome product candidate comprised of compositions to which we hold an exclusive license. Because
we will not be the spensers— sponser of these investigator- sponsored trials, we have less control over the protocols,
administration or conduct of these trials, including any follow- up with patients and ongoing collection of data after treatment.
The conduct or findings of these trials may have a negative impact on the value of our intellectual property portfolio,
notwithstanding that we have little involvement or control over these trials. As a result, we are subject to additional risks
associated with the way investigator- sponsored trials are conducted. In particular, we may be named in lawsuits that could lead
to increased costs associated with legal defense. Additional risks include difficulties or delays in communicating with
investigators or administrators, procedural delays and other timing issues and difficulties or differences in interpreting data.
Third- party investigators may design clinical trials with clinical endpoints that are more difficult to achieve, or in other ways
that increase the risk of negative clinical trial results. Negative results in investigator- sponsored clinical trials could have a
material adverse effect on the public perception of our product candidates. As a result, our lack of control over the conduct and
timing of and communications with the FDA and other regulatory authorities regarding investigator- sponsored trials may
expose us to additional risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside our control. Our current and future collaborations will
be important to our business. If we are unable to enter into new collaborations, or if these collaborations are not successful, our
business could be adversely affected. A part of our strategy is to evaluate and, as deemed appropriate, enter into partnerships in
the future when strategically attractive, including potentially with major biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We do not
currently have capabilities for product development or any capability for commercialization. Accordingly, we may enter into
collaborations with other companies to advance our product candidates or the therapeutic potential of our microbiome
technology intellectual property portfolio. If we fail to enter into or maintain collaborations on reasonable terms or at all, the
commercial potential of our microbiome technology intellectual property portfolio could be adversely affected. This and any
future collaborations we enter into may pose a number of risks, including, but not limited to, the following: ¢ collaborators have
significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply; ¢ collaborators may not perform their
obligations as expected; ¢ collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of any product candidates that
achieve regulatory approval or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs or license
arrangements based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborators’ strategic focus or available funding, or external factors,
such as a strategic transaction that may divert resources or create competing priorities; * collaborators may delay clinical trials,



provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct
new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing; * collaborators could independently
develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our products and product candidates if
the collaborators believe that the competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized
under terms that are more economically attractive than ours; ¢ product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be
viewed by our collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or products, which may cause collaborators to
cease to devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates; ¢ collaborators may fail to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements regarding the development, manufacture, distribution or marketing of a product candidate or product; ®
collaborators with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval
may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such product or products; ¢ disagreements with
collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development,
might cause delays or terminations of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to
additional responsibilities for us with respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which
would be time- consuming and expensive; ¢ collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or
may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual
property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation; ¢ collaborators may infringe the intellectual property
rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability; ¢ if a collaborator of ours is involved in a
business combination, the collaborator might deemphasize or terminate the development or commercialization of any product
candidate licensed to it by us; and ¢ collaborations may be terminated by the collaborator, and, if terminated, we could be
required to raise additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable product candidates. If
our current and future strategic collaborations or academic partnerships, if any, do not result in the successful discovery,
development and commercialization of product candidates or if one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with us, the
commercial potential of our microbiome technology intellectual property portfolio could be adversely affected. All of the risks
relating to product development, regulatory approval and commercialization described in this Annual Report on Form 10- K
also apply to the activities of our collaboration partners. Additionally, if one of our collaborators terminates its agreement with
us, we may find it more difficult to attract new collaborators and our perception in the business and financial communities could
be adversely affected. We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborative partners. Our ability to reach a
definitive agreement for a partnership will depend, among other things, upon an assessment of the collaborator’ s resources and
expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed partnership and the proposed collaborator’ s evaluation of a number of
factors. These factors may include the design or results of preclinical studies or clinical trials, the likelihood of regulatory
approval, the potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering
such product candidate to patients, the potential of competing products, the existence of any uncertainty with respect to our
ownership of technology (which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership regardless of the merits of the challenge) and
industry and market conditions generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for
similar indications that may be available to collaborate on and whether such a partnership could be more attractive than the one
with us. Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property If we fail to comply with our obligations in our current and future intellectual
property licenses with third parties, we could lose rights that are important to our business. We are reliant upon licenses to
certain patent rights and proprietary technology for the development of our product candidates, in particular our license
agreements with UMN and Skysong Innovations LLC, or Skysong. These license agreements impose diligence, development
and commercialization timelines and milestone payment, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply
with our obligations, our licensors may have the right to terminate our licenses, in which event we might not be able to develop,
manufacture or market any product that is covered by the intellectual property we in- license from such licensor, may lose rights
to sub- license certain patents, and may face other penalties. Such an occurrence would materially adversely affect our business
prospects. Further, a licensor’ s decision to terminate a patent license could have a material adverse impact on the likelihood of
success in any litigation involving such patents, including any ongoing litigation. In 2023, we amended the UMN Agreement
with respect to certain commercialization obligations. In particular, if we fail to comply with our devetepment-obligations
under our license agreements, including as a result of our decision to diseontinte-ourPRISM4-Phase-3-ehinteat-trialof CPHO+Hn
reeuntrent-CBTand-shift our focus towards realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets, we may lose
our patent rights W1th respect to such agreement ona terrltory by- terrltory ba51s which Would affect our patent rlghts
worldwide —¥ 7 AS-W VN iN-Agreemen h sations
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required for our development programs may not be available in the future or may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. We do not control the
prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of all of our licensed and sublicensed intellectual property relating to our product
candidates, and we thus require the cooperation of our licensors and any upstream licensor, including Skysong and UMN, which
may not be forthcoming. Therefore, we cannot be certain that the prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of these patent
rights will be in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. If we or our licensor fail to maintain such patents, or
if we or our licensor lose rights to those patents or patent applications, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated
and our right to develop and commercialize any of our product candidates that are the subject of such licensed rights could be
adversely affected. In addition to the foregoing, the risks associated with patent rights that we license from third parties will also
apply to patent rights we may own in the future. Termination of our current or any future license agreements would reduce or



eliminate our rights under these agreements and may result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated agreements with less
favorable terms or cause us to lose our rights under these agreements, including our rights to important intellectual property or
technology. Any of the foregoing could prevent us from commercializing our other product candidates, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results and overall financial condition. In addition, intellectual property rights that we
in- license in the future may be sublicenses under intellectual property owned by third parties, in some cases through multiple
tiers. The actions of our licensors may therefore affect our rights to use our sublicensed intellectual property, even if we are in
compliance with all of the obligations under our license agreements. Should our licensors or any of the upstream licensors fail to
comply with their obligations under the agreements pursuant to which they obtain the rights that are sublicensed to us, or should
such agreements be terminated or amended, our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates may be materially
harmed. If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights related to any of our technologies, product candidates,
or that otherwise have value, we may not be able to compete effectively or leverage our intellectual property to generate value.
We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual property
related to our product candidates and technologies. Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent
and other intellectual property protection in the United States and in other countries with respect to our proprietary technologies
and product candidates. We cannot offer any assurances about which of our patent applications will issue, the breadth of any
resulting patent or whether any of the issued patents will be found to be infringed, invalid and unenforceable or will be
threatened by third parties. We cannot offer any assurances that the breadth of our granted patents will be sufficient to stop a
competitor from developing and commercializing a product, including a biosimilar product, that relates to our patented
technologies or that would be competitive with one or more of our product candidates. Furthermore, any successful challenge to
these patents or any other patents owned by or licensed to us after patent issuance could deprive us of rights necessary to
leverage our intellectual property to generate value. Further, if a collaboration partner encounters delays in regulatory approvals,
the period of time during which they could market a product candidate under patent protection could be reduced. The patent
prosecution process is expensive and time- consuming. We may not be able to prepare, file and prosecute all necessary or
desirable patent applications , or may be unable to or elect not to maintain all necessary or desirable patents, at a
commercially reasonable cost or in a timely manner or in all jurisdictions. It is also possible that we may fail to identify
patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of development and commercialization activities before it is too late to
obtain patent protection on them. Moreover, depending on the terms of any future in- licenses to which we may become a party,
we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents,
covering technology in- licensed from third parties. Therefore, these patents and patent applications may not be prosecuted and
enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. In addition to the protection provided by our patent
estate, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary know- how that is not amenable to
or yet subject to patent protection. Although we generally require all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and all of
our employees, consultants, advisors and any third parties who have access to our proprietary know- how, information, or
technology to enter into confidentiality agreements, we cannot provide any assurances that all such agreements have been duly
executed, or that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed without authorization.
Moreover, our competitors may independently develop knowledge, methods and know- how equivalent to our trade secrets.
Competitors could purchase our products, if approved, and replicate some or all of the competitive advantages for technologies
on which we do not have patent protection. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed
by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or
information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor,
our competitive position would be harmed We also seek to preserve the 1ntegr1ty and conﬁdentlahty of our data and trade
secrets by maintaining the phys ente-security of our information technology
systems. While we have confidence in these 1nd1V1duals organlzatlons and systems, our agreements or security measures may
be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. Also, if the steps taken to maintain our trade secrets are
deemed inadequate, we may have insufficient recourse against third parties for misappropriating the trade secret. In addition,
others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. For example, the FDA is considering whether
to make additional information publicly available on a routine basis, including information that we may consider to be trade
secrets or other proprietary information, and it is not clear at the present time how the FDA’ s disclosure policies may change in
the future. If we are unable to prevent material disclosure of the non- patented intellectual property related to our technologies to
third parties, and there is no guarantee that we will have any such enforceable trade secret protection, we may not be able to
establish or maintain a competitive advantage in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Patent terms may be inadequate to protect the competitive position of the products of our
future collaboration partners, if any, for an adequate amount of time, and if we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-
Waxman Amendments and similar non- United States legislation for extending the term of patents covering each product
candidate, or upon the lapse of patent terms covering products of our future collaboration partners, our business may be
materially harmed. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product
candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized.
Depending upon the timing, duration and conditions of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates or collaboration
partner product candidates, one or more of our United States patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the
Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch- Waxman Amendments, and similar
legislation in the European Union. The Hatch- Waxman Amendments permit a patent term extension of up to five years for a
patent covering an approved product as compensation for effective patent term lost during product development and the FDA
regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from




the date of product approval. Only one patent may be extended per approved drug product, and only those claims covering the
approved drug product, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. However, we may not receive
an extension if we fail to apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail
to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the length of the extension could be less than we request. If we or our future
collaboration partners are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the
period during which we can enforce our patent rights for that product will be impacted. As a result, our revenue from applicable
products could be reduced and could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, our ability to pursue our
business strategy of enforcing our patent rights against infringing parties will be negatively impacted by the lapse of the patent
term for any of our intellectual property and microbiome assets, which may negatively impact our ability to realize the value of
our intellectual property estate. Patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution
of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our future patents. Our ability to obtain patents is highly uncertain
because, to date, some legal principles remain unresolved, and there has not been a consistent policy regarding the breadth or
interpretation of claims allowed in patents in the United States. Furthermore, the specific content of patents and patent
applications that are necessary to support and interpret patent claims is highly uncertain due to the complex nature of the
relevant legal, scientific, and factual issues. Changes in either patent laws or interpretations of patent laws in the United States
and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent protection. The United
States Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available
in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with
regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of
patents, once obtained. Depending on actions by the United States Congress, the federal courts and the United States Patent and
Trademark Office, or USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would
weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we have owned or licensed or that we might obtain in the
future. An inability to obtain, enforce, and defend patents covering our proprietary technologies would materially and adversely
affect our business prospects and financial condition. Similarly, changes in patent laws and regulations in other countries or
jurisdictions, changes in the governmental bodies that enforce them or changes in how the relevant governmental authority
enforces patent laws or regulations may weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we may obtain in the
future. Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as
the laws of the United States and Europe. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our
intellectual property both in the United States and abroad. For example, if the issuance in a given country of a patent covering an
invention is not followed by the issuance in other countries of patents covering the same invention, or if any judicial
interpretation of the validity, enforceability or scope of the claims or the written description or enablement, in a patent issued in
one country is not similar to the interpretation given to the corresponding patent issued in another country, our ability to protect
our intellectual property in those countries may be limited. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in
the United States and other countries may materially diminish the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our
patent protection. We may be involved in lawsuits to protect...... price of our common stock. We or our collaboration partners
may be unsuccessful in licensing or acquiring intellectual property from third parties that may be required to develop and
commercialize our product candidates. A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights that are important or
necessary to the development and commercialization of our product candidates. It may be necessary for us to use the patented or
proprietary technology of third parties to commercialize our product candidates, in which case we would be required to acquire
or obtain a license to such intellectual property from these third parties, and we may be unable to do so on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. The licensing or acquisition of third- party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and
several more established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights that we
may consider attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size,
capital resources and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to
be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We also may be unable to license or acquire third- party
intellectual property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our investment or at all. If we are
unable to successfully obtain rights to required third- party intellectual property rights or maintain the existing intellectual
property rights we have, we may have to abandon development of the relevant program or product candidate, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business. Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we or a collaboration partner
are infringing their intellectual property rights, or initiate challenges to the validity of our patents in administrative
proceedings before various patent offices, including inter- partes review, or IPR, proceedings before the United States
Patent and Trademark Office, the outcome of which would be uncertain and could have a negative impact on the success of
our business. Our commercial success depends, in part, upon our ability and the ability of collaborators, if any, to develop,
manufacture, market and sell product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights
and intellectual property of third parties. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by extensive and
complex litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. We or our collaboration partners may become party
to, or be threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product
candidates and our technology, including interference proceedings, post grant review and inter partes review before the USPTO
or equivalent foreign regulatory authority. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us or our collaboration partners
based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future, regardless of their merit. Numerous patents and pending
applications are owned by third parties in the fields in which we are developing technology, both in the United States and
elsewhere. Moreover, it is difficult for industry participants, including us, to identify all third- party patent rights that may be
relevant to our technologies because patent searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among patents, incomplete



databases and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. We may fail to identify relevant patents or patent
applications or may identify pending patent applications of potential interest but incorrectly predict the likelihood that such
patent applications may issue with claims of relevance to our technology. In addition, we may be unaware of one or more issued
patents that would be infringed by the manufacture, sale or use of a current or future product candidate, or we may incorrectly
conclude that a third- party patent is invalid, unenforceable or not infringed by our activities. Additionally, pending patent
applications that have been published can, subject to certain limitations, be later amended in a manner that could cover our
technologies, our products or the use of our products. There is a risk that third parties may choose to engage in litigation with us
or our collaboration partners to enforce or to otherwise assert their patent rights against us. Even if we believe such claims are
without merit, a court of competent jurisdiction could hold that third- party patents are valid, enforceable and infringed, which
could have a negative impact on us, including by increasing the cost of, or otherwise burdening, the ability of a collaboration
partner to commercialize product candidates. In order to successfully challenge the validity of any such U. S. patent in federal
court, we would need to overcome a presumption of validity. As this burden is a high one requiring us to present clear and
convincing evidence as to the invalidity of any such U. S. patent claim, there is no assurance that a court of competent
jurisdiction would invalidate the claims of any such U. S. patent. Foreign courts will have similar burdens to overcome in order
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While we believe that the granted claims within these-this third party patents— patent may not be valid, may not be construed to
cover our products and / or that they may be reasonably challenged for validity, there can be no assurance that any such
challenge would be successful. If we or a collaboration partner are found to infringe a third party’ s valid and enforceable
intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue developing, manufacturing
and marketing our product candidates and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non- exclusive, thereby giving our
competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial
licensing and royalty payments. We could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing and
commercializing the infringing technology or product candidate. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages,
including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent or other intellectual property
right. A finding of infringement could prevent us or a collaboration partner from manufacturing and commercializing certain
product candidates, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential
information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. We may be subject to claims that our former employees , current employee , consultants, or
independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties. We have empley-employed
individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or biopharmaceutical companies. Our current employee
was previously employed at other biopharmaceutical companies. In addition, we use publications that are subject to copyright,
as well as proprietary information and materials from third parties in our research. Some of the information and materials we use
from third parties may be subject to agreements that include restrictions on use or disclosure. Although we strive to ensure
proper safeguards, we cannot guarantee strict compliance with such agreements, nor can we be sure that our employees,
consultants and advisors do not use proprietary information, materials, or know- how of others in their work for us. We may be
subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or other third parties. We may also be subject to claims
that former employers or other third parties have an ownership interest in our future patents. In addition, we may be subject to
claims that we are infringing other intellectual property rights, such as trademarks or copyrights, or misappropriating the trade
secrets of others, and to the extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use intellectual property or proprietary
information owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know- how and
inventions. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. There is no guarantee of success in defending these
claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and other
employees. We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual
property. We may also be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators, or other third parties have an ownership
interest in our patent applications, our future patents, or other intellectual property, including as an inventor or co- inventor. We
may be subject to ownership or inventorship disputes in the future arising, for example, from conflicting obligations of
consultants, contractors or others who are or were involved in developing our microbiome assets or product candidates.
Although it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of
intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such
an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own, and we cannot
be certain that our agreements with such parties will be upheld in the face of a potential challenge, or that they will not be
breached, for which we may not have an adequate remedy. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-
executing or the assignment agreements may be breached, and litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other
claims challenging inventorship or ownership. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages,
we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property.
Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees. Reliance on third
parties in the future may require us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover
them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed to others. If we rely on third parties to manufacture or




commercialize our product candidates, or if we collaborate with additional third parties for the development of such product
candidates, we may need to, at times, share trade secrets with them. We may also conduct joint research and development
programs that may require us to share trade secrets under the terms of our research and development partnerships or similar
agreements. We seek to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary technology in part by entering into confidentiality
agreements with third parties prior to beginning research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit
the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our confidential information, including our trade secrets. Despite the contractual
provisions employed when working with third parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential information
increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors, are inadvertently incorporated into the technology
of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our
know- how and trade secrets, a competitor’ s discovery of our trade secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure could have an
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, these agreements typically restrict the ability of our
advisors, employees, third- party contractors and consultants to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets. Despite our
efforts to protect our trade secrets, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical know- how
or other trade secrets by the parties to these agreements. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that we have entered into such
agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our confidential information or proprietary technology and
processes. Monitoring unauthorized uses and disclosures is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to
protect our proprietary technologies will be effective. If any of the collaborators, scientific advisors, employees, contractors and
consultants who are parties to these agreements breaches or violates the terms of any of these agreements, we may not have
adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and we could lose our trade secrets as a result. Moreover, if confidential
information that is licensed or disclosed to us by our partners, collaborators, or others is inadvertently disclosed or subject to a
breach or violation, we may be exposed to liability to the owner of that confidential information. Enforcing a claim that a third
party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets, like patent litigation, is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. We may enjoy
only limited geographical protection with respect to certain patents and we may not be able to protect our intellectual property
rights throughout the world. Filing and prosecuting patent applications and defending patents covering our product candidates in
all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions
where we have not obtained patent protection or where enforcement rights are not as strong as those in the United States or
Europe. These products may compete with our technologies or product candidates or those of our collaboration partners, and our
future patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to defend our rights adequately. In addition,
we have decided, in some cases, and may in the future decide to abandon national and regional patent applications before
they are granted. The examination of each national or regional patent application is an independent proceeding. As a result,
patent applications in the same family may issue as patents in some jurisdictions, such as in the United States, but may issue as
patents with claims of different scope or may even be refused in other jurisdictions. It is also quite common that depending on
the country, the scope of patent protection may vary for the same product candidate or technology. For example, certain
jurisdictions do not allow for patent protection with respect to method of treatment. While we seek to protect our intellectual
property rights in expected significant markets, we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all
jurisdictions which may be attractive and commercially valuable to us or to a collaboration partner. Accordingly, our efforts to
protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to
successfully leverage our microbiome assets in all of the expected significant foreign markets. If we encounter difficulties in
protecting, or are otherwise precluded from effectively protecting, the intellectual property rights important for our business in
such jurisdictions, the value of these rights may be diminished, and we may face additional competition from others in those
jurisdictions. The laws of some jurisdictions do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws or rules and
regulations in the United States and Europe and many companies have encountered significant difficulties in protecting and
defending such rights in such jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do
not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights, which could make it difficult for us to
stop the infringement of our future patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in other jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and
divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our future patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing as patents, and could provoke third parties to assert claims
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be
commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be
inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license. Some
countries also have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties.
In addition, some countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In those
countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patents. If we are
forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our business, our competitive position may be
impaired. Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document
submission, fee payment, and other requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and our patent protection could be
reduced or eliminated for non- compliance with these requirements. Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and
various other government fees on patents and / or applications will be due to be paid to the USPTO and various government
patent agencies outside of the United States over the lifetime of our patents and / or applications and any patent rights we may
obtain in the future. Furthermore, the USPTO and various non- United States government patent agencies require compliance
with several procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In many



cases, an inadvertent lapse of a patent or patent application can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in
accordance with the applicable rules. There are situations, however, in which non- compliance can result in abandonment or
lapse of the patents or patent applications, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. As we
operate with a significantly reduced workforce and otherwise reduce costs, the risk of inadvertent non- compliance may increase
or we may decide to forego payment of necessary fees. Regardless of the circumstances, in such an event, potential competitors
might be able to enter the market, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover, as we seek to monetize
our patents and other microbiome technology through strategic collaborations, any such event could diminish the value of our
portfolio of intellectual property and microbiome assets, expose liability to a strategic collaboration partner or otherwise have a
material adverse effect on our business. Any trademarks we have obtained or may obtain may be infringed or otherwise
violated, or successfully challenged, resulting in harm to our business. We expect to rely on trademarks as one means to
distinguish our product candidates, if approved for marketing, from the drugs of our competitors. Once we select new
trademarks and apply to register them, our trademark applications may not be approved. Third parties may oppose or attempt to
cancel our trademark applications or trademarks, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our
trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our drugs, which could result in loss of brand recognition
and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Our competitors may infringe or otherwise
violate our trademarks and we may not have adequate resources to enforce our trademarks. Any of the foregoing events may
have a material adverse effect on our business. Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Employee Matters Our internal
computer systems, or those of any of our current or future collaborators and strategic partners or other contractors or consultants,
may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a significant disruption and our ability to operate our business
effectively. Our internal computer systems and those of any of our current or future collaborators and strategic partners and other
contractors or consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war
and telecommunication and electrical failures. Cyber- attacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity, and
have become increasingly difficult to detect. Cyber- attacks could include the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware,
denial- of- service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information. Cyber- attacks also could include phlshmg attempts or e- ma11 fraud to cause payments
or mformatlon to be transmltted to an umntended rec1p1ent v pand : y :

; i se- Whlle we have not experlenced any s1gmﬁcant system failure,
accident or security breach to date if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a
disruption of our business operations, whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other similar
disruptions. Any such event that leads to unauthorized access, use or disclosure of personal information, including personal
information regarding our patients or employees, could harm our reputation, cause us not to comply with federal and / or state
breach notification laws and foreign law equivalents and otherwise subject us to liability under laws and regulations that protect
the privacy and security of personal information. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or
to sabotage, systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Security breaches and other inappropriate access can
be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them may lead to increased harm of the type described above. While we have
implemented security measures to protect our information technology systems and infrastructure, such measures may not
prevent service interruptions or security breaches that could adversely affect our business and to the extent that any disruption or
security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or
proprietary information, we could incur liability, our competitive position could be harmed and the further development and
commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed. Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue
and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. Our operations, and those of our collaborators, contractors and
consultants, could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes,
typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man- made disasters or business
interruptions, for which we are predominantly self- insured. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously
harm our operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. Failure to comply with health and data
protection laws and regulations could lead to government enforcement actions, including civil or criminal penalties, private
litigation, and adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. We and any current or future
collaborators and strategic partners may be subject to federal, state, municipal and foreign data protection laws and regulations,
such as laws and regulations that address privacy and data security. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and
regulations, including federal health information privacy laws, state data breach notification laws, state health information
privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws, including Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, that
govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health- related and other personal information could apply to our
operations or the operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties, including
research institutions from which we obtain data, that are subject to privacy and security requirements under the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act, or HITECH. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject to civil, criminal, and administrative
penalties if we obtain, use, or disclose individually identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA- covered entity in a
manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. Compliance with U. S. and international data protection laws and
regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose



data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations
could result in government enforcement actions (which could include civil, criminal and administrative penalties), private
litigation, and / or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. Moreover, clinical trial
subjects, employees and other individuals about whom we or our current or future collaborators obtain personal information, as
well as the providers who share this information with us, may limit our ability to collect, use and disclose the information.
Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual
obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time- consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could harm our business. We are subject to a variety of privacy and data security laws, and our failure to comply
with them could harm our business. We maintain a large quantity of sensitive information, including confidential business and
personal information gathered in connection with the conduct of our clinical trials and related to our employees, and we are
subject to laws and regulations governing the privacy and security of such information. In the United States, there are numerous
federal and state privacy and data security laws and regulations governing the collection, use, disclosure and protection of
personal information, including federal and state health information privacy laws, federal and state security breach notification
laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws. Each of these laws, the requirements of which sometimes evolve with
amendments, regulations and case law, can be subject to varying interpretations. In addition, new laws regulatlng privacy and
data security continue to be passed in jurisdictions all over the world. In May 2018 ;-a-new-privaeytregime-, the General Data
Protection Regulation, or the GDPR, took effect in the European Economic Area, or the EEA. The GDPR governs the
collection, use, disclosure, transfer or other processing of personal data of European persons. Among other things, the GDPR
imposes requirements regarding the security of personal data and notification of data processing obligations to the competent
national data processing authorities, changes the lawful bases on which personal data can be processed, expands the definition
of personal data and requires changes to informed consent practices, as well as more detailed notices for clinical trial subjects
and investigators. In addition, the GDPR increases the scrutiny of transfers of personal data from clinical trial sites located in the
EEA to the United States and other jurisdictions that the European Commission does not recognize as having “ adequate ” data
protection laws, and imposes substantial fines for breaches and violations (up to the greater of € 20 million or 4 % of our
consolidated annual worldwide gross revenue). The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer
associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies and obtain compensation for damages
resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition, within the United States, states regularly adopt new laws or amending
existing laws, requiring attention to frequently changing regulatory requirements. For example, €alifernia-enaeted-the California
Consumer Privacy Act —er—t-he—GGPA—en—}u:ne—Z-S%G-l-S—'Phis—}aw— Wthh took effect on January l 2020 became enforceable
by the California Attorney General on July 1, 2020, and-ha &y e
€€EPA-gives California residents expanded rlghts to access and delete their personal information, opt out of certaln personal
information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used by requiring covered
companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers (as that term is broadly defined) and provide such consumers
new ways to opt- out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a
private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. The CCPA may increase our
compliance costs and potential liability. While there is currently an exception for protected health information that is subject to
HIPAA and clinical trial regulations, as currently written, the CCPA may impact certain of our business activities. In addition,
some-observers-havenoted-other states may propose or enact laws that are similar to the CCPA as part eould-markthe
begtmﬂ-ng—of a trend toward more stnngent prlvacy 1eg1s1at10n in the United States as-otherstates-develop-similarlaws-and-we
F-S€ WS A-. Compliance with these and any other appllcable
privacy and data securlty laws and regulatlons is a rigorous and time- intensive process, and we may be required to put in place
additional mechanisms ensuring compliance with new data protection rules. If we fail to comply with any such laws or
regulations, we may face significant fines and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations. Furthermore, the laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is costly. Our
current employees— employee , consultants , contractors and commercial partners may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, including non- compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading. We are exposed
to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by our employees-- employee , consultants and commercial partners. Misconduct by
these parties could include intentional failures to comply with FDA regulations or the regulations applicable in other
jurisdictions, provide accurate information to the FDA and other regulatory authorities, comply with healthcare fraud and abuse
laws and regulations in the United States and abroad, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized
activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws
and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self- dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and
regulations restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer
incentive programs and other business arrangements. Such misconduct also could involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of clinical trials or interactions with the FDA or other regulatory authorities, which could result in
regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from government investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a
failure to comply with these laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could result in significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties,
damages, fines, disgorgement, imprisonment, exclusion from participating in government funded healthcare programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement
or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non- compliance with these laws, contractual damages, reputational harm and the




curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Risks Related to Our Common Stock ©ur-We have received a notification of delisting
from The Nasdaq Global Select Market and we may be unsuccessful in our appeal of the delisting determination. In
addition, our shares of common stock may also be delisted from the Nasdaq Global Select Market if we do not satisfy
Nasdaq’ s rules requiring that we maintain a minimum market value of publicly held shares of the Company’ s common
stock of $ 5. 0 million. The delisting of the Company’ s shares of common stock from the Nasdaq Global Select Market
could result in, among other things, less liquidity for holders of shares of our common stock and a decline in the price of
our common stock. On February 16, 2024, we received a determination letter from the Listing Qualifications
Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market LL.C (“ Nasdaq ) notifying us that it believes that, as a result of our decision
in January 2023 to re- orient our business strategy, including by discontinuing our Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in
recurrent CDI and focusing on realizing the value of our intellectual property estate and other assets, the Company is
listed-a “ public shell ” under the Nasdaq criteria. As such, the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department determined
the continued listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (* Nasdaqg GSM ”) is no longer warranted.
We dispute the Nasdaq’ s determination and have taken the necessary steps to appeal the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications
Department’ s determination to delist our securities by requesting a hearing before a Nasdaq Listing Qualifications
Panel (the “ Listing Panel ) and tendering the appropriate fee. Our common stock will continue to trade on the Nasdaq
GSM until our appeal is adjudicated before the Listing Panel. A hearing before the Listing Panel is scheduled for April
23 | wwhieh-imposes-2024 and we expect a decision from the Listing Panel within or up to thirty (30) days of the hearing.
However, there can be no assurances that our appeal will be successful. In addition, the listing standards of the Nasdaq
GSM require , among other requirements-things . that the Company maintain a minimum market value of publicly held
shares of the Company’ s common stock of $ +5 . 0 million 60-pershare-bidprieerequirement-for continued inclusion on the

Nasdaq GSM pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450 (&b ) (1) ( C) (the “ MVPHS Rule Bid-Priee-Reguirement-"). On
Beeember36-November 15 | 2022-2023 we received a deficiency letter (the *“ Notice ) from the Listing Qualifications
Department of the-Nasdaq SteekMarket, HEC(“Nasdag=notifying us that, for the preeeding-36-last 35 consecutive trading
business days, the market value elosing-bid-price-of our publicly held shares of the Company’ s common stock was-below
did not meet the Bid-Price Requirementrequirement of the MVPHS Rule . [n accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810 (c)
(3) (A-D ), we have until Jare28-May 13 , 2623-2024 in whlch W@emph&ﬂee—]a&tei)-m regain u)mplmncc with the

MVPHS Rule Bid-PriceRequirement-. To regain A ree-compliance

Date-, the market value elesing-bid-priee-of our publicly held shares must meet ot or exceed eemmea—steeiers—&t—least—% +
5 0 mllllon GG-pershare—[m a mlmmum of 10 consecutive busmcsx (Lns prlor to May 13 2024 unless Ndsdaq exercises its

éeﬁeteﬂey—\\ 1lhm the stteh—add-rt—teﬂa-l—l-&@-—da—y—u)mplmncc pulod Nasddq W 111 prov 1dc \\11llcn I]()Il[lcdllon to us that our

common stock will be subject to delisting. At—that—t—rme—ln the event of such a notlﬁcatlon we mdy d])])Ldl the Nasdaq staff * s
delisting-determination to delist our securities aINa vet-, but there can
be no assurance the Nasdaq staff would grant our request for contlnued llstmg We 1ntend to momtor the trading activity
of our common stock and will consider the various options available to us if our common stock does not trade at a level
that is likely to regain compliance , i#f-including that we reeetve-a-may consider applying to transfer the common stock to
the Nasdaq Capital Market. There can be no assurance that we will be able to regain compliance or that we will be able
to maintain our Nasdagq listing. In the event that we are unable to satisfy the continued listing standards of the Nasdaq
GSM our common stock may be dellsted from that market Any delisting of our common stock netiee-and-appeat-the

3 ] P v rg-from the Nasdaq GSM could make
fradmg—adversely affect our ability to attract new 1nvestors, decrease the llquldlty of our outstanding shares of common
stock mere-diffienlt, reduce our flexibility to raise additional capital, reduce the price at which our common stock trades
and increase the transaction costs inherent in trading such shares with overall negative effects for inrvesters-our
stockholders. In addition , petentialyleading-to-deelines-delisting of our common stock could deter broker- dealers from
making a market in etr— or tiquidity-otherwise seeking or generating interest in our common stock, and share-might deter
certain institutions and persons from investing in our securities at all. For these reasons and others, delisting could
adversely affect the pricc of our common stock and our business, financial condition and results of operations . If our
common stock is delisted by the Nasdaq GSM, our common stock may be eligible to trade on the Nasdaq Capital Market or an
over- the- counter quotation system, where an investor may find it more difficult to sell our stock or obtain accurate quotations
as to the market value of our common stock. We cannot assure you that our common stock, if delisted from the Nasdaq GSM,
will be listed on another national securities exchange or quoted on an over- the counter quotation system. An active trading




market for our common stock may not éeve{ep—be sustalned and you may not be able to resell your shares of our common stock
at an attractive price, if at all - W . Although our
common stock is currently listed on The Nasdaq GSM we cannot assure you that an actlve trading market for our shares will
develop-er-be sustained. If an active market for our common stock does not develop or is not sustained, it may be difficult for
you to sell shares you purchased at an attractive price or at all. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital to
continue to fund our operations by selling our common stock and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or
technologies by using our common stock as consideration. The market price of our common stock has been and is likely to
continue to be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for our common stock. The market
price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. The stock market in general and the market for
biopharmaceutical or pharmaceutical companies, in particular, has experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to
the operating performance of particular companies, which has resulted in decreased stock prices for many companies
notwithstanding the lack of a fundamental change in their underlying business models or prospects. The market price for our
common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to updates related to our efforts to realize value from our intellectual
property estate and other assets, as well as numerous other factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the factors
listed below and other factors described in this “ Risk Factors ™ section: » outcome of current litigation; * disputes or other
developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent
protection for our technologies; * significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation, and any adverse ruling
which may arise; * changes in financial estimates by us or by any equity research analysts who might cover our stock; *
conditions or trends in our industry; ¢ changes in the market valuations of similar companies; * stock market price and volume
fluctuations of comparable companies and, in particular, those that operate in the biopharmaceutical industry; ¢ publication of
research reports about us or our industry or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by
securities analysts; « announcement by our competitors of regulatory developments or new data; * announcements by us or our
competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or divestitures; * announcements of investigations or regulatory
scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us; * investors’ general perception of our company and our business; *
recrurtment or departure of key personnel . overall performance of the equlty markets « trading volume of our common stock :

whielrmay-arise-; * changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems « general political and economic condrtrons and »
other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control. In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action
lawsuits against pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies following periods of volatility in the market prices of these
companies’ stock. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert management’ s
attention and resources from our business. If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable
research or reports, about us, our business or our market, our stock price and trading volume could decline. The trading market
for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about us and our
business. To date, we have only limited research coverage by equity research analysts. Certain equity research analysts who
were previously providing research coverage of our common stock have elected not to continue such coverage, and we may
never again obtain such coverage. If no or few analysts commence coverage of us, the market price of our common stock may
be adversely affected. If at any time we do have equity research analyst coverage, we do not have any control over the analysts
or the content and opinions included in their reports. The price of our stock could decline if one or more equity research analysts
downgrade our stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or research. If one or more equity research analysts ceases
coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which in turn could
cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price
of our common stock to decline. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur
at any time. If our stockholders sell, or the market perceives that our stockholders intend to sell, substantial amounts of our
common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. We are unable to predict
the timing of or the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock. In addition, we have
registered the shares of common stock subject to options or other equity awards issued or reserved for future issuance under our
2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, or the 2017 Plan, our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2021 Plan, and our 2021
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the ESPP. Such shares will be available for sale in the public market subject to vesting
arrangements and exercise of options or warrants and the restrictions of Rule 144 in the case of our affiliates. Additionally, the
holders of a significant number of shares of our common stock, or their transferees, have rights, subject to some conditions, to
require us to file one or more registration statements covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that
we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. If we were to register the resale of these shares, they could be freely sold in the
public market. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading
price of our common stock could decline. Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive
officers, directors and principal stockholders may preventlimit the ability of new investors from-to inflaeneing-influence
significant corporate decisions. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , our executive officers, directors and beneficial owners of 5 %
or more of our common stock and their respective affiliates beneficially owned approximately 40 greater-than56-76 of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, if some or all of these persons-parties acted as a group , they aeting-together;-would
be able to significantly influence al-matters requiring steekhetder-approval by our stockholders , including the election and
removal of directors, any merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, er-and other significant corporate
transactions. Some of these persons or entities may have interests different than yours. We are an “ emerging growth company ”
and a “ smaller reporting company ” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to



emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors. We are an
“ emerging growth company ” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, and we intend to
take advantage of some of the exemptions from reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies, including:  not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting; * not being required to comply with any requirement that may be
adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the
auditor’ s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements; ¢ reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements; and ¢ not being required
to hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no
longer an emerging growth company. We will remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2026 or, if earlier, (i)
the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $ 1. 235 billion, (ii) the date on which we
are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non- affiliates
exceeds $ 700 million as of the prior June 30th, or (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $ 1. 0 billion in non-
convertible debt during the prior three- year period. Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may,
under certain circumstances, still qualify as a *“ smaller reporting company, ”” which would allow us to take advantage of many
of the same exemptlons from disclosure requirements, 1nclud1ng reduced d1§c10§ure obligations regarding executive
compensatlon in our perlodlc report% and proxy %tatementq &

1nternal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a tlmely basis could be impaired. As a public company,
we operate in an increasingly demanding regulatory environment, which requires us to comply with the reporting requirements
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, the rules and regulations of Nasdaq and the rules and regulations of the Commission. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act
requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. We must provide a management certification of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section
404 (a) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act. This certification states the responsibility of our management to establish and maintain an
adequate internal control structure and procedures for financial reporting and also contains an assessment of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting The process of building our accounting and financial functions and infrastructure
has required and will continue to require significant professional fees, internal costs and management efforts. For example, we
have e*peet—t-h&t—we—er—need—te—etttseﬂfee-outsourced our financial reporting functions, and we plaaterely on consultants or
external service providers to assist with our financial reporting, and to provide services related to our finance function te
supplement-etr-internal-staff- including with respect to the evaluation and documentation of our system of internal controls
functions. Any disruptions or difficulties in maintaining eur-internat-finanetat-staffor-the services provided by outside
consultants or financial service providers, or in implementing or using our accounting and financial functions and infrastructure,
could adversely affect our system of internal controls and harm our business. Moreover, such disruption or difficulties could
result in unanticipated costs and diversion of management attention. In addition, we may identify weaknesses in our system of
internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements.
Our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’ s objectives will be
met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If we are not
able to successfully identify and remediate any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or comply
with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and



effective internal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the
market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which
our common stock is listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control
over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial statements in a timely manner, which may
adversely affect our business, investor confidence in our company and the market value of our common stock. The Sarbanes-
Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal controls for financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. We are required, under Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on,
among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment also needs to include
disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting that results in more than a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act also generally requires an attestation from our independent registered
public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. However, for as long as we remain
an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of the exemption permitting us not to comply with the independent
registered public accounting firm attestation requirement. We cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. During the evaluation and testing process, if
we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our
internal control over financial reporting is effective. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could
severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If we are unable to
conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm
determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting once that firm
begins its Section 404 reviews, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the
market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by The Nasdaq Stock
Market LLC, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict
our future access to the capital markets. Changes in U. S. tax law could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations. The rules dealing with U. S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons
involved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U. S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws
(which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years,
many such changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. Future changes in U. S. tax laws
could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. We urge investors to
consult with their legal and tax advisors regarding the implications of potential changes in U. S. tax laws on an investment in our
common stock. We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss carryforwards. We have generated
and expect to generate significant federal and state net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards in the future. To the extent that our
federal NOL carryforwards were generated prior to 2018, these NOL carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to
offset future income tax liabilities. To the extent that our federal NOL carryforwards were generated after 2017, these federal
NOL carryforwards may be carried forward indefinitely, but such federal NOL carryforwards cannot offset more than 80 % of
the federal taxable income that we would have in any future taxable year beginning with our 2021 taxable year before taking
into account such federal NOL carryforwards. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. In addition, under Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “
ownership change, ” which is generally defined as a greater than 50 % change, by value, in its equity ownership over a three-
year period, the corporation’ s ability to use its pre- change NOL carryforwards and other pre- change tax attributes to offset its
post- change income or taxes may be limited or eliminated, including, in our case, because we might not be considered to have
continued our business enterprise. The completion of our IPO in March 2021, together with private placements and other
transactions that have occurred since our inception, may have triggered such an ownership change pursuant to Section 382. We
have not yet completed a Section 382 analysis. We may experience ownership changes as a result of subsequent shifts in our
stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our control. If an ownership change occurs and our ability to use our NOL
carryforwards is materially limited or eliminated, such limitations or elimination could result in increased future tax liability to
us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected. Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be your sole source of gains and you may never
receive a return on your investment. You should not rely on an investment in our common stock to provide dividend income. We
have not declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock to date. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any,
to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your
sole source of gain for the foreseeable future. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our common stock.
Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law may prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to
change our management and hinder efforts to acquire a controlling interest in us, and the market price of our common stock may
be lower as a result. There are provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that may make it difficult for a third
party to acquire, or attempt to acquire, control of our company, even if a change of control was considered favorable by you and
other stockholders. For example, our board of directors will have the authority to issue up to 10, 000, 000 shares of preferred
stock. The board of directors can fix the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions of the preferred stock without any
further vote or action by our stockholders. The issuance of shares of preferred stock may delay or prevent a change of control
transaction. As a result, the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights of our stockholders may be
adversely affected. An issuance of shares of preferred stock may result in the loss of voting control to other stockholders. In



addition, we are subject to the anti- takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
regulates corporate acquisitions by prohibiting Delaware corporations from engaging in specified business combinations with
particular stockholders of those companies. These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay
or prevent a change of control transaction. They could also have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for
our common stock, including transactions that may be in your best interests. These provisions may also prevent changes in our
management or limit the price that investors are willing to pay for our stock. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States of
America will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive
forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: * any derivative claim or
cause of action brought on our behalf; * any claim or cause of action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; * any claim or cause of
action against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law; ¢ any claim or cause of action arising under or seeking to
interpret our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws; and * any claim or cause of
action against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The provisions would not apply to suits brought to enforce a
duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for
federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to
entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary
rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will further
provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause or causes of action arising under the Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against any
defendant to such complaint. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid,
a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions.
In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such
action in other jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other
jurisdictions. These exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds
favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find either exclusive- forum provision in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs
associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of which could seriously harm our business. [tem 1B. Unresolved
Staff Comments. None. Item 1C. Cybersecurity. In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third- party service
providers collect, maintain and transmit sensitive data on our networks and systems, including with respect to our
intellectual property and proprietary or confidential business information (such as research data and personal
information). The secure maintenance of this information is critical to our business and reputation. In addition, we are
dependent on the functioning of our information technology infrastructure to carry out our business processes. While we
have adopted administrative, technical and physical safeguards to protect such systems and data, our systems and those
of third- party service providers may be vulnerable to a cyber- attack. We have adopted processes designed to identify,
assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats. Those processes include responding to internal and
external threats to the security, confidentiality, integrity and availability of our data and information systems. We may
detect potential vulnerabilities and anomalies through our technical safeguards and we have adopted policies relating to
the notification of and response to cybersecurity incidents. We rely on third parties, including cloud vendors, for various
business functions. Our third- party services providers have access to our information systems and data, and we rely on
such third parties for the continuous operation of our business operations. We oversee third- party service providers by
conducting diligence when onboarding vendors. Vendors are assessed for risk based on the nature of their service, and
access to our data and systems and, based on that assessment, we may conduct additional diligence including security
questionnaires and other technical evaluations. Our Board of Directors has established oversight mechanisms to manage
risks from cybersecurity threats. Our Audit Committee has primary responsibility for oversight of cybersecurity. Our
Audit Committee will report from time to time, as necessary, to the Board on these matters. At the management level,
our cybersecurity program is managed by our Chief Executive Officer, who reports to the Board, with the assistance of a
third- party vendor. Although we have experienced minor cybersecurity incidents in the past, as of the date of this
report, we have not experienced a cybersecurity incident that resulted in a material effect on our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition. Despite our continuing efforts, we cannot guarantee that our cybersecurity
safeguards will prevent breaches or breakdowns of our or our third- party service providers’ information technology
systems, particularly in the face of continually evolving cybersecurity threats and increasingly sophisticated threat
actors. A cybersecurity incident may materially affect our business, results of operations or financial condition, including
where such an incident results in reputational, competitive or business harm, loss of intellectual property rights,
significant costs or the Company being subject to government investigations, litigation, fines or damages. For more
information, see “ Our internal computer systems, or those of any of our current or future collaborators and strategic
partners or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a significant
disruption and our ability to operate our business effectively. ” Item 2. Properties. While our one employee works
remotely Our-prineipal-office-istoeated-in-Semerville-, Massachusetts;where-we lease approximately 36, 285-seuare-feetof
researeh-and maintain our primary developmentlaberatery-and-office space-under-at 75 State Street, Suite 100, Boston,



Massachusetts, whlch is a shared / virtual ofﬁce faclllty In addition, we lcase

6 A approximately 61, 139 square feet of ofﬁce and laboratory
space in Charlestown Massachusetts Wthh we are Currently subleasing out to two subtenants for three- year terms (see Note
5). We believe that these-this faetities-facility will be adequate for our near- term needs. Item 3. Legal Proceedings. On
December 1, 2021, Rebiotix Inc. and Ferring Pharmaceuticals Inc., or, collectively, Rebiotix, filed a complaint against us in the
U. S. District Court for the District of Delaware, or the Court. The complaint seeks a declaratory judgment of non- infringement
and invalidity with respect to seven United States Patents owned by us: U. S. Patent Nos. 10, 675, 309, or the > 309 Patent; 10,
463, 702, or the +* 702 Patent; 10, 328, 107, or the +* 107 Patent; 10, 064, 899; 10, 022, 406, or the’ 406 Patent; 9, 962, 413, or
the’ 413 Patent; and 9, 308, 226. On February 7, 2022, we filed an answer and counterclaims against Rebiotix for infringement
of'the’ 107 Patent, the’ 702 Patent, and the’ 309 Patent. In June 2022, we alleged infringement of the” 406 Patent and’ 413
Patent by Rebiotix. On March 7, 2022, we filed an amended answer and counterclaims, in which we, together with the Regents
of the University of Minnesota, or UMN, alleged infringement by Rebiotix of three U. S. Patents owned by UMN and
exclusively licensed to us: U. S. Patent Nos. 10, 251, 914, 10, 286, 011, and 10, 286, 012, or, collectively, the UMN Patents. On
April 4, 2022, Rebiotix filed counterclaims for declaratory judgment of non- infringement and invalidity of the UMN Patents.
On May 2, 2022, we the-Company-and UMN responded, denying such counterclaims. The Court set a trial date for a five- day
trial beginning on May 20, 2024. On January 23, 2023, we filed a second amended answer and counterclaims, in which we
alleged infringement by Rebiotix of two additional U. S. Patents owned by us: U. S. Patent Nos. 11, 541, 080, or the &> 080
Patent —, and 11, 491, 193, or the > 193 Patent. On February 7, 2023 ;-Rebiotix filed counterclaims for declaratory judgment of
non- infringement and invalidity of the’ 080 Patent and #e-" 193 Patent. The Court issued a claim construction order on
February 28, 2023 . On July 6, 2023, Rebiotix filed a motion to dismiss certain counts of our second amended answer and
counterclaims based on the assertion that we lack standing to sue as to the’ 107 Patent,” 702 Patent,” 309 Patent,” 406
Patent,” 413 Patent,” 193 Patent, and’ 080 Patent. Rebiotix specifically alleges that the sole named inventor on these
patents, Thomas J. Borody, did not assign his rights in those patents to Finch, and as a result, we do not own them and
therefore do not have standing to assert them. Briefing on this motion is complete. The parties have mutually agreed to
narrow the case to include only claims from the’ 309,” 702,” 193,” 080,” 914, and’ 012 Patents. On December 8, 2023, both
parties filed dispositive motions asking the Court to resolve certain aspects of the case in advance of the jury trial. On
February 21, 2024, the Company received a notice that the U. S. District Court for the District of Delaware issued an
order resetting the trial date from May 20, 2024 to August 5, 2024 . The pending lawsuit is subject to inherent uncertainties,
and the actual legal fees and costs will depend upon many unknown factors. The outcome of the pending lawsuit cannot be
predicted with certainty. We may also be a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business.
Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we currently believe that the final outcome of
these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. Not applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. Market Information Our common stock trades under the symbol
“FNCH ” on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and has been publicly traded since March 19, 2021. Prior to this time, there was
no public market for our common stock. On March 20, 2823-2024 , the closing price of our common stock on The Nasdaq
Global Select Market was $ 8-2 . 46-74 per share. Holders of Our Common Stock As of March 20, 2023-2024 , there were
approximately #8-66 stockholders of record of shares of our common stock, one of which is Cede & Co., a nominee for
Depository Trust Company, or DTC. All of the shares of common stock held by brokerage firms, banks and other financial
institutions as nominees for beneficial owners are deposited into participant accounts at DTC, and are considered to be held of
record by Cede & Co. as one stockholder. Dividends We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We
currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for the operation and expansion of our business and,
therefore, we do not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends will be at
the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of operations, capital requirements, financial condition,
prospects, contractual arrangements, any limitations on payment of dividends present in any future debt agreements and other
factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities Issuer Purchase of Equity
Securities Item 6. [ Reserved ] Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations. You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together
with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10- K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this
report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward- looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “ Risk Factors ” section of
this Annual Report on Form 10- K, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the
forward- looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. You should carefully read the section titled
Risk Factors ” set forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10- K to gain an understanding of the important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward- looking statements. Please also see the section titled “
Special Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. ” You should, therefore, not rely on these forward- looking statements as
representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. In January 2023 we began
focusing on We-s s b ehnolog ; nteleetual-property-and-mte
ﬁbjeefwes—afe—te-rea-lﬂe—reahzmg the value of our 1ntellectual property estate +9-and other assets We have sngnlﬁcantly scaled
back our expenses by winding down our clinical development efforts . 2022-including liquidating certain of our assets ,
September1;2022-terminating vendor contracts and reducing headcount ,and January24;2623;-we now announeed-the




the-Cempany-s-intellectual property and Othu assets ,0r,collect1vely,the 2023 Business Inltlatlves .This (louslon came after an
assessment by our management team and board of directors of multiple factors,including our outlook for identifying a
commercial partner,slower than anticipated enrollment in the PRISM4 trial,the harmful impact of what we believe is the
ongoing unauthorized use of our intellectual property,and broader sector trends in the biotechnology industry.We do not
currently expect to be able to progress any product candidate through Heensing-clinical trials eur— or teehnology
commercial approval and we do not currently expect to generate any revenue from product sales. Since our inception,
we have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from the sale of common and convertible preferred stock, our
previous loan agreement with Hercules Capital and from collaboration partrers-revenue. Since our inception, we have
incurred significant operating losses. Our net losses were $ 74. 8 million and $ 114. 6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had and-- an enfereing-ourpatentrights-against
infringing parties-andireertaireases;accumulated deficit of $ 350. 4 million. We expect to continue to generatc operating
losses and negative operating cash flows for the foreseeable future as we attempt to realize the value of our intellectual
property estate and other assets. Although we believe strongly in the value of our pioneering intellectual property
portfolio and the merits of our current litigation activities relating to those assets, we may never succeed in realizing the
value of our intellectual property estate and other assets and, even if we do, we may never generate revenue that is
significant or large enough to achieve profitability. As a result, we may need additional data-funding to support our
operating activities as we seek to realize value from our intellectual property estate and other assets. Until such time, if
ever, that we can generate substantial revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings, debt
financings or other capital sources, including collaborations, licenses or similar arrangements. However, we may be
unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed or on seleeted-produet-eandidates
through-academie-eoHaborations-favorable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain funding as needed, we may decide to
pursue a dissolution and liquidation . We have a robust intellectual property estate reflecting our pl()l]LLllIl& role in the
microbiome therapeutics field, including more than 70 issued U. S. and foreign patents with relevance for both donor- derived
and donor- independent microbiome therapeutics in a range of potential indications. Our assets include CP101, an
investigational, orally administered microbiome candidate designed for the prevention of recurrent C. difficile infection, or CDI,
with positive clinical data from a Phase 2 randomized, placebo- controlled trial and a Phase 2 open- label trial, and pre- clinical
assets that are designed to target ulcerative colitis, Crohn’ s disease, and autism spectrum disorder. Additionally, we have
developed a significant biorepository of strains and samples. -Until January 2023, we were a annetneed-the-deeiston-te
diseontinae-ourPhase-3—clinical trial-- stage microbiome therapeutics company using our Human- First Discovery platform
to develop a novel class of €P+6+-orally administered biological drugs. The microbiome consists of trillions of microbes
that live symbiotically in reeurrent-CBtand feeus-on realizing-the-vahie-of every human and are essential to our inteHeetuat
property-estate-health. When key microbes are lost, the resulting microbiome disruption can increase susceptibility to
immune disorders, infections, neurological conditions, cancer and other assets-serious diseases . Ve are-enrrentlyin
developed our Human- First Discovery platform to use reverse translatlon to 1dent1fy dlseases of microbiome disruption
and to des1gn mlcroblome therapeutlcs that address t-he—them v v
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s’f&f-ﬁﬂg—January 24 2023, we announced our eemp&fly—&ﬂd—esfa-b&shmg—&ﬂd—pfefeeﬂﬂg—decmlon to dlscontlnue PRISM4. We
will also continue to explore opportunities to realize the value of our intellectual property pertfetio—tnti-Jantary2623;-we
also-foeused-ondevelopingand microbiome assets progressing-our-produet-eandidates-through strategic partnerships and

academic collaborations. These include our licensing relationship with the University of Minnesota, or UMN, pursuant to
which UMN is conductlng multlple 1nvest1gator- sponsored clinical trials using a microbiome developmentand-researeh

B b any-product candidate threngh-comprised of
comp0s1t10ns to whlch we hold an excluswe llcense. In addmon to our Llll]l(,dl fﬂa}s—ereemfnefeta-l-apﬁeva-l—dnd pre-

eper&&ens—prnn&rﬂy—wﬁh—preeeeds—developed a b10repos1tory of samples and stralns that can be used ina varlety of
research appllcatlons and may-freﬂa— form the bas1s . v




Components of Our Results of Opemtlons We have no produds approved for commelcml sale. We have not generated any
revenue from product sales and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of licensed products for the foreseeable
future. Our revenue to date has been generated primarily through collaboration and license agreements. We recognize revenue
over our expected performance period under each agreement. We expect that our revenue for the next several years, if any, will
be derived from enforcement and out- licensing of our intellectual property estate. Additionally, we will continue to earn
royalties under our Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 19, 2020, or the OpenBiome Agreement, with
Microbiome Health Research Institute, Inc., doing business as OpenBiome, or OpenBiome, based on sales of fecal microbiota
transplantation ser(" FMT "), materials, which we receive as reimbursement for the payment of third- party license fees.
Collaboration and License Agreement with Takeda We were party to InJantary264+7-we-enterednte-a research collaboration
and exclusive license agreement, or , as amended and restated, the Takeda Agreement, with Takeda, pursuant to which we
granted Takeda a worldwide, exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under our rights in certain patents, patent
applications and know- how to develop, have developed, manufacture, have manufactured, make, have made, use, have used,
offer for sale, sell, have sold, commercialize, have commercialized and import our microbiome therapeutic candidate FIN- 524,

for the prevention, dld(’nOSlS theragnosis or treatment of dlse'lses in humdns —We-subseqtiently-amended-and-restated-the

fPeﬂﬂtnﬂ-ﬁeﬁ—E-ffeeﬁve—Ba’fe—the llcense rlohts s_ranted to Tdked’l telmlmted ﬁ,ﬂd— In October 2022 the Takeda eeased-

Agreement was amended to allow the Company aeerue-anyfinanetal-obligations-to us-use commercially reasonable efforts
to continue certain development activities for no more than $ 0. 1 million. The Company completed the development in
March 2023 . Revenue earned te-date-under the Takeda Agreement #8-was recognized as our research and development , or R
&D serwces are-were prov1ded and ts-was recorded as colldbomtlon revenue on our consolidated statement of operatlons We

or the LMIC A(neement Wlth Mlcroblome Health Research Instltute, Inc., or OpenBlome pursuant to Whlch we gr"mted
OpenBiome a non- exclusive royalty- bearing license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under certain patents, patent
applications, and know- how that are reasonably necessary or useful for the exploitation of products manufactured directly from
stool from a stool donor source without the use of culturing or rephumon or certam natural products The -l-teeﬂse—gf&ﬂted-te

proeessed-stootistyophilized—The-only COHSIdeIdthl’l prov 1ded to us undel the LMIC Agreement is in the form of potentlal
future royalties on net sales of these products whieh-are-neteurrently-eommeretalty-viable-. We are entitled to receive tiered

royalties on net sales of certain products, ranging from mid- single digit to low second decile digits on a product- by- product
and country- by- country basis. We did not recognize any revenue related to the LMIC Agreement for the years ended December
31,2023 and 2022 and-262+-, as there are currently no products available for sale. We were Adse-also party to enNevember
19,2626;we-enterednto-an asset puthdse agreement or the OpenBlome A(neement Wltthfe-b-teme—I-Iea-l-t-h—Reseafeh
Institte;Ineser-OpenBiome —Fhe-Ope me-Agreemen -termin ; agreements-with-OpenBt
a-nd—rn’eemah*zed—eeﬁ&m—ftmeﬁeﬁs—feﬂvhlch entltles us we—pfevteus}y—fehed-ofrepeﬂ-Bieﬁ&e—Pﬁfsu&ﬂt—to ﬂ%e—epefrB-ieﬂ&e

e&m—feya}&es—tmder—&re—epefrBiefneﬁgfeeme&t—whlch serve as relmbursement for thnd party hcense fees b"lsed on sales of
feeal-mierobiota-transplantation;or-F M materials. We did not recognize any revenue related to the OpenBiome



Agreement for the years ended December 31 , 2023 and 2022, as there were no sales of FMT materials. Operating Expenses
Researeh-and-Development R & D Expenses Researeh-and-development-Until January 2023, R & D activities were central
to our business model. As a result of our 2023 Business Initiatives, we do not currently expect to be able to progress any
product candidate through clinical trials or commercial approval. R & D expenses eensistprimarily consisted of costs
incurred for research activities, including discovery and development efforts. We expense research-and-developmentR & D
costs as incurred, which include: * salaries, benefits and other related costs, including stock- based compensation expense, for
personnel engaged in researeh-and-development-R & D functions; * upfront, milestone and maintenance fees incurred under
license, acquisition and other third- party agreements; ¢ costs of laboratory supplies and acquiring, developing and
manufacturing study materials;  facility- related expenses, which include direct depreciation costs and allocated expenses for
rent and maintenance of facilities and other operating costs; and ¢ costs of outside consultants engaged in researeh-and
develepmentR & D functions, including their fees and related travel expenses Costs for external development activities are
have been recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by
our vendors. Payments for these activities are-were based on the terms of the individual agreements ;-whieh-may-differfrom-the
patternrof-eostsinenrred-and are-were reflected in our consolidated financial statements as prepaid or accrued researeh-and
develepment-R & D expenses. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to-be-received for tthe-future for-use in
researelrand-development-R & D activities are-were recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed as the related goods are-were
deln ered or the services are-were perfonned We de—have not a-l-}eeate—allocated eertatn-employee—related-costs ;external-eosts

eosts—to specific researehand-developmentR & D

programs because these costs are-were deployed across multlple product programs and, as such, are-were classified as costs of
our platform research. General UntiHanuary 2023 researeh-and Administrative Expenses development-aetivities-were-eentrat
to-our-businessmodel—\We expect that our researeh-general and development-administrative expenses will decrease in the
foreseeable future due to reducing our redueed-headcount and-eur-deeistons-to one full time employee. We expect to
diseeﬁ&nﬂe———— contlnue eu%Phase%—el-rrnea-l—&ta-l—e%GP—l—@-l—&nd—to incur expenses assoclated w1th bemg a public company

mcludmﬂ costs emeetrt-}ee-lefm accountmg 1&eﬁ-t-rfy1ﬂg—a
eeﬂﬂa&efeta-l—paﬁﬂer— audlt s&ewer—&mr&rr&em&ted—eﬂreﬁmeﬂt—ﬁrﬂ&e—m&smmal— legal the-harmfulimpaet-of-what-we-behteve
7, regulatory and tax compliance services, director broaderseetor
freﬁds—in—ﬂ%e—btefeehﬂe}egy—rﬂd-usﬁy—euﬁese&feh—and deve{epmeﬂt—ofﬁcer insurance costs, and investor and public
relatlons costs. General and admmlstratlve expenses have beeﬁ—prlmarlly foeused-onsupportingehinteattrials for CPHO-
ist-consisted primarity-of salaries and other
reldted costs, 1r1c1ud1r10 stock based Compensatlon sfor non R & D pelsonnel nrotr-exeettive; finanee;eorporate-and-business
development-and-administrative-funettons-. General and administrative expenses have also irelude-included professional fees

for legal, patent, accounting, auditing, tax and consulting services, travel expenses and facility- related expenses, which include
direct depreciation costs and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and other operating costs. We-expeet-that

Geedwa-l—l—and Aequﬁed—I-n—Pfeeess—Rese&reh—aﬂd—Beve}epﬂieﬂt—eHPR & D Goodwﬂl and in- process R & D ,are-or IPR &

D, intangibles were cvaluated for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indieate-indicated that the asset might be impaired. Factors we eenstder-considered important, on an overall company basis,
that could trigger an impairment review ietade-included significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future
operating results, significant changes in our use of an-the acquired asset or the strategy for enr-its overall business, significant
negative industry or economic trends, a significant decline in the Company’ s stock price for a sustained period, or a reduction of
eurits market capitalization relative to net book value. To conduct impairment tests of goodwill, the fair value of the Company’
s single reporting unit +s-was compared to its carrying value. If the reporting unit’ s carrying value exeeeds-exceeded its fair
value, the Company reeerds-recorded an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value of goodwill exeeeds-exceeded its
fair value . To conduct impairment tests of IPR & D intangible assets, the fair value of the asset was compared to its
carrying value. If the carrying value exceeded its fair value, the excess was recorded as an impairment loss. We
estimated the fair value for our IPR & D asset using discounted cash flow valuation models, which required the use of
significant estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, estimating the timing of and expected costs to
complete in- process projects, projecting regulatory approvals, estimating future cash flows from product sales resulting
from completed projects and in- process projects, and developing appropriate discount rates. Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets Impairment of long- lived assets in 2023 consists of costs attributable to the cease of use of laboratory
equipment, leasehold improvements, and software associated with program development, as it was determined that
certain long- lived assets would no longer be used following our 2023 Business Initiatives, which discontinued the
Company’ s Phase 3 clinical trial in CP101. Impairment of long- lived assets in 2022 consists of an impairment of the
ROU asset related to the Hood Lease as the rental income pursuant to our sublease agreements was forecasted to be less
than the forecasted rent expense . Restructuring Expense Restructuring expense consists of costs directly incurred as a result
of restructuring initiatives, and includes one- time severance payments, healthcare coverage, outplacement services and related
expenses as well as contract cancellatlon costs . Total Other Income (Expense)-, Net Otherineome(expense)neteonsists-of

o —Interest Income , Net (Expensey-Interest income
prlmanly consists of interest edrned on our cash and Cdsh equwalents Interest expense eOﬂS'l'S'fS—COIlSlSted primarily of interest
on borrowings under our Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2022, with Hercules Capital, Inc., or the Loan




Agreement , which was paid in full on January 25, 2023 . Gain on Lease Termination Gain on lease termination relates to
the gain realized when we terminated our Inner Belt Road Lease during the year ended December 31, 2023. Loss on
Loan Extinguishment Loss on loan extinguishment relates to the loss realized when we voluntarily paid off all
outstanding amounts under our Loan Agreement during the year ended December 31, 2023. Gain (Loss) Gain-on Sale
and Disposal of Fixed Assets , Net Gain (Loss) Gairon sale and disposal of fixed assets relates to the gain we-(loss) realized
when we sold , donated, or abandoned property and equipment, other than certain office furniture and fixtures, during
the year ended December 31, 2023, as well as selling certain lab equipment during the year ended December 31, 2022.
Sublease and Other Income, Net Sublease and other income, net consists primarily of sublease income. Comparison of
the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 The followmg table summarlzes our results of operatlons for the years
ended Dcumbu 31 2023 and 2022 an d d WS

d (m thousands): ¥EAR
E—N—DE—BBEGE—M—B—E—R—3—1—REVENUE C ollaboratlon revenue S $ -l-H%%—TOIaI revenue 18;-532-OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development 7 €57, 199 52 89357, 863 279)-General and administrative 26 {38, 910 36 68821, 192 238y
Impairment of goodwill &— 18, 057 >Impairment of in- process research and development 32, 900 — Impairment of long-
lived assets 13, 141 6, 926 Restructuring expense €3, 818 2, 416 y—Total operating expenses 83, 968 116, 454 Net loss from
operations (+H6-83 , 454-861 ) ( 785+ Netoperatingtoss{1 15, 593 H59;985-) OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)-, NET:
Interest income, net 1, 570 Gain on lease termination — Loss on loan cxtinguishment efPPPEean-(1, 366) — Gain 827
Interest-( expense-loss ) reome;net-(oss);gatnon sale and disposal of fixed assets, net (7) Sublease and Other-other income
4 texpensey, 053 net(52)-Total other income, net +5 , 825-646 Loss before income taxes (78, 215) (114, 646) Income tax
benefit 3, 461 — Net loss § (H4-74 , 646754 ) $ ( 58-114 , +66-646 ) Revenue of § 0. 1 million and $ 0. 9 millienand $18-5
million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2624-, respectively, primarily consisted of collaboration revenue
earned under the Takeda Agrccmcnl Our collabomllon revenue dccuascd by % -1—7—0 —7—8 m1 1on duc lot-he—Nevember%GQ—l-
ameﬂdmeﬁt—te—t-he—Takcda Acg - v A P

August—z-e%z—te—terrmﬂate-termmatmg 1hc d(’ICLnanl —Wh-teh—teﬂﬁma-ted-m Nox unbu ”()22 The 2023 revenue related to
certain development activities that were allowed to continue after the termination and were completed in March 2023.
Research and Development Expenses The following table summarizes our researelrand-development R & D expenses for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624(in thousands): YEARENDEDDECEMBER 34, -Increase (Decrease) CDI
$+6-3 524972 § +6-14 , 779966 $ ( 10 255 Inflammatory Bowel Diseases BB+, 994 +57-6;328+(5;1+H-) Autism
Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 5, 022 838-6;-842-( +4 , 951 864 Hepatitis B-HBVY3317212-942) Platform 25-22 , 496-278 (21,
789) Other 593-3;-897Unalteeated-9-424-2, 565-6-667 10 , 859-597 (7, 930) S 577 , 893-199 § 57-52 , 279-863 S Research-and
clevelepﬁaeﬂ-t—(45 664) R & D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , were $ 577 . 9-2 million, as compared to
$ 5752 . 39 million for the year ended December 31, 20242022 . The tnerease-of$ 6-45 . 6-7 million refleeted-a-$-6-9-million

-rnerease—decrease was tn—&na-l-loeated—eesfsah iven by our dec1s1on a—$é—9—ﬁnl+refreh&rge1n—the—few+h—qﬁaﬁefef—292—2—fer—&re

eempeﬂsaﬁeﬂ—expeﬁse—m—aéd-r&eﬁ—to 51gn1ﬁcantly scale back our an—merease—e%%—mﬂheﬂ-&rpl&t-feﬂﬁ-—related- penses -

Fhese-inereases-were-partially-offsetby winding down a-$-5-
fermma&eﬂ-e%)m development efforts ee-l-labefaﬁeﬁ—w'rt-h—"l:akeda— w l]l(,ll mcluded hquldatmg certam was—eempleted—rn—t-he

: : ithon i ith-o 1StOn-t0 an termmatmg
vendor contracts aﬁneﬂneed-eﬁ—Mareh—}l— %92—2—reducmg headcount and shlftmg our business focus %&b&equerrt—deetsten—
annhouneedon-September 1262210 Sﬁspeﬂd-reahzmg the value of our mtellectual property and P—hase—l—ehﬂ-xea-l—tﬂa-l—rn—A—S-B—
Additionatlythere-- other assets was-a-$-6- g

The following table summarizes our general dnd admlmsllall\ e expenses for the

irexternat-elinieal researeh-organizationeosts-.

years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624(in thousands): YEARENDED-DECEMBER 34, -Increase Professional
fees $ 13, 662 $ 13, 517 $ Facilities and supplles 5 973 3 946 2 027 Pusonncl cxpcnscs (mcludmg stock- based
compensation) $-3, 657 11, 969 ( A 459-8, 658-312)

Other expenses ;656-3, —7’—2—3—4—618 6, 93—3—760 @G, 142) $ 3—8—26 98-8—910 $ 2—1—36 2—3—8—192 S 169, -859—282) General and
administrative expenses were $ 38-26 . +9 million for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , as compared to $ 2436 . 2
million for the year ended December 31, 26242022 . The inerease-decrease of $ +6-9 . 3 million fer-fiseal-year2622-was

primarily due to a—an $ 8. 3 million decrease in personnel expenses due to the reduction in headcount to one full time

employee and a $ 3. | million inerease-decrease in other expenses primarily professionat-fees;a-$3—6-millionrinerease-in
-faeﬂ-r&es—&nd—s-&pphes—(h iven by ﬂ%e—&eld-r&eﬁ—e-f#S—Zv—our dec1s10n to s1gmﬁcantly scale back our operatlons —T’—ﬂ‘n-l-l-reﬁ—m—reﬁt

-rnerease—rn—lega—l—expeﬂses—pmlm ly offset by a $ 2. 0 —8-million dee

ireonstlting-expenses—The-increase in facilities and supplies prlmarlly due to et-heﬁ the increase in rent expetses—
expense related to the commencement of the 10- year lease agreement w1th Hood Park LLC in May of 2022 No




re-the-yea y 2022, we 1ec00mzed a goodw 111 1mpaument
Chdlge of $ 18. 1 million, as the fair value of the Company &’ s reporting unit was determined to be less than its carrying value,

primarily due to a-sustained-deeline-tr-marketeonditions-that-dreve-our market capitalization declining below our net book
value. Impairment of IPR & D e alse-performed-a-valaation-recognized an IPR & D impairment charge of eur-CP+6+$

32. 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as the [PR & D asset -whiehresulted-inrno-impairment-as-was
determined to be less than its the-fair-valae-ofthe-assetexeeeded-the-carrying value . There as-was no ef Deeember3+2022-

No-impairment-eharge-to-goodwilor-IPR & D was-reeognized-impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 262+
2022 . Restrueturing-expense-We recognized an impairment charge to long- lived assets of $ 13. 1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022-2023 , as it was determined that certain equipment, leasehold improvements, and software associated
with program development would no longer be used. We recognized an impairment charge to long- lived assets of $ 2-6 .
4-9 million ;eempared-tozero-for the year ended December 31, 20242022 as it was determined that our ROU asset related
to the Hood Lease was impaired. This resulted because the rental income pursuant to our sublease agreements was
forecasted to be less than the forecasted rent expense. Restructuring expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $
3. 8 million, compared to $ 2. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 . The increase of $ 1. 4 million is due to the
costs associated with the implementation of certain expense reduction measures in January 2023 being higher than expenses
associated with expense reduction measures, which occurred in both April and September of 2022. Refer to Note 87 within
the consolidated financial statements for further information . Total other income, net was $ 5. 6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to $ 0. 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase of $ 4. 7 million was
primarily driven by higher sublease income of $ 3. 3 million, a $ 0. 9 million decrease in interest expense primarily
resulting from paying off our loan balance with Hercules Capital, Inc. in January 2023 and higher interest income of $ 0.
4 million earned on our cash equivalents due to higher interest rates, partially offset by the decrease in interest earning
assets. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2023, there was a loss on loan extinguishment of $ 1. 4 million, which
was almost entirely offset by an $ 0. 8 million gain on the termination of our Inner Belt Road Lease and $ 0. 6 million
gain on the sale of fixed assets. Income Tax Benefit The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2023 reflects
the full removal of the deferred tax liability associated with the IPR & D that was written off and treated as a discrete
item in the tax provision. No income tax benefit was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2022 . Liquidity and
Capital Resources Sources of Liquidity Since our inception, we have not recognized any product revenue and have incurred
operating losses and negative cash flows from our operations. We do not currently expect to progress any product candidate
through clinical trials or commercial approval and we do not currently expect to generate any revenue from product sales. We
expect that our revenue for the next several years, if any, will be derived from enforcement and out- licensing of our intellectual
property estate. We have funded our operations primarily through equity financings, the Loan Agreement, and from
collaboration revenue. We have raised an aggregate of § 118. 8 million in net proceeds from the sale and issuance of
common stock, approximately $ 177. 0 million from the sale of convertible preferred stock and $ 14. 0 million in collaboration
revenue from the upfront payment and milestone payments received under our collaboration agreement with Takeda , which was
termmdted in 2()22 ln Mav 2()22 we b01r0w ed $ 15. 0 million under the Loan Agreement, and subsequently, m Janualv "()"2

eommisstons-and-$2-9-millien-ofoffering-expenses- (ash Flows The follo“mu table summarizes our Cash ﬂo\\ s for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024in thousands): ¥YEARENDEDBECEMBER 34 -Net cash used in operating
activities $ (#4-31 , 85+505 ) $ (6774 . 851 133 ) Neteashused-ininvestingaetivittes{(2+82-15;924+) Net cash provided by
(used in) investing activities 1, 327 (2, 182) Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (16, 155) 14, 873 H93H6-Net
{decrease Hnerease-in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ ( 46, 333) $ (62, 160) $36;-656-Operating Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , cash used in operating activities was $ 31. § million compared to $ 74. 9
million —W'h'teh—W&S-ln 2022 The decrease in cash used in operatmg act1v1t1es is p1 imarily fe}a-ted-due to 51gn1ﬁcantly scalmg

reducing headcount a-5-6- ithon -6 e tes-. During the year ended

December 31, 26242022 , cash used in opemtm activities was $—67—1—mr1-l-teﬁ—vv‘hieh—was—pmmmly related to enrnet-employee
compensation expenses, consulting fees and legal and other professmnal costs. Durmg the year ended December 31, 2023,
s1gn1ﬁcantly J:e@fs—less e-f—$é-8—2—ﬂ‘n-l-l-reﬁ—T—he—cash W d 0 0

a result of our 2023 Busmess




Initiatives

aﬁd-a—$—9%—m-rlheﬁ—tﬂerease1rr&eeet&rts—reeeﬁab-le~ lnyestmg Acthltles Durmg the ye&rs—~ year ended December 31 2023 net
cash provided by investing activities of $ 1. 3 million was due to selling certain property and equipment following the
winding down our development efforts. During the year ended December 31, 2022 and-2624-we used $ 2. 2 million as we
were purchasing property and equipment $1+5-. Financing 9-mitlion;respeetively;-ofeashininvesting-aetivities-Activities -
Fhe-$22-millienused-during-During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 and-the-, net cash used in financing activities
of § +5-16 . 9-2 million used-was primarily due to the repayment of amounts borrowed under the Loan Agreement as well
as related prepayment and final payment fees. Obtalnlng thls ﬁnancmg durmo the year ended December 31, 2624-was

-rsstta-nee—eests—related—te—the—l—l’-@— F undmg Requlrements As ot December 31, %92—2—2023 our unrestrlcted cash and cash
equivalents were $ 425 . 6-1 million. We believe that our existing cash on hand will enable us to fund our operating expenses
and capital expenditure requirements into 2025 5 however, our anticipated cash expenditures and funding requirements are
largely dependent upon the outcome of our ongoing litigation against Rebiotix, which is scheduled to go to trial in August
2024 . We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could expend our capital resources
sooner than we expect. We expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future as we attempt to realize the
value of our intellectual property estate and other assets. Material Cash Requirements The following table summarizes our
eeﬁtraetua-l-eb-l-rg&t-reﬁs—short and long- term cash commltments as of December 31, 2022-2023 ;-and-the-effeets-sueh

G ; v ods-(in thousands): Payments-Total Duc byPRertod
fl:eta-l—l:ess-wnhln one year Due later than one year l¥e&H—te—3¥e&fs4Heé¥e&fs—Mefe+h&n§¥e&fs—Lease commitments $ 42
52.-582-$-6,109-$12,682-5H- 401 $ 224 | 795 § 37 390-Leanpayable 15 606 006—15,000—— I icense agreements
Total $ 6842 , 447941 $ 64 ,134-825 $ 27-38 | 822-$1H-116 7 536-$22,-655-The commitment amounts in the table above are
associated with contracts that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including fixed or
minimum services to be used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the actions under the
contracts. Lease Commitments We have entered into operating leases for rental space in Semervile-Cambridge;-and
Charlestown , Massachusetts (see Note 5 to our annual consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report) The table above includes future m1mmum lease payment% under the non- cancelable lease arr’mgements —TFhe-table

entered into llcen%e agreements under Wthh we are obllgated to make mllestone and royalty payment% and incur annual
maintenance tees We owe an annual maintenance fee of $ 5, 000 under our agreement Wlth the University of anesota as

2031 haVe been mcluded in the table above, but our minimum payments continue in perpetuity for University of anesota untll
the agreement is terminated. Upon product commercialization, we will be required to pay minimum royalties of $ 20, 000
under an agreement for patents owned by Arizona State University. We are also obligated to make regulatory milestone
payments to OpenBiome aggregating up to $ 6. 0 million upon the achievement of regulatory approvals, and sales- based

mllestone payment% ot up to $ 20.0 mllhor1 upon the achleyement of certain net sales cr1ter1a—\Ve—were—a-lse—ebl-rgated—te—pay

m—rllteﬁ—as*felated-te—rmlesteﬁes—preﬁeﬁslyh&ehieved- We are obllgated to pay to OpenBlome a low single dlglt royalty on net

sales of licensed natural products by us and our affiliates and a high single digit percentage of certain sublicensing revenue
(including royalties) received in connection with licensed natural products. These royalties are calculated on a product- by-
product and country- by- country basis. See the sections titled “ Business — Our Collaborations and License Agreements ~ and
“ Business — Agreements with OpenBiome ” elsewhere in this Annual Report as well as Note +4-10 to our annual consolidated
tmancml statements dppearmg elsewhere in thls Annual Report fora descr1pt1on of our license dgreements —P-ttrehase—aﬁd—Gt-hef

nown-. Crmcal Accountmg Estimates Our management’ s discussion and analysm of tmancml condltlon and results of
operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, costs and expenses and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience,
known trends and events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other



sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions. While our significant accounting policies are described in greater detail in Note 2 to
our consolidated financial statements appearing in this Annual Report, we believe that the following accounting policies are
those most critical to the Judgments and estlmates used in the prepamtlon of our COHSOllddted financial stdtements Reveﬁue

eeﬁsidef&&eﬁ—is—tmeeﬂd-tﬁeﬁa-l—GoodWlll dnd Aeqmred IPR & D -I-n-—Pfeeess—Rese&reh—aﬂd—Beve}epﬂieﬂt—GoodWlll is the
amount by which the purchase price of acquired net assets in a business combination exceeded the fair values of net identifiable
assets on the date of acquisition. Acquired In—PreeessReseareh-and-Development,or-IPR & D srepresents the fair value
assigned to researehrand-development-R & D assets that we acquire that have not been completed at the date of acquisition or
are pending regulatory approval in certain jurisdictions. The value assigned to the-acquired IPR & D is determined by
estimating the costs to develop the acquired technology into commercially viable products, estimating the resulting revenue
from the projects, and discounting the net cash flows to present value. Our IPR & D is-was considered an intangible asset with
an indefinite life. Goodwill and IPR & D are-were evaluated for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Factors we eenstder-considered important, on an overall
company basis, that could trigger an impairment review telade-included significant underperformance relative to historical or
projected future operating results, significant changes in our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business,
significant negative industry or economic trends, a significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period, or a reduction of
our market capitalization relative to net book value. To conduct impairment tests of goodwill, the fair value of the reporting unit
t8-was compared to its carrying value. If the reporting unit’ s carrying value exeeeds-exceeded its fair value, we reeerd
recorded an 1mpdlrment 1oss to the extent that the Cdrrymg > value of goodwill exeeeés—exceeded its implied fair value To

tests of geed-w-rl-l—aﬂd—lPR & D as—e-PSepteﬂabei%G—

t-h&t—the fdn value of the Compan

val-ue—e-ﬁt-he—Gemp&rry—s—lPR & D asset was compared to &t—Septeﬂaber—}G—Z@Q%e*eeeded—lts carrying leue —festl-l-t—rng—m—ﬁe
1mpa-mﬁeﬂt—te—l-P-R—&—B—as—ef—Sep’feﬂaber—3@%922— -I-n—eem&eeﬁeﬁ—wﬁ-h—lf the carrylng value exceeded 1ts pfepafa-t—teﬂ—e-ﬁt-he

e&ﬂﬂy‘iﬁg—V&*ﬁe—Eﬂ&e—e&ﬂﬂy‘iﬁg—V&ht&e*eee&s—lts fair value ;-w af-Hmp
the TPR-&D-assetexeceedsitsfatr-valae-. We estimate-estimated the fair value for our IPR & D asset using dlscounted cash

flow valuation models, which regquire-required the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to,
estimating the timing of and expected costs to complete the in- process projects, projecting regulatory approvals, estimating
future cash flows from product sales resulting from completed projects and in- process projects, and developing appropriate
discount rates. ©ur-In the third quarter of 2022, management identified factors that could trigger impairment including a
sustained decline in the Company’ s stock price, resulting in a reduction of the Company’ s market capitalization below



net book value. As a result of the triggering event assessment-identified, management performed an interim impairment

test of goodwill and IPR & D as of Beeember3+September 30 , 2022 ;-and annuwatimpairment-assessmentas-of Oetober 15
20624;respeetively;indieated-that-the fair value of ear-the Company’ s reporting unit was less than its carrying value,
resulting in a full goodwill impairment charge of $ 18. 1 million. The fair value of the Company’ s [PR & D asset at
September 30, 2022 cxceeded its carrying value, resulting in no impairment. We-expeet-given-management-s-As a result of
our January 2023 decision to discontinue our Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in recurrent CDI , which was ane-- an feeus-on
realizing-the-impairment indicator, management performed an impairment test of IPR & D as of December 31, 2022. The
fair value of eurintelleetual-property-estate-and-other—- the assets;-thatthe-valwe-ofour PR & D asset will-be-impaired-rthe
-ﬁ-rst—quaﬁere-f—%@%%—as t-he—of December 31 2022 exceeded 1ts carrymg value , resulting in no impairment ofthe-assetis
tved-fro 5 v v fPhe—assumpﬁeﬁs—felated—te—ﬂ%e—develepﬂ&eﬂt—Management
performed another 1nter1m 1mpalrment test of fa—rwa-}ue—fer—lPR & D as of March 31, 2023, which indicated that eeuld

port-the asset—falr value of the Company s earrying-valae-and

asset was less than 1ts carrymg value, resultmg ina full 1mpa1rment charge of $ 32 9 mllhon We evaluate our long- lived
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be reeorded-recoverable . Aeerted-Researeh-Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison
of the carrying amount of and-- an DevelopmentExpenses-asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are
reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. As part-a result of the-preeess-efpreparing-our
eonsolidated-finaneial-statements-January 2023 decision to discontinue our Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 and to
significantly reduce our workforce . we-both of which arc impairment indicators, management performed required-to
estimate-otr-acertedresearehrand-- an interim impairment test of long- lived assets as of March 31, 2023. Management’ s
assessment for the impairment of long- lived assets indicated that certain equlpment leasehold 1mprovements, and
software associated w1th program de\ elopment would no longer € S

fl"—hefe—may—beused W
resultmg in a pfepa-ymeﬁt—full 1mpalrment charge of ﬂ%e—expeﬂse—$ 13 1 mllllon durmg {-n—aeefu-mg—serv‘tee—fees—we-esﬁm&te

- the first quarter
v y pen p stimates aeerued—reseafeh—aﬂd-develepmeﬁt—e*peﬂses— Recently
Issued Accounting Pronouncements See Note 2 to our annual consolidated financial statements within this Annual Report for a
description of recent accounting pronouncements applicable to our financial statements. Emerging Growth Company Status and

Smaller Reporting Company Status We are an “ emerging growth company, ” or EGC, under the Jumpstart Our Business
Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an EGC can take advantage of the extended
transition period provided in Section 7 (a) (2) (B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for complying with new or revised
accounting standards. Thus, an EGC can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of delayed adoption of new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same requirements to adopt new or revised accounting standards as private
entities. As an EGC, we may take advantage of certain exemptions and reduced reporting requirements under the JOBS Act.
Subject to certain conditions, as an EGC: « we may present only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of
related Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; * we may avail ourselves of
the exemption from providing an auditor’ s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant
to Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act; * we may avail ourselves of the exemption from complying with any requirement
that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a
supplement to the auditor’ s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, known as the
auditor discussion and analysis; * we may provide reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements; and * we
may not require nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation or stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments. We will remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2026 or, if earlier, (i) the last day of our first fiscal
year in which we have total annual gross revenues of at least $ 1. 235 billion, (ii) the date on which we are deemed to be a large
accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non- affiliates exceeds $ 700. 0 million as
of the prior June 30th or (iii) the date on which we have issued more than §$ 1. 0 billion in non- convertible debt securities during
the prior three- year period. We are also a * © smaller reporting company,’’ meaning that the market value of our stock held by
non- affiliates is less than § 700. 0 million and our annual revenue was less than $ 100. 0 million during the most recently
completed fiscal year. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company if either (i) the market value of our common stock
held by non- affiliates is less than $§ 250. 0 million or (i) our annual revenue is less than $ 100. 0 million during the most
recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held by non- affiliates is less than $ 700. 0 million. If we are a
smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an EGC, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure
requirements that are available to smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to



present only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10- K and, similar to
EGCs, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation. Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of
our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial
market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk As of December 31, 26222023 , we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $ #4-25 . 8-1 million. Our
exposure to interest rate sensitivity is impacted by changes in the underlying U. S. bank interest rates. Our surplus cash has been
invested in money market fund accounts as well as interest- bearing savings accounts from time to time. We have not entered
into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the conservative nature of our investment portfolio, which is
predicated on capital preservation of investments with short- term maturities, we do not believe an immediate one percentage
point change in interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio, and therefore, we do not
expect our operating results or cash flows to be significantly affected by changes in market interest rates. We have been affected
by market risk exposure primarily through the effect of changes in interest rates on amounts payable under the-our Loan
Agreement. As of December 31, 2022, borrowings under the-our Loan Agreement totaled $ 15. 0 million with an average
interest rate of 8. 71 %. On January 25, 2023, we voluntarily prepaid all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest, fees,
costs and expenses under the-our Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2624-2023 , we had no debt outstanding thatis-subject
to interest rate variability. See “Note 6 #EoanPayable~>in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for additional information regarding our borrowings. Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data. INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PAGE Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm ( Wolf PCAOB ID No. 392) F- 1Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(Deloitte PCAOB ID No. 34) F- +Censolidated-2Consolidated Balance Sheets F- 2Censelidated-3Consolidated Statements of
Operations F- 3€enselidated-4Consolidated Statements of Redeemable-ConvertiblePreferred-Stoeland-Stockholders’ Equity
Pefieiy-I- 4Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F- 5Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F- 7REPORT-6REPORT
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the sharehelders-Stockholders and the Board of
Directors of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. : Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets— sheet of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc —and-tssabstdiaries-(the “ Company ) as of December
31, 2022-2023 and262+-, the related consolidated statements of operations, redeemable-eonvertible-preferred-stockand
stockholders’ equity tdeftet;-and cash flows s-for eaeh-efthe twe-years— year irthe-then peried-ended Deeember342022-,
and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively , referred-to-as-the * financial statements ). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2022-2023 and262+-, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for eaeh-efthe two-years— year in-the-then period
ended Peeember3+2622-, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022, before the effects of the retrospective
adjustments to apply the change in presentation related to the reverse stock split discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, were audited by other auditors, whose report, dated March 23, 2023, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those statements. We have also audited the adjustments to the 2022 financial statements to retrospectively
apply the change in presentation for the reverse stock split as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, such retrospective adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. However, we were not
engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2022 consolidated financial statements of the Company other
than with respect to the retrospective adjustments, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance on the 2022 consolidated financial statements as a whole. Emphasis of a Matter Regarding Going Concern The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company “sreeurrintg-has incurred net losses since its inception, and has

negative cash flows from operations and will need addltlonal fundlng to tneﬁﬁed-smee—meepﬁeﬁ—t-he-eaqaeetaﬁeﬂ—ef

eontinuing-continue eperating-operations . This 3
st-fa’eegy—fa—tse—ralses substantial doubt about i#ts-the Company’ s ablhty to continue as a going concern. Management s plan%

in regard to these matters also are alse-described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might
result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’
s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on our audits— We
conducted our audit-audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have,nor were we engaged to perform,an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting.As part of our audit-audits ,we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial
reporting.Accordingly,we express no such opinion.Our aadit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements,whether due to error or fraud,and performing procedures that respond to those
risks.Such procedures included examining,on a test basis,evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.Our atdit-audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management,as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.We believe that our audit-audits provides
- provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. ~ We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with...... a reasonable basis for our opinion./ s / Deloitte




& Touche LLP Besten;MassachusettsMareh23;,2023-W e haveserved-began serving as the Company >' s auditor stnee-in
2020 . In 2023, we became the predecessor auditor . FINCH THERAPEUTICS GROUP, INC. (In thousands, except share
and per share data) DECEMBER 31, 26222023 DECEMBER 31, 2024-2022 ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS: Cash and cash
equivalents $ 25,124 § 71, 038 $333;48F-Accounts receivable — Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3, 369 8;-576-Total
current assets 25, 847 74 %5-1—1-42— 551 Property and equipment, net 15, 936 +9;-635-Operating right- of- use assets 26, S84 32,
752 5;-653-In- process research and development — 32, 900 32—999—666&‘9&1-1-1—1-8—957—Restr1cted cash, non- current 2, 568§
348 2, 268767 Other assets — 4, 033 232-4;905-TOTAL ASSETS §$ 55,373 $ 162, 939 $225:369- IABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY CURRENT LIABILITIES: Accounts payable $ $ 1, 097 $3-737FAccrued expenses and other
current liabilities 2, 220 10, 161 9;925-Operating lease liabilities, current 1, 723 3, 431 45428 Total current liabilities 4, 084 14,
689 +4-796-Deferred tax liability — 3;461+-3, 461 Loan payable, non- current — 14, 653 —Operating lease liabilities, non-
current 28, 403 34, 255 4-88FOther liabilities — Total liabilities 32, 487 67, 228 23;3445-COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES (Note4++10 ) Preferred stock (undesignated), $ 0. 001 par value; 10, 000, 000 shares authorized and no
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 andPeeember3+H202+— — STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY:
Common stock, $ 0. 001 par value; 200, 000, 000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 ; 1, 605, 763 and 1, 601,
717 * shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 26242023 +48;-653;-596-and 47%—1—2—1—82—shafes-tssued—&ﬂd
ottstanding-as-of Deeember31;-2022 and-Deeember3+2624-, respectively Additional paid- in capital 373,279 371, 350 364
363;372-Accumulated deficit ( 275-350 , 644395 ) ( +66-275 , 995-641 ) Total stockholders’ equity 22, 886 95, 711 2—92—2%4
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 55,373 $ 162, 939 $225,369-* Adjusted for the 1- for- 30
reverse stock split See notes to consolidated financial statements. Consolidated Statements of Operations YEAR
ENDEDDECEMBER 31, REVENUE: Collaboration revenue $ $ 48;-532-Total revenue +8;-532-OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development 7 €57, 199 52 893357, 863 279)-General and administrative 26 {38, 910 36 68821, 192 238}
Impairment of goodwill &— 18, 057 >Impairment of in- process research and development 32, 900 — Impairment of long-
lived assets 13, 141 6, 926 Restructuring expense+3, 818 2, 416 y—Total operating expenses €83, 968 116, 454 HF&5+H
Net loss from operations (+H5-83 , 593-861 ) ( 115, 59-593 ;985-) OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)-, NET: Interest income, net
1, 570 Gain on lease termination — Loss on loan cxtinguishment efPPRPEean-(1, 366) — Gain +-827Interestineome; net(
Fossloss ) gatnron sale and disposal of fixed assets, net (7) Sublease and Other-other income 4 fexpense)-, 053 ﬂet—é%)—Total
other income, net +5 , $25-646 Loss before income taxes (-1—1-4—78 646—215 ) (5-8—114 -1-69—646 ) Income tax pfeﬁsteﬂ—
benefit 3,461 — Net loss $ (H4-74 ., 754 6 0358 : A 3 aste-and-dited
MNete16-) § (114, 646 yF$€58160-) Net loss per share attr 1butqble to common stocl(holdeIs — delC and d11uted-$—( Note 14 2
40-) § (446 . 48-59) $ (72. 12 ) Weighted- average common stock outstanding — basic and diluted 4%* 1 , 694-604 , 63239
549 1 , 589, 584 * The year ended December 31, 202-2022 -086-Preferred-is adjusted for the 1- for- 30 reverse -Steekstock

aﬂd-split Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity @eﬁe&ﬁ—R—EBEE—MABJ:E—G@N%LE{%P}BJ:E—PRE-FERREB—SJEGGK

5vLArI:U-E—SE-RI-E—S—B—( OMMON STOCK §0.001 PAR VALUE ADDITIONALPAID IN AC CUMULATED
TOTALSTOCKHOLDERS’ SHARES * AM A MO

AMOUNT CAPITAL DEFICIT EQUITY €BE-F-IGI—T—)—BALANCE Decembe1 31 %9%9—1—1%96—2-89%5—3%9%—1—66—293%—36—
3—3‘6—7%-8-8—2—54%4}3—2—2—1—2021 6—1 992—583 669 -8—7’—2—$-89—994—8—3«9—1—7-93—$ $ -7’—363 -1-99—217 $ (-1-92—160 8—35—995 ) $ 202

exereise 522H—36)—8)-Exercise of common stock options 6, 278 — — Issuance of common
stock under employee stock purchase plan 3, 355 — — Vesting 155824 Exeretse-of eommemnrrestricted
stock units 8 warrants 19-, 363-415 — — — — Stock- based compensation — — 7, 844 — 7
——4- 844 +6+—4+6+-Net loss — — — (58114 , 166-646 ) ( 58-114 , 166-646 )

BALANCE December 31, %92—1—2022 1 $ $ $ $——aF 5—1—2—601 717 371 4-82—$—$—363— 350 -1—7—243—( -1-69
275 ,995-641 ) 95 $2062- 711 3 3 A

steele&ndefeﬁrpﬁfee—steel&pﬂfehase—p%&ﬂ—k@@—%—Vestmg of restrlcted stock units 4 ———

252-, 43+046 — — — — Stock- based compensation — —1, 929 — 1 7, 929 44—
844-Net loss — — — (H4-74 , 646-754 ) (H4-74 , 646-754 ) BALANCE December 31, 2022-2023 1
$ $ $ $—48-, 853-605 , 596-763 & $ 3H-373 , 364279 § (275-350 , 641+-395 ) $ 95-22 , 41886 * Shares

prior to 2023 are adjusted for the 1- for- 30 reverse stock split. FINCH THERAPEUTICS GROUP, INC. Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands) YEAR ENDEDDECEMBER 31, CASH FLOWS FROGM-USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES: Net loss $ (H4-74 , 646-754 ) $ ( 58114 , 166-646 ) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities: Depreciation and amortization expense 1, 520 5, 507 2,-36+Stock- based compensation expense 1,929 7,
844 4+46+Impairment of geodwit+8-in- process research and development 32 , 657900 — Impairment of goodwill — 18,
057 Loss on loan extinguishment 1, 366 — Impairment of long - lived assets 13, 141 6, 926 —Gain on extinguishment-of
-P-P-P—I:eaﬁ—lease termmatlon (752) — (-1—898—Ga1n) loss on sale and dlsposal of property and equipment (637 ) Non- cash

e o sate ty tHPH ash-operating lease and interest cost 2, 85+
663 3, 018 Benefit for deferred income taxes (3, 461) — ( hanges in operatmg assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable Bue

fremrelated-party—-Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2, 121 (2, 529 H3;24F) Other non- current assets €4, 033 689}
Accounts payable ( 956) (2, 259) 2;26+-Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 5+(7 , 435-829) Other non- current




liabilities —Due-torelated-party—( 170 266)Deferredrevenne—13;-631+) Operating lease liabilities (2, 762) 1, 931 Net
cash used in operating activities ( 31, S05) (74, 851) CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING
ACTIVITIES: Proceeds on sale of property and equipment 1, 666-327 — Purchases of property and equipment — (2,
182 ) Net cash provided by ( used in eperating-) investing activities 1, 327 (742 , 182 85H674133-) CASH FLOWS FROM

WEES—P&eh&ses—e—ﬁpfapeﬁy—aﬁd-eqbﬂpﬁ&eﬁH USED IN 2—1—82—) PROVIDED BY 615—98—39—Pf0eeeds

stock purchase plan , nete
under loan agreement

inttial-publie-offering-eosts— 3-14 , 649-738 Repayment of loan (15, 000) — Payment of loan prepayment and termmatlon
fee a, 155) — Pr1nc1pal pdyments on finance lease obhgatlon — 22) %%ree‘ee‘d‘s—freﬁrexereﬂe-e%sfeekepﬁeﬂs—aﬂdﬂssu&nee

Payment OI defelred offenng costs — 132) (—2—659)—Net cash (used in) prowded by hnancmg actlvmes (16 155) 14 873 H9;
HO-NET CHANGE (BEEREASEYINCEREASE-IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH ( 46, 333) (
62, 160) 36;-056-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 73, 805 135, 965 99;-909-Cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash at end of year $ 27, 472 $ 73, 805 $1435;-965-SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION: Cash paid for interest $ $ Cash paid in connection with operating lease liabilities $ — $ (268 }$-(15434-)
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES Plopelty and equlpment

Remeasurement of 2—3—3—95—3—9per&t—n&g—r10ht 0f- use assets $ $ nght OI use assets obtamed n exchange for new operating
feases— lease liability upen-adeptionof ASE842-5 — $ 537 , S65Remeasurement-of-094 Prepaid rent reclassified to right-
of- use asset-assets $ — $ 7, 736 Prepaid rent reclassified to operating lease liability $ $ — Right- of- use assets and

ebt&rned—rn—exehaﬁge-fernew—opel atmg lease -I-rabrl-rt-tes—hablhty reduced for lease termlnatlon $ 3—7—3 994-561 $ — Prepa-id

OF OPERATIONS Busmess Flnch Therapeutlcs Group, Inc. (the Company or FTG ’) was 1n001p0rated in 2017 asa
Delaware corporation. The Company was formed as a result of a merger and recapitalization of Finch Therapeutics, Inc. (“ Finch
) and Crestovo Holdings LLC (““ Crestovo ) in September 2017 (the “ Merger ), in which the former owners of Finch and
Crestovo were issued equivalent stakes in the newly formed company, FTG. Crestovo was renamed Finch Therapeutics
Holdings LLC in November 2020 (* Finch Holdings ). Finch and Finch Holdings are both wholly- owned subsidiaries of FTG.
The Company is a microbiome technology company with a portfolio of intellectual property and microbiome assets. Fhe
Presently, the Company’ s objectives are to realize the value of its intellectual property estate through licensing its technology
to collaboration partners and enforcing its patents rights against infringing parties and, in certain cases, to generate additional
data on selected product candidates through academic collaborations. The Company has an intellectual property estate including
more than —7’-9—113 issued U S. and forelgn pdtents with relevance for both donor- derived dnd donor independent mlcroblome

1nclud1ng risks related to litigation outcomes, government regulation, 1ntellectual property and dependence on key pelsonnel
LiquidityThe Company has incurred recurring losses since its inception, including net losses of § 74. 8 million and $ 114. 6
mittenand-$-58—2-million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and202+, respectively. In addition, as of
December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company had an accumulated deficit of $ 275-350 . 6-4 million. The Company expects to
continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future as it attempts to realize the value of its intellectual property estate
and other assets. On January 24, 2023, the Company announced its decision to discontinue its Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in
recurrent CDI. As a result of this decision, the Company approved and implemented a restructuring plan (the" January 2023
Restructuring") (see Note +7-7 ). Also on January 24, 2023, the Company announced its decision to shift the Company’ s
business strategy to focus on realizing the value of the Company’ s intellectual property estate and other assets. The Company
currently forecasts that its unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $ 425 . 8-1 million as of December 31, 20222023 , will
be sufficient to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least twelve months beyond the date of



issuance of the annual consolidated financial statements. However, due to the consideration of certain qualitative factors, £
including the Company &’ s recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, the expectation of continuing operating
losses for the foreseeable future, and uncertainty around its ability to successfully realize the full value of its intellectual
property estate and other assets, the Company has concluded that there is substantial doubt regarding the Company’ s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these consolidated financial statements are issued. These
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. The Company does
not currently expect to progress any product candidate through clinical trials or commercial approval and it does not currently
expect to generate any revenue from product sales. The Company may never succeed in realizing the value of its intellectual
property estate and other assets and, even if it does, it may never generate revenue that is significant or large enough to achieve
profitability. As a result, the Company may need additional funding to support its operating activities as it seeks to realize value
from its intellectual property estate and other assets. Until such time, if ever, that the Company can generate substantial revenue,
the Company expects to finance its cash needs through equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including
collaborations, licenses or similar arrangements. However, the Company may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into
such other arrangements when needed or on favorable terms, if at all. If the Company is unable to obtain funding as needed, it
may decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation. Reverse Stock Split On June 9, 2023, the Company filed a Certificate of
Amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’ s issued and outstanding common stock, par value $ 0. 001, at a
ratio of 1- for- 30 (the “ Reverse Stock Split ). The Reverse Stock Split was reflected on F- 6 the Nasdaq Global Select
Market beginning with the opening of trading on June 12, 2023. Pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split, every 30 shares of
the Company’ s issued and outstanding shares of common stock were automatically combined into one issued and
outstanding share of common stock, without any change in the par value per share of the common stock. The Reverse
Stock Split did not change the total number of shares the Company is authorized to issue. The Reverse Stock Split
affected all issued and outstanding shares of the Company’ s common stock, and the respective numbers of shares of
common stock underlying the Company’ s outstanding stock options, outstanding restricted stock units (“ RSU ”) and
the Company’ s equity incentive plans were proportionately adjusted. All share and per share amounts of the common
stock included in the accompanying financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse
Stock Split for all periods presented. 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Principles of Consolidation The
accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“ U. S. GAAP ”) and include the operations of the Company and its wholly- owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation . ReclassificationCertain items in
prior financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation . Use of Estimates The preparation
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities as of and during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on historical experience
when available and on various factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. This process may result in actual
results differing materially from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of the financial statements if these results
differ from historical experience, or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate, even if such assumptions are
reasonable when made. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these consolidated financial statements include, but
are not limited to, the pattern and method of recognizing revenue, the accrual of research and development costs, and the annual
assessment of impairment of goodwill and in- process research and development assets as well as the assessment of
impairment of long- lived assets. The Company assesses estimates on an ongoing basis; however, actual results could
materially differ from those estimates. Fair Value Measurements Certain assets and liabilities are reported on a recurring basis at
fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and
disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the
last is considered unobservable: Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 —
Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities,
quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and
that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and similar techniques. ¥8-A financial instrument’ s level within the falr value hlerarchy is ba%ed on the loweqt

level of any 1nput that is significant to the fair value measurement. y

d ; an - aqh and— Ca@h -Equwa-}ents:l:he»—— Equlvalents and
Restrlcted CashThe Company considers all hlghly hqu1d investments with original maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed
the federal insurance limit. Restricted cash is not available for immediate business use and is cash the Company holds for
specific reasons. F- 7 The Company’ s cash equivalents, which are funds held in a money market account, are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis. The carrying amount of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents was $ 25. 1 million and $ 71. 0
million aad-$433-—5millien-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024- reqpectively, which approximates fair value and was
determined based upon Level 1 inputs. The money market account is valued uqlng quoted market prlce% with no Valuatlon
adjustments applied and is categorized as Level 1. ; ; 7




Financial 1r1st1uments that potentlally subject the Company to srunfrcant concentration of credit risk consist prrmdrrly of cash
and cash equivalents. The Company may maintain deposits in financial institutions in excess of government insured limits. The
Company believes that it is not exposed to significant credit risk as its deposits are held at financial institutions that management
believes to be creditworthy and the Company has not experienced any losses on these deposits. As of December 31, 2023 and
2022 and2024-, the Company’ s cash and cash equivalents were held with ere-two financial institatten-institutions . The
Company believes that the market risk arising from its holdings of these financial instruments is mitigated based on the fact that

many of these securmes are either g ;Dovernment backed or of high credit rﬂtlng—Aeeeﬂﬁts—Reeervab-}eﬁeeeurﬁs-reeeﬁfab}e—&re

ﬂeeess&lﬂy—as—e—ﬁBeeeﬁrber—Zv—l—Z-@Q%aﬁd%@Q—l— Property and Equ1pment Property and equ1pment are recorded at cost.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred, while any additions or improvements are capitalized. When
assets are retired or disposed of, the assets and related accumulated depreciation are derecognized from the accounts, and any
resulting gain or loss is included in the determination of net loss. Depreciation is calculated using the straight- line method over
the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows: ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFEComputer equipment and software 3
yearsLaboratory equipment 5 yearsOffice furniture 5 yearsLeasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or lease term £-9
Goodwill and In- Process Research and Development Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of the acquired net assets in a
business combination exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets on the date of purchase or valuation. The Company
aeeounts-accounted for goodwill in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) Topic 350, Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other (" ASC 350"). In connection with its preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2022, management identified factors that could trigger impairment, including management’ s decision to
discontinue the Company’ s Phase 3 clinical trial of CP101 in recurrent CDI, which was announced in January 2023. The
Company performed an impairment test, which resulted in all the Company’ s goodwill being fully impaired as of
December 31, 2022. The discounted cash flow (“ DCF ) method was leveraged to calculate the fair value of the Company
on an equity level basis for management’ s use in goodwill impairment testing procedures. The full impairment charge of
$ 18. 1 million is included as a separate charge within operating expenses on the Company’ s consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 . Acquired fa-in - Preeess-process Researehresearch and Pevelopment
development (“ [PR & D ) represents the fair value assigned to research and development assets that the Company acquired
that had not been completed at the date of acquisition and 4s-was accounted for as an indefinite lived intangible asset in
accordance with ASC Fepte-350 Intangtbles—Goodwiland-Other-. The value assigned to the acquired IPR & D is-was
determined by estimating the costs to develop the acquired technology into commercially viable products, estimating the
resulting revenue from the projects, and discounting the net cash flows to present value. The Company’ s IPR & D is-was
comprised of Crestovo’ s research and development asset related to CP101 whieh-was-aequired-in-the- Merger- Goodwithand
[PR & D are-was evaluated for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset might be impaired. Factors the Company eenstders-considered important, on an overall company basis,
that could trigger an impairment review ekde-included significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future
operating results, significant changes in the Company’ s use of the acquired asset or the strategy for its overall business,
ugmhc'lnt negam e 1r1dust1y or eeonomlc trends a ugmhc'lnt decline in the Company s stock prrce for a sustamed perlod ora

-rmpa-rfmeﬂt—tesﬁﬁg—pfeeed&fes— The MPEEM dpproach calculdtes the fair leue of an asset or entrty by estimating the dl‘ter— tax
cash- flows attributable to an asset or entity, applying contributory asset charges to reflect other tangible and intangible assets
being in place to help achieve the subject item’ s future cash flows, and then discounting the net cash flows to a present value



using a risk- adjusted discount rate. To conduct impairment tests of IPR & D, the fair value of the IPR & D asset ts-was
compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeded its fair value, the Company recorded an impairment to the

extent that the carrymg value of the IPR & D prolect F-8 exceed@ m fair value —t-he—eeﬁﬁaaﬂy—reeefés—&n—m&p&rfmeﬂt—}ess—te

a—ppfepﬂate—d-tseewﬁ—f&tes— The ca@h flow pl‘O_]eCtlorN in the@e f"ur Value analyie@ for the Company and the CPlOl IPR &D
eonsist-consisted of management &” s estimates of revenue growth rates and operating margins, taking into consideration
historical results in addition to applicable industry and market conditions. The discount rate used in the fair value analysis for
the Company 1s-was based on a weighted average cost of capital, which represents-represented the weighted average rate a
business must pay its providers of debt and equity. The F=+6-discount rate used in the fair value analysis for the CP101 IPR &
D is-was based on the weighted average cost of capital in addition to consideration of various industry resources for venture
capital rates of return. Fhe-As a result of the decision to discontinue the Company’ s triggering-event-assessment-as-Phase 3
clinical trial of CP101 Beeember31-, 2622-for-the Company performed an impairment test of [IPR & D and-annuat
assessmentas of Oetober+-December 31 , 20242022 , which indicated that the fair value of its [PR & D asset exceeded the
respective carrying value. However, Any—mp&rfmeﬂfs—afe—reeegn&ed-as atoss-in-of March 31, 2023, the year-assessment

indicated that the goedwilland-/erfair value of its IPR & D are-determined-to-be-tmpaired—asset was less than the
respectlve carrylng value, resultlng in a full -I-mp&xﬂﬁeﬁt—lmpalrment charge of IPR-&B-$ 32. 9 million, which is included

as a separate charge within operating

expenses on the Company S consohdated statements of opelatloni LeasesThe Deferred-nitial Publie-Offering-CostsThe
0 : 1n accordance aﬁd-et-her—t-brfd—pafw—fees—t-hat

for all contracts and agreement@ that are Wlthln its scope. At U-nder—A—SG842—&t—the inception of an alrangement the Company
determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present in the
arrangement including the use of an identified asset (s) and the Company’ s control over the use of that identified asset. The
Company classifies leases with a term greater than one year as either operating or finance leases at the lease commencement
date and records a right- of- use (“ ROU ”) asset and current and non- current lease liabilities, as applicable on the balance sheet.
The Company elected sas-alowed-anderASE842-to not recognize leases with a lease term of one year or less on its balance
sheet. When an option to extend the lease exists, a determination is made whether that option is reasonably certain of exercise
based on economic factors present at the measurement date and as circumstances may change. The Company measures and
records its lease liabilities based on the present value of lease payments over the expected remaining lease term. The present
value of future lease payments is discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease contracts if that rate is readily available.
As the implicit rate has not historically been readily determinable, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate (“ IBR
), which reflects the fixed rate at which the Company could borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term to fund the
amount of lease payments to be made in a similar economic environment. Management determines the appropriate IBR to use
based on the Company’ s credit standing and market environment at lease commencement. The Company measures its ROU
assets as the lease liability plus initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments, less lease incentives granted by the lessor. I
aeeordanee-with- ASC-842-eomponents-Components of a lease should be split into three categories: lease components (e. g.
land, building, etc.), non- lease components (e. g. common area maintenance, consumables, etc.), and non- components (e. g.
property taxes, insurance, etc.). The fixed and in- substance fixed contract consideration (including any consideration related to
non- components) must be allocated, based on the respective relative fair values, to the lease components and non- lease
components. However, the Company has elected to account for lease and non- lease components together as a single lease
component for all underlying assets and allocate all of the contract consideration to the lease component only. After lease
commencement and the establishment of a ROU asset and operating lease liability, lease expense is recorded on a straight- line
basis over the lease term. Variable costs associated with a lease, such as maintenance and utilities, are not included in the
measurement of the lease liabilities and ROU right—ef—use-assets but rather are expensed when the events determining the
amount of variable consideration to be paid have occurred. F—H-When a lease is modified and the modification is not accounted
for as a separate contract, the Company remeasures its ROU assets and lease liabilities. A modification is accounted for as a
separate contract if the modification grants the Company an additional ROU sightefusenot included in the original lease
arrangement and the increase in lease payments is commensurate with the additional ROU sight-efase-. The Company assesses
its ROU right—ef—use-assets for impairment in a manner consistent with its assessment for long- lived assets held and used in
operations. Sublease income is recognized on a straight- line basis over the term of the sublease agreement and is



recorded within other income, net, on the consolidated statements of operations. Impairment of Long- lived Assets The
Company evaluates its long- lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value
less costs to sell. Fo-date-During the quarter ended March 31 , 2023, the Company recorded an impairment F- 9 charge of
$ 13. 1 million to its long- lived assets, as it was determined that certain equipment, leasehold improvements, and
software associated with program development would no longer be used following the discontinuation of the Company' s
Phase 3 clinical trial in CP101 and significant reduction in the Company’ s workforce, as announced in January 2023.
During the quarter ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded an impairments— impairment have-beenreeognized
for-these-charge of $ 6. 9 million to its ROU assets (see Note 5) . Debt [ssuance CostsCosts €osts-Costs-associated with the
issuance of debt instruments are capitalized and amortized over the term of the respective financing arrangement using the
effective interest method through the maturity date of the related debt instrument. These costs represent legal fees and other
costs related to the Company & s term loan. Research and Development Expenses Research and development ("' R & D") costs
are-were charged to expense-expenses as incurred. Researeh-and-development-R & D costs eensist-consisted of expenses
incurred in performing researehand-developmentR & D activities, including salaries and benefits, materials and supplies,
preclinical expenses, stock- based compensation expense, depreciation of equipment, contract services, facilities, and other
outside expenses. Costs for external development activities are-were recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to
completion of specific tasks using information provided to the Company by its vendors. Payments for these activities are-were
based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may have differ-differed from the pattern of costs incurred ;-and are:
were reflected in the consolidated financial statements as prepaid expense or accrued research and development expense.
Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in researeh-and-developmentR & D
activities are-were recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed as the related goods are-were delivered or the services are
performed. Segment Information Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate
discrete financial information is made available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker (“ CODM ) in making
decisions regarding resource allocation and-assessing-perfermanee-. The CODM is the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer.

The Company manages its operatloni as a single %egment for the purpo%eq of assessmg—peffeﬁﬁanee—aﬁd—makmg operatlng
decisions = d 0 P

all stock- ba%ed payment awards granted to employees and non- employeei as qtock based Compenqanon expense at fair Value.
The Company’ s stock- based payments are comprised of stock options and restricted stock units. The measurement date for
employee awards is the date of grant, and stock- based compensation costs are recognized as expense over the employees’
requisite service period, which is the vesting period, on a straight- line basis. Stock- based compensation costs for non-
employees are recognized as expense over the vesting period on a straight- line basis. Stock- based compensation expense is
classified in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations based on the function to which the related services are
provided. The Company recognizes stock- based compensation expense for the portion of awards that have vested. Forfeitures
are recorded as they occur. The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black- Scholes
option- pricing model. The Company was has-histertealybeen-a private company until #sHO-4-March 2021 and lacks
company- specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it estimates its expected stock volatility based on the
historical volatility of a publicly traded set of peer companies and expects to continue to do so until such time as it has adequate
historical data regarding the volatility of its own traded stock price. The expected term of the Company’ s stock options has
been determined utilizing the ““ simplified ” method for awards that qualify as “ plain- vanilla ” options. The risk- free interest
rate is determined by reference to the U. S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods
approximately equal to the expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has never
paid cash dividends on common stock and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Income Taxes
The Company is primarily subject to U. S. federal and Massachusetts state income tax. The Company recognizes deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the Company’ s consolidated
financial statements and tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards,
using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that these assets may not be realized. The Company determines
whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination. If it is not more likely than not that a
position will be sustained, none of the benefit attributable to the position is recognized. The tax benefit to be recognized for any
tax position that meets the more- likely- than- not recognition threshold is calculated as the F- 10 largest amount that is more



than 50 % likely of being realized upon resolution of the contingency. The Company accounts for interest and penalties related
to uncertain tax positions as part of its provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2021-, the Company

maintains a reserve against certain federal and state researelrand-devetopmentR & D credits that are recorded net in deferred
taxes. The (ompany has no accruals for interest or pumlllus related to income tax matters. Fax-years-sinee-tneeptionrematn

—Revenue Recognition In The-Company-has-historieally-generated
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fe’b‘eﬁ-tte-tS—ILu)L’lllLLd over time as customers recelved and consumed the beneﬁts of such services. For revenues recognlzed
over time, the Company generally used costs accumulated relative to total estimated costs to measure progress as this
method approximates satisfaction of the performance obligation. For contracts that contained multiple performance
obligations, the Company allocated the consideration to which it expected to be entitled (i. e., the transaction price) to
each performance obligation based on relative standalone selling prices and recognized the related revenues when or as
control of each individual performance obligation was transferred to customers. The Company exercised judgment in
determining the timing of revenue by analyzing the point in time or the period over which the customer had
simultaneousty reeetves-and-eonsumes-the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the asset. The Company immediately expensed contract costs that would otherwise be capitalized and amortized over
a period of less than one year. Changes to the scope of services contracts generally included changes in the transaction
price. Typically, these contract modifications were not distinct from existing scrvices provided —Disaggregationof
RevenueThe-folowingtable-provides-under the contract, and resulted in cumulative adjustments to revenuc disaggregated
on the modification date. However, some modifications were distinct from existing services provided under the contract
and were recognized prospectively. Costs Associated with Exit Activities The Company records employee termination
costs in accordance with ASC Topic 712, Compensation- Nonretirement and Postemployment Benefits, if the Company
pays the benefits as part of an ongoing benefit arrangement, which includes benefits provided as part of established
severance policies. The Company accrues employee termination costs associated with an ongoing benefit arrangement if
the obligation is attributable to prior services rendered, the rights to the benefits have vested, the payment is probable
and the liability can be reasonably estimated. The Company accounts for involuntary employee termination benefits that
represent a one- time benefit in accordance with ASC Topic 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations (" ASC 420"). The
Company records such costs into expense over the employee’ s future service period, if any. Other costs associated with
exit activities may include contract termination costs and consulting fees, which are expensed in accordance with ASC
420 and are included in restructuring in the consolidated statements of operations. Loss ContingenciesLoss contingencies
are existing conditions, situations or circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible loss that will ultimately be
resolved when future events occur or fail to occur. When a loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable, the
Company records a liability in the amount of the best estimate for the ultimate loss. When there appears to be a range of
possible costs with equal likelihood, liabilities are based on the low- end of such range. However, the likelihood of a loss
with respect to a particular contingency is often difficult to predict and determining a meaningful estimate of the loss or
a range of loss may not be practicable based on the information available and the potential effect of future events and
negotiations with or decisions by timing-third parties that will determine the ultimate resolution of the contingency.
Moreover revente-reeognitton-{inthousands):—YEARENDED-DECEMBER31-, Fransferred-it is not uncommon for such
matters to be resolved over many years, during which time $-$38-relevant developments and new information must be
continuously evaluated to determine both the likelihood of potential loss and whether it is possible to reasonably estimate
a range of possible loss. Disclosure is provided for material loss contingencies when a loss is probable but a reasonable
estimate cannot be made , 532 Fetal-$-$18;-532-and when it is reasonably possible that a loss will be incurred or the
amount of a loss will exceed the recorded provision. The Company regularly reviews contingencies to determine whether
the likelihood of loss has changed and to assess whether a reasonable estimate of the loss or range of loss can be made.
Legal fees are recognized as incurred when the legal services are provided. Net Loss Per Share The Subsegtent-to-the
elostg-ofitsHPO;the-Company has kad-one class of shares outstanding and basic net loss per common share is computed by
dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss per
common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the
period, including potential dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effect of outstanding stock awards. The weighted-
average number of common shares included in the computation of diluted net loss gives effect to all potentially dilutive common
equivalent shares, including stock options, restrieted-steelanit-"RSU H-awards and shares issuable under the employee stock
purchase plan. Common stock equivalent shares are excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share if their effect is
antidilutive. In periods in which the Company reports a net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders is generally the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders F- 11
since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti- dilutive. The Company reported a net
loss attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2082+-. Recently Issued and
Adopted Accounting Preneuneements-PronouncementsOn January 1 From-time-to-time-, 2023, new-aceounting
pronouneements-are-issted-by-the FinanetalCompany adopted Accounting Standards Beard-Update No. 2016- 13, Financial
Instruments- Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016- 13 requires
measurement and recognition of expected credit losses or-for financial assets. In April 2019, other—- the aceounting FASB
issued clarification to ASU 2016- 13 within ASU 2019- 04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments- Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments, or ASU 2016-
13. The adoption of the standard setting-bodies-that-the-Company-adopts-as-was efimmaterial to the speeified-effective-date
accompanying consolidated financial statements . There have been no other new accounting pronouncements or changes to
accounting pronouncements that, if adopted, would have or may have a material impact on the Company &’ s consolidated
statements or disclosures. 3. BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cashCash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash consisted of the following as of December 31 (in thousands): Cash and cash equivalents $
25,124 $ 71, 038 Restricted cash, non- current 2, 348 2, 767 Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash § 27, 472 §



73, 805 As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, non- current restricted cash primarily consisted of security deposits on the
Company’ s operating leases. Property and equipmentProperty and equipment, net consisted of the following as of
December 31 (in thousands): Leasehold improvements $§ — $ 13, 972 Software — 4, 883 Lab equipment — 4, 146 Office
furniture and fixtures 1, 406 Computer equipment — Construction work- in- progress — Total 25, 222 Less:
Accumulated depreciation (275) (9, 286) Property and equipment, net $ $ 15, 936 Depreciation and amortization
expenses were $ 1. 5 million and $ S. 5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the
year ended December 31, 2023, as a result of focusing solely on objectives to realize the value of the Company’ s
intellectual property estate, all of the Company’ s property and equipment, other than certain office furniture and
fixtures, was sold, donated or abandoned. The property and equipment was sold for $ 1. 3 million, resulting in a gain of $
0. 6 million, which was included as a separate charge within other income, net on the Company’ s consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023. Accrued expensesAccrued expenses and other current
liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31 (in thousands): Legal and professional fees $ 1,301 $ 5, 852
Research and development costs — 1, 967 Refundable tax credit Restructuring costs Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued other Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 2, 220 $ 10, 161 F- 12 4. FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS The Company has no assets or liabilities classified as Level 2 or 3 on its consolidated balance sheets
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The following table presents information about the Company’ s financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis classified as and-indieates-thetevel-Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as of
December 31 ﬂfﬂtfed—te—defeiﬂne—saeh—faiﬁa-}ues—(m lhousdnds) DE—SGRI—P—T—IGN—BEGE—M—B-E—R—}I—Z‘GQ%

o i .
assefs—$—l—32%—7§—$—l—32%—7§—$—$—T here have been no udnslus bcI\\ een lan v alm lev LIS dulm<y the years Lllde Deumbu

31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-. The carrying values of other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate

their fair values due to the short- term nature of these assets and liabilities. 4—PROPERTY-AND-EQUIPMENTNET Property

Agfeemeﬂt—see—Ne’fe—9—&ﬂd—Ne’fe—l-4—5 LEASES’()() lnnu Belt Road LeaseThe I:easel-n—Beeeﬁaberz’le-lé—t-he—(omlwweﬁtemé
tnte-was party to a 10- year lease agreement (the" Inner Belt Road Lease") for approximately 36, 25-285 +785-square feet of
space for its primary office and laboratory space in Somerville, Massachusetts. The monthly rental payments under the Inner
Belt Road Lease, which inelude-included base rent charges of approx1mately % 0. 1 million, are-were subjul 10 lelOdlL rent
increases through Septcmbu 2026. 1 yea ASE-ag

Deeember31202+—The-Company slease-expense-underthe-Inner Bull Road Lease was -$—1—term1nated and the Company s
rent obligations ended on June 30, 2023 . 3-mitlion-During 2023, the landlord refunded the Company for each-the full
amount of the Company s security deposit, whlch was 1ncluded in prepaid expenses and t-he—other ye&rs—eﬁéed-current

throughFebraary 2023~ The C ompdnv S luasu expense undm the Ghefry—Sffeet—Inner Belt Road Ledse was % 0 6 mllllon and
$ 1.3 million for eaehofthe years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-, respectively . Coneord-Avente-As a result
of the early termination of the Inner Belt Road EeaseOn—- Lease May25;262+, the Company recognized entered-into-a



fespeetweh—eﬂ%ugast—lHe%l—Fme%rextended—ﬂ%e—Other Nommal LeasesThe Company was party to teena—e-ﬁt-he—}ease—fef

an-addittonal-two g y
leases -feean—add-rﬁena-l—menﬂa—ﬂafeﬁgh— one of whlch ended in May 2022 —"Phe—Geneefd—Ar'v‘enue—I:ease-quahﬁe&as—a—sheﬁ-
term-tease-and the will-be-exeluded-from-the-other batanee-sheet-of which ended in February 2023 . 100 Hood Park DriveOn
August 3, 2021, Finch entered into a 10- year lease agreement (the" Hood Lease") with Hood Park LLC, pursuant to which
Finch seilHease-leases approximately 61, 139 square feet of office and laboratory space in Charlestown, Massachusetts (the"
Premises"). The Hood Lease provides Finch with an option to extend the lease for one additional five- year term. Finch’ s
annual base rent for the Premises started at approximately $ 4. 5 million, and the lease contains annual rent escalations. Finch
became responsible for paying rent under the Hood Lease on January 1, 2022 and commenced business operations in the
Premises in the second quarter of 2022, which triggered recognition of the lease for accounting purposes. The Company
recognized an ROU aright—ef—use-asset totaling § 37. 1 million and lease liability of $ 29. 4 million upon the commencement
of the lease. The Hood Lease provided for a tenant improvement allowance of approximately $ 14. 8 million for the cost
of Finch’ s work on the Premises, which were completed and fully paid by the lessor to the Company as of December 31,
2022. Lease expense related to the Hood Lease of $ 4 9 mlIIlOIl and $ 3. 7 million was recorded for the yea-eyears ended

ke-other nominal tease

Finch posted a customary letter of credit in the amount of applox1mate1y $2.3 mllllon as ofDecember 31,2023, subject to
decrease on a set schedule, as a security deposit pursuant to the Hood Lease. This is included in restricted cash, non- current on
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2021-. In the third quarter of 2022, Finch entered into a
sublease agreement to sublet approximately one third of its leased space under the Hood Lease, which commenced on August
10, 2022, for an initial term of two years, with an option ferFirehto extend the sublease for up to one additional year, which
Finelr-was exercised in the fourth quarter of 2022. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2022, Finch entered into a second
sublease agreement to sublet the remainder of its leased space under the Hood Lease for a three- year term, which commenced
on December 15, 2022. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Finch recognized sublease income of $ 4. 0
million and $ 0. 7 million, respectively, which is presented as sublease and other income in the consolidated statements of
operatlons In connectlon w1th the preparatlon of the ﬁnancnal statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, -F-rneh

subleases of the 1eased space under the Hood Lease Finch 1dent1f1ed a triggering event Wlth regards to the fair value of the
Hood ROU right—ef—use-asset. Therefore, Finch performed a discounted cash flow analysis that considered market- based rent
F- 13 assumptions, which resulted in an impairment of the ROU ﬂg-h-t-—ef-—use—asset ef—totahng $ 6. 9 million Whteh—and is
included was-—- as a separate charge within operating : g ¢ ve-an an e
expense-expenses on the consolidated statement of opelatlons for the year ended December 31 2022 F-—1—7—The followmo table
presents the classification of ROU right—ef—use-assets and operating lease liabilities as of December 31 72622-and262+(in
thousands) : BALANCE SHEET CLASSIFICATION BECEMBER 31,2022 BECEMBER3+H262H-ASSETS @ Operating
1e"lse assets Opemtmo rlght of- use assets $ 26 584 8§ 32, 752 LIABILITIES Operating $-5;-053Finanee-lcase assets
rty-atd-eq 6 s-liabilities Current Operating lease liabilitics Operating
-l-ease—l-tabﬂ-tt-tes- current $ 1,723 $ 3, 431 $4—1—28—Fm&me4ease+r&b&rﬁes—9thefetﬁeﬁﬁtab&mes—Noncurrent Operating lease
liabilities Operatinglease-tabilities, non- current 28, 403 34, 255 4,887 Finaneelease-habilities-Othertiabitities—Total lease
liabilities $ 30,126 $ 37, 686 692-$-6;-641-The following table represents the components of operating lease cost, which are
included in general and administrative and researeh-and-development-R & D expense on the consolidated statement of
operatlons for the years ended Decembel 31 1”-922—&1&6—292—1—(1n thousands) ¥E%R—EN—DE—B—BEGE—M—BE—R—3—1—I:E7%S-E
; 3e-ass abtittes-Operating lease cost $ 5,527 $ 5,
230 +-336-Short- term 1ease cost Va11ab1e 1e"lse cost 1 949 Sublease income ( —7’-92—3 956 ) (88702 ) Total lease cost , net $ 1,
892 $ 0, 650 676-$2,-064-The weighted- average remaining operating lease term and discount rate fer—t-he—ye&rs—eﬂded
Deeember3+2022-and202+-were as follows as of December 31 : EEASE-TERM-AND-DISCOUNTRATEDECEMBER 3L
2622-DECEMBER 31202+ Weighted—--- Weighted - average remaining lease term (years) Operatingleases-8. S4—6-Finanee
teases0 8 . 24+-—2-Weighted-SWeighted - average discount ratc Operatingteases-8. 5 % 8. 3 %567 % FinaneeLeases36—6%
30-6-% Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information related to operating leases for the years ended December 31 2622
aﬂd%@%l—fe}&ted-te—l-eases—were as follows (1n thousands) Changes YEARENDED-DECEMBER3H-SUPPEEMENTAL
p ehided-in operating measurementof-lcase liabilities Operating-eash
-ﬂews—&tsed—rrﬁ—ffefn—epﬁ&t-mg—l-eases% (-1—2 93—1—762 ) $ 1, 931 666-Finaneing-eash-flowsfromfinaneeteasest- +8-14 The
following table represents a summary of the Company’ s future operating lease payments required as of December 31, 2022
2023 (in thousands) : OPERATINGEEASE-OBHGAHONS FINANCELFASE-OBHGAHONS TOTAEEEASE
OBHGAHONS-S 64 , 795 4 103-5-5-6-, 931 109-6;255—6;255-6;427—6;427-6,186—6;186-5, 071 5, 215 —5, 245-364
Thereafter 22-17 , 025 396—22.396-Total future minimum lease payments 42 $52- 401 576-$-$52,-582-1 ess: amount
representing interest (44-12 , 275 §99)9—14;-890-) Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 3730 , 126 The
undiscounted cash flows to be received under 686-$5-$37-692-6-—ACCRUED-EXPENSES AND-OTHER-CURRENT

HABHAHES Aeerted-expenses-and-other—- the operating subleases were eurrenttabilities-eonsisted-ofthe-foellowing-as
follows of Deeember314,20622-and20624-(in thousands): PEEEMBER 31,2022 DECEMBER 31,202 Acerned researchand




LOAN PAYABLEHercules Loan and Seeurlty A;:reement()n Mdy 11, 2022 (the” C losm;: Ddte”) the ( ompany entered into a
loan and security agreement (the “ Loan Agreement ) with Hercules Cdpltdl, Inc., providing for a term loan with aggregate
maximum borrowings of up to $ 55. 0 million (the “ Term Loan 7). The Company paid a $ 0. 3 million facility charge upon
closing. On January 25, 2023 (the ““ Payoff Date ), the Company voluntarily paid off all outstanding principal, accrued and
unpaid interest, fees, costs and expenses under the Loan Agreement, equal to § 16. 2 million in the aggregate. Following the
Payoff Date, all obligations, covenants, debts and liabilities of the Company under the Loan Agreement were satistied and
discharged in full, and the Loan Agreement and all other documents entered into in connection with the Loan Agreement were

terminated. Under the Loan Aoreement the (ompany borrowed ﬁﬂ—rﬂ-tﬂa-l-&meﬂﬁt—e—f—‘ﬁ 15. 0 m11110r1 whlch aﬂd—stlbjeet—te—t-he

Leanbore mterest at a variable annual rate equal to the greater ot (1) d) 4.05 % plus (b) the Prrme Rate (dS reported in the Wall
Street Joumdl) and (ii) 7. 55 %. Borrowings under the Loan A;:reement were repdyable n monthly interest- only pdyments

aﬂd-&eefued—mtefest—&ﬁtﬂ—Ne%fﬁber—l%@%é— At the ( ompany ’s optlon the ( ompany could prepay dH ora portlon of the

outstcmdmg, borrownms subject toa prepayment fee of 3. 0 % of the prmerpal amount if prepayment occurred during the 12

Borrowings under the Loan Agreement were eolldterdlrzed by substcmtldlly all ot the C ompany’ s personal property and other
assets, other than its intellectual property. In addition, the Loan Agreement included certain customary affirmative and
restrictive covenants, representations and warranties, and required the Company to maintain its cash in controlled deposit
accounts. As a result of the loan extinguishment, the Company incurred a loss totaling $ 1. 4 million, which included a
final payment fee of $ 0. 8 million, of which $ 0. 1 million was accrued in other liabilities as of December 31, 2022. The

loan pay&b-}e—b&}aﬂee—as—extmgulshment loss also 1ncluded a prepayment fee ot-BeeembeH-l—Z-GQ—Z—eeﬁetsted—ef—t-he

. due-asfollows{inthousands):
-BEGE—R‘I—BE—R—3H922—$—7 1”—1-9—71"—1-6—"110%—16—999—8— RE—S—T—RU@T—URING—RESTRUCTURINGDurmg Puring-the
year-years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 , the Company recognized restructuring charges of $ 3. 8 million and $ 2. 4
million , respectively , consisting of one- time severance payments, healthcare coverage, outplacement services and related
expenses ireenteettor-with-. During 2022, the Company ~s-had an April 2022 restructuring action €, which was
substantially completed by the “ApriRestraetaring")-end of the second quarter of 2022 and the remaining charges were
incurred in the third quarter of 2022. During 2022, the Company also had a September 2022 restructuring action , which

&heLSeptember—Restﬁteﬁlfmg—).—"Pheﬁpfﬂ—Restﬁtetufmg—w as substdntldlly Completed by-in the fourth eﬂd—e-f—t-he—seeeﬁé

quarter of 2022 . During and 2023 —Fhe-September-, the

Company had a January 2023 Resfmef&ﬂﬂg—restructurmg actlon, which began-in-the-third-quarterof 2022-and-was
substantially completed in the fourth quarter of 2022-2023 . The -and-the-Company expects to incur appreximately-a total of $

6-3 . 2-8 million tn-futare-pertodsrelated to this-the January 2023 restructuring action . All restructuring payments are
expected to be completed by the second quarter of 2024 . The accrued restructuring liability is included in accrued
eompensation-expenses and benefits-other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023
and 2022. The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual activity for the year-years ended December 31 ;2622+in
thousands): F- 15 SEVERANCEAND-REFATED BENEFFS-Accrued restructuring liability as-efBeeember31-, 202+
beginning of the year $ § — Restructuring charges 3, 818 2, 416 Cash payments (3, 759) (2, 215) Accrued restructuring
liability as-efDeeember31+-, 2622-end of the year $ 9-$ 8 . REVENUE Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited The
Jaﬂttaﬁ—%@-l—?’—t-he—( ompany eﬂtefed—mte—was party to an agreement ( as—&meﬂded—the Takeda A;:reement ) with Takedd




-P-ttrsu&ﬁt—te—kmeﬂd-meﬂt—#%—F—rﬁeh—\\ as obl maled to puloun eulam add-r&eﬁa-l-luealeh activities related to -t-he—a feasibil ny of
t-he—F-IN-é%é—plogmm pti

I\)‘
I\) b

fPakedaﬁg-reefﬁeﬂt—l he lermmdlmn became effective on NO\ unbu 17,20 2 = =
fuﬁhefafneﬂdﬁxent—te—the#akeda—kgreemeﬂt— upon whlch certaln é&ted—@eteber—k9—292—2—&re—€emp&ny—ts—m—t-he—preees&ef

uanted to Tdded 1c1mmaled &nd— In October 2022, the Takeda eeased—Agreement was amended to allow aeerue—&ny
finanetal-ebligations-to-the Company to use commercially reasonable efforts to continue certain development activities for
no more than $ 0 . ¥=2+1 million. The Company completed the development in March 2023. The Company recognized
revenue related to the Takeda Agreement of $ 0. 1 million and $ 0. 9 million for and-$48—5millienin-the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-, respectively, which is included #nderin collaboration revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations. Fakedaretmbursed-All revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was transferred
over time. F- 16 9. INCOME TAXES For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company fereertainR-recorded a
deferred income tax benefit of $ 3. S million, of which $ 1. 4 million was federal and $ 2. 1 million was state. The benefit
was a result of the full removal of the deferred tax liability on the IPR & D eests-on-a-that was written off during the first

farterty—- quarter basis—The-Companyreeorded-accountsreeetvable-of 2023 fess-than-$-6—1-miltienand treated $-6-5

mﬁmn—en—ﬁs—e‘ertsehda-ted—ba}&nee—sheets—as a dlscrete item in e-ﬁBeeernbeHl—%@Q%—aﬂd%G%l—respeetwe}yﬂ*s—e%Beeember
3—1—2—92—2—t-he1=e——— the tax pr0v1510n tS-fo-rema

( ompany dld not feeewe—aﬂy—paymeﬂts—eﬁumd a deferred income tax expense or beneﬁt for&ny—reveﬁues—re}ated—te-sa}es-
based-royaltiesunder-the TakedaAgreementinryear ended December 31, 2022. The Company did not record a current
income tax expense or beneﬁt for 1hc ycms ended Deumbu 31, 2023 and 2022 ﬁnd—Z-GQ—l—epen-Bieme-eﬁ—NeiembeH%




effective income tax rate differed from the statutory federal income tax rate for the years ended December 31 due to the
following: YEARENDEDBDECEMBER3+-Federal income taxes at 21 % 21. 00 % 21. 00 % State income taxes, net of federal

benefit and tax credits 3. 39 5. 00 6-90-Permanent differences ( 9. 12) (3. 88) 619 Research-and-development-eredit-0-60-2-
+2-Change in valuation allowance ( 10. 83) (22. 12) 4 29-. 44 36)-Other-adjustments-0-00-(6—53)-06-00-% 0. 00 % Significant

components of the Company’ s net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 ;72022-and2024-are as follows (in
thousands): ¥YEARENBEDBECEMBER 31 -Deferred Tax Assets: Net operating losses $ 73, 677 $ 61, 782 $-48;449-Tax
credits 8, 722 6, 033 4;37#6-Accrued expenses — Right of Use Liabilities 8,230 10, 225 45633-Section 174 R & D
Expenditures 10, 010 9, 898 —Other 1, 423 1, 310 Total deferred tax assets 102, 062 89, 265 55;-835-Valuation allowance ( 75
86 ., 627438 ) (49-75 . 679-627 ) Total net deferred tax assets 15, 624 13, 638 6;756-Deferred Tax Liabilities: Intangibles assets
8,224 8, 057 #952-Fixed assets Right of Use Assets 7, 263 8, 639 +5372-Other Total deferred tax liabilities 15, 624 17, 099 +6;
247Total net deferred tax liabilities $ - 3546H5-$ (3, 461) The Company regularly assesses the need for a valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets. In making that assessment, the Company considers both positive and negative evidence related to
the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is
more- likely- than- not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the realizability of deferred
tax assets, the Company considers taxable income in prior carryback years, as permitted under the tax law, the Company' s
forecasted taxable earnings, tax planning strategies, and the expected timing of the reversal of temporary differences. This
determination requires significant judgment, including assumptions about future taxable income that are based on hl%tOIlCdl and
prOJected information and is performed on aJUI‘ISdlCthH by- jurisdiction basis. i

W g 3 assets—During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-,
management assessed the positive and negative evidence in its U. S. operations, and concluded as of December 31, 2023 that it
is more llkely than not that all apertierrof its net del‘erred tax assets as—ef—Beeem-ber%H@Q%wﬂl not be realized given the
Company S hlstory of operatlno losses —1in

deferfed-&ﬁe&ssets—ts—beﬂeﬁ&ed- The Company recorded a full Valuatlon allow ance against the fema-l-n-rﬁg—total net U. S
deferred tax assets #rexeess-ofthis-setree-oftaxabledneome-. The valuation allowance against deferred tax assets increased by
-F-—2-3—approx1mately $ %6—10 5—8 million dur1n0 %92—2—2023 related to a full valuation allowance recorded agalnst addltlonal net

d ssetsd 3 vanee—As of December 31 %92—2—2023 the
Company had federal net operatlno losses (" NOLs") of $ 2—39—275 9—1 mllllon Wthh may be available to offset future federal
income tax liabilities. The Company’ s federal NOLSs ret-eperatingtosses-incurred prior to 2018, $ 37. 2 million, expire through
2037, while its federal NOLSs fet-eperatinglosses-incurred in 2018 and onwards, $ $93-237 . 79 million, can be carried forward
1ndef1mte1y As of December 31, %92—1—2022 the Company had federal NOLs net-operatingtosses-of $ +8+230 . 9 million 5

b 3 es-. F- 17 As of December 31, 26222023 , the Company had
post apportloned state NOLs ﬂet—epefat—mg—}esses-of $ -1-3—15 3-9 million that can generally be carried forward 20 years. As of
December 31, 2624-2022 , the Company had post- apportioned state NOLSs net-eperatingtosses-of $ 46-13 . 2-3 million thatean
generally-be-earriedforward20-years—. As of December 31, 20222023 , the Company had $ 4-6 . 9-7 million and $ +2 . +0
million of federal and state researeh-and-development-R & D credits, respectively, which will expire at various dates through
2041. As of December 31, 26242022 , the Company had § 34 . 8-9 million and $ 6-1 . 4-1 million of federal and state researeh
and-developmentR & D credlts respectively -whieh-withexpire-at-various-dates-through264+. Net operating loss and tax

credit carryforwards may become subject to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership




interest of significant shareholders over a three- year period in excess of 50 %, as defined under Sections 382 and 383 of the
Internal Revenue Code, respectively, as well as similar state provisions. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. The Company has not, yet, conducted a study to determine if
any such changes have occurred that could limit its ability to use the net operating loss and tax credit carryforward. The
calculation of the Company’ s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in a
multitude of jurisdictions. A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that
the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis
of the technical merits. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2062+, the total amount of uncertain tax liabilities relates to
federal and state tax credit carryforwards and are all recorded net in deferred taxes. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 is as follows (in thousands): ¥EAR
ENDEDDECEMBER3+-Balance, beginning of year $ +2 , 822-473 § 1, 348-822 Additions for tax positions of current year —
Additions for tax positions of prior years 1, 098 — 3}-Balance, end of year $ 3,571 $ 2, 473 $4-822-The Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the income tax expense line in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operatlonq A@ of December 31 2023 and 2022 ﬁﬂd—Z@Q—l— there was no accrued interest or penalties are-ineladed
; oftS A heet-. The Company files income tax returns in the U. S. federal
Jurlidlctlon and various state Jurlidlctlonq The previous three tax years remain open to examination by federal and state
tax authorities . There are currently no pending income tax examinations. To the extent the Company has tax attribute
carryforwards, the tax years in which the attribute was generated may still be adjusted upon examination by the Internal
Revenue Service and state tax authorities to the extent utilized in a future period. 10 ¥=244++. COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES Legal eontingenetes-Contingencies On December 1, 2021, Rebiotix Inc. and Ferring Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(collectively, ““ Rebiotix ) filed a complaint against the Company in the U. S. District Court for the District of Delaware (the £
Court ™). The complaint seeks a declaratory judgment of non- infringement and invalidity with respect to seven United States
Patents owned by the Company: U. S. Patent Nos. 10, 675, 309 (the “<? 309 Patent ”); 10, 463, 702 (the “ <2 702 Patent ”); 10,
328, 107 (the “<> 107 Patent ”); 10, 064, 899; 10, 022, 406 (the “” 406 Patent ); 9, 962, 413 (the “’ 413 Patent ”’); and 9, 308,
226. On February 7, 2022, the Company filed an answer and counterclaims against Rebiotix for infringement of the’ 107,” 702,
and’ 309 Patents. In June 2022, Finch alleged infringement of the” 406 and’ 413 Patents by Rebiotix. On March 7, 2022, the
Company filed an amended answer and counterclaims, in which the Company, together with the Regents of the University of
Minnesota (“ UMN ”), alleged infringement by Rebiotix of three U. S. Patents owned by UMN and exclusively licensed to the
Company: U. S. Patent Nos. 10, 251, 914, 10, 286, 011, and 10, 286, 012, (collectively, the “ UMN Patents ). On April 4,
2022, Rebiotix filed counterclaims for declaratory judgment of non- infringement and invalidity of the UMN Patents. On May 2,
2022, the Company and UMN responded, denying such counterclaims. The Court set a trial date for a five- day trial beginning
on May 20, 2024. On January 23, 2023, the Company filed a second amended answer and counterclaims, in which the Company
alleged infringement by Rebiotix of two additional U. S. Patents owned by Finch: U. S. Patent Nos. 11, 541, 080 (the *-¥* 080
Patent ) and 11, 491, 193 (the *-%* 193 Patent ). On February 7, 2023 , Rebiotix filed counterclaims for declaratory
judgment of non- infringement and invalidity of the’ 080 Patent and’ 193 patents-—- Patent . The Court issued a claim
construction order on February 28, 2023 . On July 6, 2023, Rebiotix filed a motion to dismiss certain counts of our second
amended answer and counterclaims based on the assertion that Finch lacks standing to sue as to the’ 107 Patent,” 702
Patent,” 309 Patent,” 406 Patent,” 413 Patent,” 193 Patent, and’ 080 Patent. Rebiotix specifically alleges that the sole
named inventor on these patents, Thomas J. Borody, did not assign his rights in those patents to Finch, and as a result,
Finch does not own them and therefore does not have standing to assert them. Briefing F- 18 on this motion is complete.
The parties have mutually agreed to narrow the case to include only claims from the’ 309,” 702, 193,” 080,” 914, and’ 012
Patents. On December 8, 2023, both parties filed dispositive motions asking the Court to resolve certain aspects of the
case in advance of the jury trial. On February 21, 2024, the Company received a notice that the U. S. District Court for
the District of Delaware issued an order resetting the trial date from May 20, 2024 to August 5, 2024 . The pending lawsuit
is subject to inherent uncertainties, and the actual legal fees and costs will depend upon many unknown factors. The outcome of
the pending lawsuit cannot be predicted with certainty. The Company has determined that there is no probable or estimable loss
contingency that is required to be recorded as of December 31, 2622-2023 . License and reyalty-Royalty paymentsThe
PaymentsThe Company is party to has-alse-entered-nto-license agreements under which it is obligated to make milestone and
royalty payments and incur annual maintenance fees. The Company owes an annual maintenance fee of § 5 thousand ;-866
under the agreement with the University of Minnesota, as well as escalating minimum royalty amounts. The minimum
payments continue in perpetuity until the agreement is terminated. Upon product commercialization, the Company is
also-will be requlred to pay minimum royaltle% of $ 20 thousand under t-he—an agleement with-for patents owned by Arizona

eperrBiemeAgreemeﬁt—the—Gempaﬂy—ﬁas—requlred to make—pay certaln mlleitone aﬂd—reya-}w—payments—fees of up to
OpenBiome-ineonjunetionwith-$ 26. 0 million upon the occurrence Heense-and-purehase-of certain R & D events inteHeetuat
pfeperty—re}ated-te—t-he—uﬂder}yﬁrg—ehemtstry— m&ﬂufaetuﬂﬁg—regulatory approvals and commerclal sales, and eoﬂtre-}s—ﬁ

feya-}t-ies—&re—ea-}et&ated—on a product by product and country by country bam as well as a mid- single digit royaltles on



sublicensing revenue related to such products . Purehase-and-Royalty Income On November 19, 2020, other—- the
ebligationsThe-Company has-entered into eentraets-n-the normal-eotrse-ofbustness-LMIC License Agreement (“ LMIC
Agreement ”) with eontraetresearehrorganizations-and-OpenBiome, pursuant to which other—- the third-parties=Company
granted OpenBiome a non- exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under certain patents, patent
applications, and know- how that are reasonably necessary or useful for preelinieal-studies-the exploitation of products
manufactured directly from donor- sourced stool without the use of culturing or replication , elinteal-studies;-or certain
natural products (“ OpenBiome Royalty Products ). The Company owns all improvements and testing-and-modifications
made to the licensed intellectual property throughout the term of the LMIC Agreement, while OpenBiome is responsible
for all manufacturing serviees-efforts and all expenses assoc1ated w1th these efforts Moesteontraets-donot The LMIC
Agreement will eentain— continue min § eancelable-in perpetuity until the last royalty is

earned under the LMIC Agreement unless otherw1se termlnated by either party OpenBiome has the €Companyright to
terminate the LMIC Agreement for convenience upon 90 days specified prior written notice to the Company . Payments
due-upotreanceHationreonsist Either party may terminate the LMIC Agreement in the event of payments-an uncured
material breach by the other party. The only consideration provided to the Company under the LMIC Agreement is in
the form of future royalties on net sales of OpenBiome Royalty Products. The Company is entitled to receive tiered
royalties on net sales of certain products, ranging from mid- single digit to low second decile digits on a product- by-
product and country- by- country bas1s The Company d1d not recogmze any revenue related to the LMIC Agreement

fPhe—eert-rﬁea-te—F-%—duthonzes the issuance 01‘ up to 200, ()()() 000 Shdle% of $ 0. 001 par \dlue common stod( and up to 10,
000, 000 shares of $ 0. 001 par value undesignated preferred stock. The Board may designate the rights, preferences, privileges,
and restrictions of the preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption,
liquidation preference, and number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series. The issuance of preferred
stock could have the effect of restricting dividends on the Company +> s common stock, diluting the voting power of the
Company > s common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of the Company +-> s common stock, or delaying or preventing a

change in connol As of December 31, %922—2023 no shares of preferred stock were outstandmo —Ineenjunetion-with-the HO;

of common stock entitles the holdel to one vote, IOUGthCI w 1th the holders of pleterred stock, on all matters submltted to the
stockholders for a vote. Common stockholders are also entitled to receive dividends. As of December 31, 26222023 , no cash
dividends have been declared or paid. The As—e-ﬂBeeembeHH@Q%&nd%@%l—t-he—( ompany has reserved the following shares
of common stock as fer-the-exeretse-of December 31 stoek-options;-vesting

stoekpurehaseplan: YEARENDED-DECEMBER3+-Options to pulehdse common stod( 3—51 2-89—331 109 , 522 -3-8-3—3—2-64—
F76-Unvested restricted stock units 276;996-— 9, 039 Shares issuable under employee stock pulehdse plan 45—— 51331118,
564 F- -1-95» 19 12 -3%69—47—1—3—399—965—1—3— STOC K- BASED C OMPEN SATI()N %Olq—Equtw—}neeﬁﬁve—P-}an—"Phe—Gemp&ny

Whteh—eeeiﬁed—rn—M&reh%@%l—’O’l Equny lncentl\ e Planln March 2021, the Board adopted and the stoekholdeu approved,
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the * 2021 Plan ). The 2021 Plan was amended and beeame-effeetive-onthe-date-ofthe
underwriting-agreementrelated-restated as of June 8, 2023 to reflect the stock split HRO-and-no-further-grants-wittbe-made
underthe 2647 Plan-. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options to employees, including employees of any
parent or subsidiary of the Company, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards and other forms of awards to employees, directors and consultants,

including employees and consultants of the Company’ s affiliates. Awards fnitialy;-the-maximumnumber-of shares-of the
Gemp&ny—s—eeﬂﬁeﬂ—steel&th&t—mayhbe—tssued-undm the 2021 Plan generallywﬂl—net—exeeedé%l—#&é—sh&res—e-ﬁeermﬁeﬂ

have a maximum contractual term of ten years ARV ng-obligation he
shares-beeome-avatable-from-time-te-time- The -I-n—ae}d-tﬁeﬁ—t-he—numbm of shares 01‘ common stod( reserv ed f01 issuance undel
the Company &> s 2021 Plan svi-automatically irerease-increases on January 1 of each calendar year, starting on January 1,
2022 through January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to (i) 5. 0 % of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on



December 31 of the year before the date of each automatic increase, or (ii) a lesser number of shares determined by the Board
prior to the applicable January 1. F=26-The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued on the exercise of
incentive stock options under the 2021 Plan will be 470 +4;+86-, 000 shares. Shares subject to stock awards granted under the
2021 Plan that expire or terminate without being exercised in full or that are paid out in cash rather than in shares will not reduce
the number of shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. On January 1, 2023 and 2022, the number of shares of
common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2021 Plan automatically increased by 2-80 , 375-089 and 79 , 669
186 shares , respectively pursuantto-the-provistons-ofthe 262+Plan-. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , there were 3-51 , 331
289-383-shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options and there were +284 , 279 846;-333-shares
available for future issuance srderthe2024+Plan- 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Planln March 2021, the Board adopted the
2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ 2021 ESPP ). The 2021 ESPP was amended and —which-beeame-effeetive-on-the

date-of the-underwriting-agreementrelated-restated as of June 8, 2023 to reflect the H#26-stock split . The 2021 ESPP is
administered by the Board or by a committee appointed by the Board. The 2021 ESPP initiatyprovides participating employees

with the opportunity to purchase up-te-anaggregate-of-500,-600-shares of common stock —Fhe-first-offering period-underthe
202+-ESPP-eommeneed-onBDeeember15202+-. Each offering to employees to purchase shares will begin on each June 1 and
December 1 and will end on the following November 30 and May 31, respectively. On each purchase date, which will fall on
the last date of each offering period, participants #the202+ESPR-will purchase shares of common stock at a price per share
equal to 85 % of the lesser of (1) the fair market value of the shares on the offering date or (2) the fair market value of the shares
on the purchase date. The occurrence and duration of offering periods are subject to the determinations of the Board. The
number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Company’ s 2021 ESPP are-subjeetto-the
determinations-will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year, starting on January 1, 2022 through
January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to the lesser eompensation-eommiittee-of (i) 1. 0 % of the total number of shares of
common stock outstanding on December 31 of the year before the date of each automatic increase, or (ii) 46, 666 shares,
unless a lesser number of shares is determined by the Board. On January 1, 2023 and 2022, the number of shares of common
stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2021 ESPP automatically increased by 4#5-16 , 424-017 and 15, 837 shares
parstant-to-the-provistons-, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, 3, 354 shares have been issued under the 2021 ESPP and
—As-of December31+,2022,100;-645- 45, 167 sharcs are were-issted-under-the 202+ ESPP-in262+-and-874;476-shares-were
available for future issuance. Stock Option Valuation The assumptions that the Company used in Black- Scholes option- pricing
model to determine the grant- date fair value of stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and
202+-were as follows: Risk- free interest rate 3. 88 % 2. 26 %0688 Expected term (in years) 6. 03 5. 88-5—14—6-—3Expeeted
88Expected volatility 106. 4 % 95. 7 %F+F%93-0-"% Expected dividend yield 0. 0 % 0. 0 % F- 20 The following table
summarizes the activity of the Company’ s stock options underthe204+7Planand2024+Ptan-for the year ended December 31,
20222023 : SHARES WEIGHTED- AVERAGEEXERCISEPRICE WEIGHTED-
AVERAGEREMAININGCONTRACTUALTERM (in years) AGGREGATEINTRINSICVALUE (in thousands) Outstanding
as of December 31, 20242022 3-109 , 522 264;770-$ +1-293 . 81 6. 9 $ — Granted 34, 64-094 $ 8. 4-$7228-Granted 2,185
15 894-6-92Exereised-188,3380-F4-Cancelled or forfeited (448 , 681 560,529-) +0-$ 325 . 4763 Expired (49243 , 414
604 ) 6-$ 334 . 56-84 Outstanding as of December 31, 2022-2023 3-51 , 331 289,383-59-39 . 796058 . 9-0 $ — Options
exercisable as of December 31, 2622-2023 +18 , 313 349,444-$ 9-92 . 5+-83 5. 6-3 § — Options vested or expected to vest as of
December 31, 20222023 3-51 , 331 289;383-5 939 . 796058 . 9-0 $ — The options granted during the years ended December
31,2023 and 2022 and202+-were granted to employees and consultants of the Company. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , there
was approximately $ 42-0 . +2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the stock- based compensation
arrangements granted under the 2021 Plan remaining to be recognized. The Company expects to recognize this cost over a
weighted average period of 2-3 . 43-4 years. F=2FThe aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference
between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of the Company’ s common stock for those stock options that
had exercise prices lower than the fair value of the Company’ s common stock. There were no options exercised in 2023. The
intrinsic value of options exercised in 2022 and2024-was $ 0. 4 million and-$+—Fmillen;respeetively-. The weighted- average
grant date fair value of stock options granted in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-under the Black-
Scholes option pricing model was $ 6. 76 per option and $ 6. 92 per option aﬂd—$—9—8—7—pe1=epﬁeﬂ— respectively. Restricted
Stock Unit Awards-AwardsIn f+-June 2022 the Company issued RSU awards with time- based vesting conditions to employees.
The fair value of an RSU award is equal to the fair market value of the Company + s ordinary shares on the date of grant and
the expense is recognized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period. The RSUs primarily vest over one year from
the grant date. The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’ s RSUs under the 2021 Plan for the year ended
December 31, 206222023 : RSUs WEIGHTED- AVERAGEGRANT DATE FAIR VALUE AGGREGATEINTRINSICVALUE
(in thousands) Outstanding-Unvested as of December 31, 26242022 9, 039 $ 83. 88 $ Vested and distributed (4, 046) $ 83. 80
Forfelted 4, 993) $ 83 95 Unvested as of December 31 2023 —$ — $ — Granted-623, 260279 Vested-and-distributed

b-Stock- Based Compensation

Expenqe Total stock- based compenqanon expense recorded as reiearch and development and general and administrative
expenses, respectively, for employees, directors and non- employees during the years ended December 31 ;2022-ard-2624is as
follows (in thousands): YEARENDED-BDECEMBER3+-Research and development $ § 3, 265 General and administrative 1,
698 4 579 Total $ 1 929 695—Geﬁefa{—&ﬂd-admﬁns&&fwe4%7—9—2%§6—?etal—$ 7, 844 13 $—4—1—6—1—1-4—RE—E°&—PE—B—PAKHZ




Contrlbutlon plan mtended to qudhfy under Sectlon 4() (() 01‘ the lntemdl Revenue Code covering all ells_lble employees of the
Company. All employees are eligible to become participants of the plan at the beginning of the next full quarter subsequent to
their hire date. Each active employee may elect, voluntarily, to contribute a percentage of their compensation to the plan each
year, subject to certain limitations. The Company reserves the right to make additional contributions to this plan. The Company
made contributions to the plan of $ 0. 1 million and $ 0. 7 million for and-$-6—8milleninthe years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 and-202+, respectively. +6-F- 21 14 . LOSS PER SHARE Basic and diluted loss per share , which is computed by
dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted- average common shares outstanding , is as follows for
the years ended December 31 (in thousands, except share and per share data): FORTHEYEARENDED-DECEMBER 3
Numerator: Net loss $ (H4-74 , 646-754 ) $ (58114 , +60-646 ) Net loss attributable to common stockholders — basic and
diluted (+H4-74 , 646-754 ) ( 58-114 , +66-646 ) Denominator: Weighted- average common stock outstanding — basic and
diluted 471 , 69+604 , 632—39—549 1,262-589 986—584 Net loss per Shdle attrlbutdble to common stockholders — basic dnd
diluted ‘{5 (2—46 49-59 ‘{> (-1—72 48-12) v s d

shares outstandmo used to calculate both basic and dlluted net loss per share attrlbutdble to common stockholders is the same.
The Company excluded the following from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders at
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2024-because including them would have had an anti- dilutive effect: ¥YEARENDED
BECEMBER3+-Options to purchase common stock 3-51 , 289-331 109 , 522 383-3;264;-776-Unvested restricted stock units
% 9 039 Shdles issuable under employee stock pulehdse plan 45—— 51, -1-95—3—331 118 564569—47—1—3—399—965—1—7—




feeetved—fa&aeeess—te—ﬁs—eash—&t—S%‘B—eerafeh—B—Z@%—F 39—22 ltern 9. Changes in and Dlsagreements Wlth Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. Management’ s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and
Procedures We maintain “ disclosure controls and procedures, ” as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC” s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost- benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Pursuant to Rules 13 (a)- 13 (e) and 15 (d)- 15 (e)
under the Exchange Act, management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022-2023 . Based on the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2622-2023 , our principal executive officer and our
principal financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level. Management’ s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)
under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management
of the Company has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2622-2023 . In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2022-2023 . This annual report does not include an audit report of the Company’ s registered public accounting
firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’ s report was not subject to audit by the Company’ s
registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to
provide only management’ s report in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under
the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth quarter of yearended-Deeember3+2622-2023 , that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Inherent Limitations on
Effectiveness of Controls Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, believe
that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not
expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because
of the inherent limitations in a cost- effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Item 9B. Other Information. On March 23-22 | 2623-2024 , Susan Graf Jo-Viney, Ph-—D—informedus-ofher-intenttoresign
resigned from as-a-memberofthe Board of Directors (the “ Board ) of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. (the “ Company )



, effective as of March 2826 , 2623-2024 . Br-Ms . ¥inrey-Graf * s decision to resign as a member of the Board was not the
result of any disagreement between Br-Ms . ¥iney-Graf and us-the Company on any matters relating to eur-the Company’ s
operations, policies or practices. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections PART III Item
10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by
reference to the information set forth in the sections titled ““ Information Regarding Director Nominees and Current Directors ”,
“ Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance ” and “ Executive Officers ” in our definitive proxy
statement relating to our 2823-2024 annual meeting of stockholders, or the 2623-2024 Proxy Statement, to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022-2023 .
Item 11. Executive Compensation. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information set forth in the sections titled “ Executive Compensation ” and “ Non- Employee Director Compensation ” in the
2623-2024 Proxy Statement. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in
the sections titled “ Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plan Information ” and “ Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management ” in the 2823-2024 Proxy Statement. Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information set forth in the sections titled “ Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance —
Independence of the Board of Directors ” and “ Transactions with Related Persons ” in the 2023-2024 Proxy Statement. Item 14.
Principal Accounting Fees and Services. The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information set forth in the sections titled “ Principal Accounting Fees and Services ” and “ Pre- Approval Policies and
Procedures ” in the 2023-2024 Proxy Statement. PART IV Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules. (1) For a list of
the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page F- 1 of this Annual Report
on Form 10- K, incorporated into this Item by reference. (2) Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are
either not required or not applicable or the information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits: ExhibitNumber Description3. 1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Finch Therapeutics Group,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 of the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 23, 2021). 3. 2
Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 of the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed June 9, 2023). 3. 3
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 of the Registrant’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 23, 2021). 4. 1 Third Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, by and among
Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and certain of its stockholders, dated September 2, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.
1 of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1, as amended, filed March 18, 2021). 4. 2 Form of Common Stock
Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1, as amended, filed
March 18, 2021). 4. 3 Description of Registrant’ s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 3 of the Registrant’ s
Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed March 31, 2022). 10. 1 ¥ 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the forms of
agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. +-5 of the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q
filed August 10, 2023). 10. 2 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and its officers and
directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1, as amended,
filed March 18, 2021). 10. 2-FerarefIndemnity-3 # Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement between Regents
of the University of Minnesota and Finch Therapeutics Gretp-Holdings LLC , dated January 28, 2022 Ine—and-its-offieers
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2-3 of the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed March
31, 2022). 10. 4 # Amendment to the Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2023,
between Finch Therapeutics Holdings LL.C and Regents of the University of Minnesota (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 of the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q, filed August 10, 2023). 10. 5 # Exclusive License
Agreement by and between Crestovo, LLC and Arizona Science and Technology Enterprises LLC, dated as of July 3,
2017, as amended August 27, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on
Form S- 1, as amended, filed March 18, 2021). 10. 3-6 # Asset Purchase Amended-and-Restated-Exelustvebieense-Agreement
by and between Regents-of the University-of Minneseta-and-Finch Therapeutics Heldings=EE-, Inc. and Microbiome Health
Research Institute, Inc. , dated Jantnary28-as of November 19 , 2622-2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 of the
Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1, as amended, filed March 18, 2021). 10. 7 # LMIC License Agreement
by and between Finch Therapeutics, Inc. and Microbiome Health Research Institute, Inc., dated as of November 19, 2020
(1nc0rporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 7 of the Reglstrant’ S Reglstratlon Statement on Form S- 1 as amended filed

reference to EXhlblt 10 12 ot the Reglqtrant S Regl%tratlon Statement on F01m S- 1,as amended, tlled March 18 2021) 10. 2=+
v S =13 T Executive Employment Agreement by and between Finch
Thetapeutle@ Gloup Inc. and Marc Blau%teln dated as of September 8,2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the
Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K, filed March 31,2022).10.14 * + Amendment No.1 to the Executive
Employment Agreement by and between Finch Therapeutics Group,Inc.and Marc Blaustein,dated as of of the Registrant’

s Annuql Report on Form 10- K, hled March 31, 2022) 10. 14 '{' Amendment No 4—#—E*e1-uswe—l:teeﬁse—1*g-reement—by—&ﬂé




A;:reement by and between Finch Thempeutlcs Group, Inc. and Marl-Marc Smith-Blaustein , dated as of March 12, 2021
(incorporated by...... and Marc Blaustein, dated as of December 7, 2022. 10. 15 *} Retention Bonus Agreement by and between
Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and Marc Blaustein, dated as December 7, 2022 —10. 16 + Amended-Consulting Agreement,
dated as of April 21, 2023, between Finch Therapeutics, Inc. and Restated-Matthew P. Blischak (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 of the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K, filed April 25, 2023). 10. 17 + Executive
Employment Agreement by-and-, effective as of April 21, 2023, between Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and Matthew P.
Blischak Jeseph-Vittighordated-as-ef Mareh+2;2024-(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 26-2 of the Registrant” s Annuat
Current Report on F01m -1-9—8 K, filed Mafeh—}l—Aprll 25 %922—2023 ). 16 -1-9—1—7—'*‘—Aﬂ=1eﬂdmeﬂt—Ne— 1 Letter of Delmtte &
Touche LLP to-the a1 v Oy y veetrFineh € -
aﬂd%eseph#&t—rg-he— ddted May 11 as—ef—Mafeh—l—S— %92—1—2023 (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit +6-16 . 2+1 of the
Registrant-theRegistrant ° s Anmaat-Current Report on Form 46-8 - K filed Mareh3+-May 11 , 2622-2023 ). 21. | *
Subsidiaries of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. 23. 1 * Consent of Wolf & Company, P. C. 23. 2 * Consent of Deloitte &
Touche EER-LLP31 —34-. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of2002. 31. 2 *
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 1 * * Certification of Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act 0of2002. $64-97. 1 * Policy for Recoupment of Incentive Compensation101 . INS Inline XBRL Instance
Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document. 101. SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document101. CAL * Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document101. DEF * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document101. LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document101. PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Presentation Linkbase Document104 * Cover Page Interactive Data File (the cover page interactive date is embedded
within the Inline XBRL document) * Filed herewith. * * Furnished herewith. # Certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by
asterisks) have been omitted because they are not material and would likely cause competitive harm to Finch Therapeutics
Group, Inc. if publicly disclosed. Certain schedules and exhibits to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Iltem 601 (a) (5) of
Regulation S- K. A copy of any omitted schedule and / or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request. T Indicates
management contract or compensatory plan. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of
Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. FINCH THERAPEUTICS GROUP, INC. Date: March 23-2§
,2023-2024 By: / s / Matthew P MarlSmith-MarkSmith; Ph- B-Blischak Matthew P . Blischak Chief Executive
efﬁeefPufsuﬁﬂt—Ofﬁcer, President and SecretaryPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the
dates indicated. Name Title Date / s / MarkSmith-Matthew P. Blischak Chicf Executive Officer , President, and Bireeter
Secretary March 23-25 | 2024Matthew P 2623Mark-Smith; Ph- Blischak B—(Principal Executive Officer) / s / Mare-Blaustein
Lance Thibault Chief epef&t-rng—Flnancml Officer March 23-25 , 2623-2024 Mare-Blaustein-Lance Thibault (Principal
Financial ©ffieer-and Prinetpat-Accounting Officer) / s / Susan Graf Chairman of the Board of Directors March 23-25 , 2623
2024 Susan Graf/s/ Domenic Ferrante Director March 23-25 , 2623-2024 Domenic Ferrante / s / Chris Shumway Director
March 23-25 | 2623€htis-2024Chris Shumway %tehe%as—Haft—BﬁeeteﬁMafe%ﬁ%%@%tehe}as—Haft—/ s / Christian Lange
Director March 23-25 , 2623-2024 Christian Lange / s / Jeffery Smisek Director March 23-25 , 2623-2024 Jeffery Smisek
CONSULTING AGREEMENT THIS CONSULTING AGREEMENT (the “ Agreement ) is made and entered into as
of May 16, 2023 (the “ Effective Date ) by and between Mark Smith, with an address of [ * * * | (“ Consultant ”’), and
Finch Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation with an address at 200 Inner Belt Road, Suite 400, Somerville, MA
02143 (“ Finch ). Finch desires to obtain from Consultant various services, and Consultant desires to provide the
services to Finch, all as provided in this Agreement. Each of Consultant and Finch may be referred to herein individually
as a “ Party, ” or collectively as the “ Parties ”. 1. Services. Finch hereby offers to engage Consultant, and Consultant
accepts engagement by Finch, for the performance of the services (“ Services ) for Finch and / or its Affiliates in
accordance with the attached business terms exhibit, and any additional business terms exhibit (s) which may be
executed by the Parties hereunder from time to time (each, a “ Business Terms Exhibit ). Each Business Terms Exhibit
shall become a part of this Agreement; provided that the terms in any Business Terms Exhibit will apply only with
respect to the Services described therein. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any




Business Terms Exhibit, the terms of this Agreement will govern. Any changes to the Services (and any related
compensation adjustments) must be agreed to in writing between Consultant and Finch prior to the implementation of
such changes. Herein “ Affiliate ” means, with respect to a given entity, any person or legal entity directly or indirectly
controlling, controlled by or under common control with such entity, where control shall mean the direct or indirect
ownership of more than fifty percent (50 %) of the outstanding voting securities of an entity or such other relationship as
results in the actual control over the management, assets, business and affairs of an entity. 2. Performance. Consultant
represents and warrants that Consultant has the requisite skills, experience and expertise to provide the Services and
will provide the Services (i) diligently, conscientiously and in accordance with the highest applicable industry standards
and (ii) in accordance with best business practices, policies and procedures employed in Finch’ s business including, but
not limited to, procedures regarding safety, security, data administration and operating practices. Consultant agrees to
provide the Services at such locations and facilities as may be agreed upon by Consultant and Finch, to keep Finch
advised of the progress of Services, to permit any representative duly authorized by Finch to inspect from time to time
such results of said Services and to provide Finch with such documents, reports, presentations, and the like as Finch shall
reasonably request. 3. Subcontracting; Consultant Personnel. The Services are personal in nature and Consultant is not
permitted to subcontract the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement to any third party without
obtaining Finch’ s prior written consent. 4. Confidentiality. Consultant understands that all technical, business and
financial information concerning Finch and its related entities and Affiliates, whether written or oral, and whether or
not marked as confidential, which is disclosed or made available to Consultant by Finch or any person working for Finch
or an entity affiliated with Finch, including any academic institutions, and all information which Consultant generates as
a result of Services performed for Finch (collectively, “ Confidential Information ”), is proprietary and confidential to
Finch. ¢ Confidential Information ” includes, without limitation, (a) Work Product, Inventions, Finch Materials, and
information concerning Finch’ s proposed or actual products or services, (b) business strategies, financial information,
forecasts, personnel information and customer lists of Finch, (c) all information of third parties that Finch has an
obligation to keep confidential, and (d) the terms and conditions of this Agreement. All Confidential Information is and
shall remain the sole and exclusive property of Finch. Neither this Agreement nor any disclosure hereunder shall be
deemed, by implication or otherwise, to vest in Consultant any license, interest, or ownership rights of any kind to or
under the Confidential Information, inventions, patents, know- how, trade secrets, trademarks, or copyrights owned or
controlled by Finch. Confidential Information, however, shall not include any such information which Consultant can
demonstrate by competent evidence is: (a) in Consultant’ s possession prior to its receipt of such information under this
Agreement, as shown by Consultant’ s written records; (b) already available or becomes available to the public through
no fault of Consultant’ s; or (c) is received by Consultant from a third party having a right to disclose it. During the
Term and thereafter, Consultant agrees that Consultant shall not, without the prior written consent of Finch, (a) use
Confidential Information for any purpose other than carrying out the Services under this Agreement; or (b) disclose
Confidential Information except on a “ need to know ” basis as is necessary to fulfill Consultant’ s obligations hereunder,
and only then with the prior written consent of Finch, and provided disclosure is only made to any party bound by
written obligations of confidentiality at least as restrictive as those set forth in this Agreement. Consultant agrees to
return any and all of Confidential Information to Finch upon any termination or expiration of the Agreement. 5.
Ownership of Work Product. Finch shall own all right, title and interest in and to all Inventions (defined below) arising
from or made in the performance of (solely or jointly with others) the Services (whether or not patentable or subject to
copyright or trade secret protection) (collectively, the “ Work Product ). Consultant hereby irrevocably assigns and
agrees to assign to Finch, without additional consideration, all right, title and interest in and to all Work Product
throughout the world, including without limitation, all patents, trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks and all other
intellectual property and proprietary rights related thereto. Consultant shall provide Finch with the originals and / or all
copies of such Work Product upon request of Finch. To the extent that any copyrighted work produced by Finch
hereunder is not a “ work made for hire ” for purposes of the copyright laws of the United States, Consultant hereby
assigns to Finch all right, title and interest in the copyright of such work, including without limitation the right to
reproduce, distribute, sublicense, perform and display the work and to create and use derivative works therefrom in any
medium throughout the world. The term “ derivative works ” as used in this Agreement has the same meaning as used in
the Copyright Act of the United States. Consultant shall cooperate with Finch both during and after the term of this
Agreement to procure and maintain Finch’ s rights with respect to the foregoing and to complete and execute such
assignments, certificates or other instruments as Finch may from time to time deem necessary or desirable to evidence,
establish, maintain, perfect, protect, enforce or defend its right, title and interest in or to any of the foregoing.
Consultant shall retain no rights in or to any Work produced hereunder. For the purposes of this Agreement, “
Inventions ” means all inventions, discoveries, improvements, ideas, concepts, designs, formulations, products, works of
authorship, computer programs, biological materials, know- how, information, data, documentation, reports, research
and creations. 6. Finch Materials. All documents, data, records, materials, compounds, equipment and other physical
property furnished or made available by or on behalf of Finch and its related entities and Affiliates to Consultant in
connection with this Agreement (“ Finch Materials ) are and will remain the sole property of Finch. Consultant will use
Finch Materials only as necessary to perform the Services and will not transfer or make available to any third party the
Finch Materials without the express prior written consent of Finch. Consultant will return to Finch any and all Finch
Materials upon request. 7. Term and Termination. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and expire at
the end of the period specified in the “ Term ” section of the attached Business Terms Exhibit (or, if multiple Business
Terms Exhibits are entered into hereunder, the latest end date of the periods specified in the “ Term ” section of such



multiple Business Terms Exhibits), unless terminated sooner in accordance with this Agreement, or extended as mutually
agreed upon in writing by both Parties (“ Term ”). Finch may terminate this Agreement or any Business Terms Exhibit
at any time, with or without cause, upon providing written notice to Consultant. Consultant shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice. Upon expiration or termination of this
Agreement, neither Consultant nor Finch will have any further obligations under this Agreement, except that (a)
Consultant will terminate all Services in progress in an orderly manner as soon as practicable and in accordance with a
schedule agreed to by Finch, unless Finch specifies in the notice of termination that Services in progress should be
completed, (b) Consultant will deliver to Finch any and all Work Product developed through expiration or termination,
(c) Finch will pay Consultant any monies due and owing Consultant up to the time of termination or expiration, for
Services actually performed and all authorized and non- cancellable expenses actually incurred, (d) Consultant will
immediately return to Finch all Confidential Information and copies thereof provided to Consultant under this
Agreement, and (e) the terms, conditions and obligations under Sections 3, 4, S, 6, 7, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 18 shall
survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 8. Intentionally Omitted. 9. Compensation. In consideration of the
timely performance of Services in accordance with this Agreement, Finch shall pay Consultant in accordance with the
approvedBusiness Terms Exhibit, which shall include a description of the Services, the associated billing rate (s) and
terms of expense reimbursement. Finch will make no payments until it has received from Consultant an executed
original of the Agreement and a current copy of a completed Internal Revenue Service form W- 9. Invoices shall be
payable by Finch within thirty (30) days of receipt, unless disputed in good faith. By acceptance of payment for the
Services specified therein, Consultant waives any and all further claims against Finch for such payment. The Parties
represent that as of the date of full execution of this Agreement the fees represent fair market value for Services
rendered, are based upon arm’ s length bargaining, and are consistent with the value of similar services. 10. Independent
Contractor. Consultant is an independent contractor and shall not be deemed to be an employee, agent, joint venture, or
partner of Finch for any purpose. Finch shall not be responsible for providing fringe or other benefits, including health
insurance coverage, to Consultant. Consultant shall be responsible for the payment of taxes or contributions for
unemployment insurance or old age pensions or annuities or social security payments which are measured by the wages,
salaries or other remuneration paid to the Consultant or the employees of Consultant and owed on fees paid by Finch,
and Finch shall not withhold taxes on payments made to Consultant, Consultant shall have no authority whatsoever to
bind Finch in any way or assume any obligations or liabilities of any nature for or on behalf of Finch. The Consultant is
free from control and direction in connection with the performance of the Services identified herein, both under this
Agreement for the performance of Services and in fact; and the Services are performed outside the usual course of the
business of Finch, or Consultant is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession or
business of the same nature as that involved in the Services performed. 11. Consultant Representations and Warranties
a. General. Consultant represents and warrants that performance of the Services provided under this Agreement do not
and shall not violate any applicable law, rule or regulation; any contracts with third parties; or any third party rights in
any patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret or similar right. Consultant further warrants that the Services provided
hereunder will be best efforts and of a professional quality conforming to generally accepted industry standards.
Consultant further represents and warrants that (a) it is under no obligation to any third party that would interfere with
its rendering to Finch execution and performance of the Services, including any employer or institution, and (b)
Consultant has the full right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and there is nothing that will prevent
Consultant from performing obligations under this Agreement. If Consultant is a faculty member at, or employee of, a
university or hospital (“ Institution ”’), Consultant represents and warrants that pursuant to Institution’ s policies
concerning professional consulting and additional workload, Consultant is permitted to enter into this Agreement. If
Consultant is required by Consultant’ s Institution to disclose to it any proposed agreements with industry, Consultant
has made such disclosure. If Institution’ s prior approval of this Agreement is required by Institution, Consultant has
obtained or will obtain such approval prior to beginning the Services. b. Debarment. Consultant represents and
warrants that (a) the Services will be performed in accordance with all applicable current government regulatory
requirements and all federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, and (b) Consultant, (i) has not been debarred
and is not subject to a pending debarment, pursuant to section 306 of the United States Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21
U. S. C. § 335a, (ii) is not ineligible to participate in any federal and / or state healthcare programs or federal
procurement or non- procurement programs (as that term is defined in 42 U. S. C. 1320a- 7b (f)), including, but not
limited to, Medicare, Medicaid and Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Uniformed Services, (iii) is not
disqualified by any government or regulatory agencies from performing specific services, and is not subject to a pending
disqualification proceeding and (iv) has not been convicted of a criminal offense related to the provision of healthcare
items or services, and is not subject to any such pending action. Consultant agrees to inform Finch in writing promptly if
Consultant is subject to the foregoing, or if any action, suit, claim, investigation, or proceeding relating to the foregoing
is pending, or to the best of Consultant’ s knowledge, is threatened. c. Anti- Corruption Laws. To determine and ensure
compliance with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, as amended from time to time, the UK Bribery Act
2010, and the OECD Anti- Bribery Convention (hereafter, “ Anti- Corruption Laws ), Consultant shall, upon
reasonable advance notice, permit Finch and its representatives during normal business hours to inspect and audit
Consultant’ s business records. Consultant shall take such actions that are commercially feasible to adopt any reasonable
suggestions of Finch to correct any deficiencies identified by any inspection or audit conducted by Finch. Consultant
acknowledges that Finch is committed to complying with all national and transnational anti- bribery statutes including,
without limitation, compliance with the Anti- Corruption Laws and agrees that Consultant will comply with their



provisions at all times with regard to the Services including, but not limited to, not offering or giving anything of value to
a foreign public official in connection with the performance of the official’ s duties or inducing an official to use their
position to influence any acts or decisions of any foreign, state or public international organization. 12. Indemnification;
Limitations of Liability. Consultant agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Finch, its officers, directors, agents
and employees (collectively, “ Finch Indemnitees ”’) from and against any and all third party claims, actions, damages,
costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), losses or liabilities of any nature incurred or asserted against the
Finch Indemnitees arising out of or related to (a) the negligence, fraud, or misconduct of Consultant, (b) any breach of
warranty by Consultant, or (c) failure of Consultant to comply with the terms hereof. Neither Finch nor its Affiliates,
partners, agents, clients or its or their employees (including Finch Indemnitees) shall be liable hereunder for any
consequential or indirect loss or damage or any other special or incidental damages incurred or suffered by Consultant.
The waiver and disclaimer of liability expressed herein shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement, and
shall apply whether in contract, equity, tort or otherwise, and shall extend to the Finch Indemnitees, and the agents of
Finch, and their respective officers and employees. 13. Audit. a. Consultant will permit Finch’ s representatives, upon
reasonable advance notice and during regular business hours, to examine or audit all records relating to such Services,
including financial records and systems, and the facilities or sites where the Services are provided, to determine that the
Services are being conducted in accordance with this Agreement. b. If any governmental or regulatory authority
conducts, or gives notice to Consultant of its intention to conduct, an inspection, audit or other regulatory action with
respect to the Services provided pursuant to this Agreement, Consultant will promptly notify Finch prior to complying
with such a demand or request. To the extent permitted by applicable laws, rules, regulations, and other acts of
governmental authority, Finch shall have the right to be present during any such inspection, audit or other action. 14.
Public Comment. Consultant agrees that Consultant will not at any time, during or after the engagement hereunder,
directly or indirectly, (a) make any public comments about (including, without limitation, by way of news interviews or
the expression of personal views, opinions or judgments to the media or any other entity or person outside Finch) Finch
or any of its Affiliates or any officer, director, investor or employee of such parties (together, the “ Finch Group ) or (b)
disparage, criticize, ridicule or make any negative comments about the Finch Group to any person or entity within the
Finch Group or any other individual or entity with whom the Finch Group has a business or personal relationship. 15.
Intentionally Omitted. 16. Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing and
addressed as set forth above or to such other address as the recipient may specify in writing. Notices will be deemed to
have been given (a) three (3) business days after deposit in the mail with proper postage for first class registered or
certified mail prepaid, or (b) one (1) day after sending by nationally recognized overnight delivery service. 17. Defend
Trade Secrets Act Notice. 18 U. S. C. § 1833 (b) provides: “ An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable
under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a
Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose
of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. ” Nothing in this Agreement is intended to conflict with 18
U. S. C. § 1833 (b) or create liability for disclosures of trade secrets that are expressly permitted by 18 U. S. C. § 1833
(b). 18. Miscellaneous. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the Parties regarding the subject
matter hereof and cannot be altered or amended except by a written instrument subsequently executed by the Parties
hereto. For the avoidance of doubt, any post- employment obligations set forth in the Amended and Restated Executive
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 12, 2021, between Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and Consultant shall
continue to apply. Any waiver of any condition, obligation, or benefit under this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver
of any subsequent breach or default of any term, condition, or limitation. The terms, conditions, and obligations of this
Agreement are binding on the respective heirs, assigns, successors, and personal representatives of the Parties hereto. In
case any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in whole or in part, then (a) the intent
of the Parties is that such provision shall be modified to the extent necessary to make it valid, legal and enforceable, and
(b) in any event neither the validity of the remaining part of such provision nor the validity of any other provision of this
Agreement shall in any way be affected thereby. Neither Party may assign this Agreement without the written consent of
the other, except that Finch may assign its rights in and delegate its obligations under this Agreement to any affiliated
entity. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, without regard to any choice of law principle that would require the application of the law of another
jurisdiction. The Parties agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts in the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and waive any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or
proceeding in such courts. [ Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows. | IN WITNESS
WHEREQF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written. FINCH
THERAPEUTICS, INC. MARK SMITH By: Jo-VineyDireetor-Matthew Blischak /s / Mark Smith Name: Matthew
Blischak Title: Chief Executive Officer To the Consulting Agreement between Finch Therapeutics, Inc. And Mark
Smith, dated May 16, 2023 A. Description of Consulting Services Consultant will perform the following Services under
this Agreement: ¢ Serve as a scientific and strategic advisor to the company. * Advance non- litigation- related licensing
and collaboration opportunities for the company * Provide ad hoc advice, recommendations and services upon request.
Consultant shall perform the Services on a schedule and at the location or locations identified above or as otherwise
mutually agreed between Consultant and Finch’ s Chief Executive Officer, hr addition, Consultant will be available for a
reasonable number of telephone and / or written communications. For the avoidance of doubt, “ Services ” shall not
include (1) testimony and preparation for testimony at trial in or any other aspect of the legal proceeding identified as



Ferring Therapeutics, Inc, Rebiotix Inc. (“ Plaintiffs ) v. Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc., Finch Therapeutics, Inc., and
Finch Therapeutics Holdings, LL.C, C. A. No. 21- 1694- RGA pending in the United States District Court for the District
of Delaware (the “ Pending Patent Litigation ”); or (2) testimony by deposition, at trial, or otherwise or any related
preparation therefor in any future or other legal proceeding including without limitation any such proceeding involving
claims related to patent infringement for any patent owned or licensed by Finch or an affiliate thereof. Consultant
agrees that he will receive no Compensation for any such activity. B. Compensation Fees: Finch will pay Consultant
based on Consultant’ s hours and ordinary and customary rate as identified below: TaskType Total Hours Rate ($ / hr)
Consulting Up to 80 hours / month $ 325Total hourly fees under this Agreement will not exceed $ 150, 000 USD during
the Term without Finch’ s express written consent. Further, Finch will not reimburse Consultant for remediating
obvious and avoidable deficiencies in any Services provided by Consultant. Milestone Payments: In addition to hourly
fees paid to Consultant, and in accordance with ordinary and customary bonuses provided by Finch, in the event that
any of the following success based Milestones are achieved during the Term, Finch will pay to Consultant a one- time
Milestone award for each milestone to the extent provided below. 1. Milestone # 1: Prior to March 23-31 , 2024,
achievement by the Company of (i) all three milestones ((a)- (c)) referenced in Section 2. a in the First Amendment to the
Exclusive License Agreement between Finch Therapeutics Holdings, LL.C and the Regents of the University of
Minnesota, dated April 12, 2023Jo—- 2023 Viney-(the “ UMN Agreement ”) , P-rAND (ii) satisfaction of the development
obligation referenced in the second full paragraph of Section 2. a of the UMN Agreement, together (i and ii) shall result
in a one- time milestone award of $ 100, 000 USD. For the avoidance of doubt, satisfaction of Milestone # 1 expressly
excludes and shall not be based on any settlement, resolution, or outcome of the Pending Patent Litigation or any license
agreement with one or both of Plaintiffs or any other party with which Finch is engaged in litigation. 2. Milestone # 2:
Prior to March 31, 2024, execution by the Company of a definitive agreement or agreements for transactions monetizing
Non- Core Assets that in aggregate provide upfront consideration totaling greater than $ 250, 000 USD shall result in a
one- time milestone award of $ 50, 000 USD. Non- Core Assets are defined as assets other than CP101, FIN- 524, FIN-
525 or FIN- 211 and consistent with the exclusion to Milestone # 1 excludes (i) any license arrangement or settlement
between the Company and one or more of Plaintiffs or any other party with which Finch is engaged in litigation and (ii)
the sale of equipment or consumables. For the avoidance of doubt, Consultant will be entitled to either or both
Milestones above only if Consultant had significant involvement in and contributed substantially to its achievement.
Upon achievement of a Milestone, Consultant will provide written notification to Finch’ s Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
with evidence that the Milestone has been completed and a corresponding invoice for the milestone award amount. The
Compensation Committee shall determine whether such Milestone has been met and whether the applicable milestone
award has been earned hereunder within thirty (30) days following the date of Consultant’ s invoice. All such
determinations shall be made and documented by the Compensation Committee in its reasonable discretion, citing
evidence, and will be final and binding on Consultant. Expenses: Finch shall reimburse Consultant for any travel or
other direct expenses related to the Services rendered hereunder, provided Finch has given prior authorization for such
expenses in writing or via electronic mail. Requests for reimbursement will be in a form reasonably acceptable to Finch,
will include supporting documentation, and will accompany Consultant’ s invoices. C. Invoicing Upon completion of
each calendar month, Consultant will submit an invoice for the hours worked, the type of Services performed, the total
amount to be billed to the client (Finch), and any travel or other direct expenses with reasonable supporting information,
within fifteen (15) days after the month end by sending an invoice and related supporting documentation to the attention
of “ Accounts Payable ” at payables @ finchtherapeutics. com . D . Term The Term of this Agreement will begin on May
16, 2023 and end upon either party’ s termination pursuant to Section 7 of this Agreement . Exhibit 10. 14 Marc
Blausteinmblaustein @ finchtherapeutics. com Dear Marc, The purpose of this letter is to amend the Employment Agreement
by and between Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. (the “ Company ) and you dated as of September 8, 2021 (the “ Employment
Agreement ), effective as of April 30, 2022 (the ““ Effective Date ™). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this letter will
have the meanings set forth in the Employment Agreement. 1. Base Salary. As of the Effective Date, Section 2. 1 of the
Employment Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: “ The Executive shall be entitled to receive an
annual base salary of § 415, 000 USD (the * Base Salary’). The Base Salary, which will be reviewed annually, will be paid
periodically in accordance with the Company’ s normal payroll practices and be subject to applicable withholdings. ” Except as
expressly modified herein, the Employment Agreement remains in full force and effect, and is binding on you and the Company
in accordance with its terms. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, you acknowledge and agree that you remain
bound by the restrictive covenants set forth in Section 3 of the Employment Agreement, and that the changes to the terms and
conditions of your employment described in this Amendment do not change or limit the scope of, or your obligations to comply
with, such restrictive covenants. [ Remainder of page intentionally left blank. | By: / s / Mark Smith Name: Mark Smith Title:
CEO EXECUTIVE: / s / Marc Blaustein Name: Marc Blaustein 2 Exhibit 10. 15 RETENTION BONUS AGREEMENT THIS
RETENTION BONUS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ™), is made and entered into by and between Finch Therapeutics
Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with all subsidiaries and affiliates hereinafter referred to as the “ Company ), and
Marc Blaustein (the “ Executive ) effective as of December 7, 2022. 1. Retention Bonus. a. Service Based- Bonus. The
Executive will be eligible to earn a service- based cash retention bonus in the aggregate amount of $ 83, 000 (the “ Service-
Based Bonus ), which shall be earned as to fifty percent (50 %) of the Service- Based Bonus on May 31, 2023 (the * First
Service- Based Bonus ) and as to the remaining fifty percent (50 %) of the Service- Based Bonus on December 31, 2023 (the *
Second Service- Based Bonus ). The First Service- Based Bonus shall be paid on December 16, 2022, subject to the Executive’
s continued employment through such date; provided, that, if the Executive subsequently terminates his or her employment
voluntarily (other than a termination by the Executive for Good Reason as defined in the Executive’ s employment agreement



with the Company) or if the Company subsequently terminates the Executive’ s employment for Cause (as defined in the
Executive’ s employment agreement with the Company), in each case, prior to May 31, 2023, the Executive shall be required to
repay, within ten (10) days of the date of termination, the full amount of the First Service- Based Bonus paid to the Executive.
The Second Service- Based Bonus shall be paid on the first regular Company payroll date that is on or after June 1, 2023,
subject to the Executive’ s continued employment through such date; provided, that, if the Executive subsequently terminates
his or her employment voluntarily (other than a termination by the Executive for Good Reason, as defined above) or if the
Company subsequently terminates the Executive’ s employment for Cause (as defined above), in each case, prior to December
31, 2023, the Executive shall be required to repay, within ten (10) days of the date of termination, the full amount of the Second
Service- Based Bonus paid to the Executive. b. Performance Based Bonus. The Executive shall be eligible to earn a
performance- based cash retention bonus in the aggregate amount of $ 332, 000 (the *“ Performance- Based Bonus 7). The
Performance- Based Bonus shall be eligible to be earned (in the amounts and at the times set forth on Exhibit A hereto) based
on the achievement of the Performance Conditions set forth on Exhibit A hereto, with respect to each applicable Performance
Condition, subject to the Executive’ s continued employment with the Company through the date the Compensation Committee
(the “ Compensation Committee ) of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ) determines such Performance
Condition has been achieved. To the extent earned, the portion of the Performance- Based Bonus that is so earned shall be paid
to the Executive within thirty (30) days following the determination by the Compensation Committee of the achievement of the
applicable Performance Condition, but in no event later than March 15th of the year following the year in which such
Performance Condition is achieved. 2. Withholding Taxes. Payments by the Company under this Agreement shall be reduced by
any tax or other amount required to be withheld by the Company under applicable law, as determined by the Company in its sole
discretion. 3. Section 409A. Payments under this Agreement are intended to be exempt from Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“ Section 409A ), and this Agreement will be construed accordingly. Each payment
hereunder shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, neither
the Company, nor any person acting on behalf of the Company, will be liable to the Executive or the Executive’ s estate or
beneficiary by reason of any acceleration of income, or any additional tax, asserted by reason of the failure of any payment to
satisfy the requirements of Section 409A. 4. Nontransferability. Neither this Agreement nor any rights under this Agreement
may be sold, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, assigned or otherwise disposed of or encumbered (directly or indirectly).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the Executive’
s consent in the event that the Company shall hereafter effect a reorganization, consolidate with, or merge into any other entity
or transfer all or substantially all of its properties, stock, or assets to any other entity. 5. No Implied Rights. The Executive’ s
employment shall at all times be at will. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Executive any right with
respect to the terms of or continuation of the Executive’ s employment with the Company or interfere with the right of the
Company to terminate the Executive’ s employment at any time, with or without notice or cause. 6. Entire Agreement;
Amendment. This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Company and the Executive with respect to any retention or
similar bonus and replaces all prior communications, agreements and understandings, written or oral, with respect to any such
bonus. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except in a writing signed by the Company and the Executive. 7.
Governing Law; Forum. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects, including as to validity, interpretation and effect, by
the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of laws rules thereof to the extent
that any such rules would require or permit the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction. The parties agree that any suit,
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be instituted in a state or federal court of competent
jurisdiction located in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and they hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of
any such court. 8. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original and shall have the same effect as if the signatures hereto and thereto were on the same instrument. [ Signature Page
Follows ]2 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Retention Bonus Agreement as of the date first written
above. FINCH THERAPEUTICS GROUP, INC. By: /s /Mark Smith Name: Mark SmithTitle: CEO
EXECUTIVE /s / Marc Blaustein Marc Blaustein EXHIBIT A 4 Exhibit 21. 1
SUBSIDIARIESName Jurisdiction of FormationFinch Therapeutics, Inc. DelawareFinch Therapeutics Holdings, LLC
DelawareFinch Research and Development, LLC DelawareExhibit 23. 1 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration No. 333- 265173 on Form S- 3
and Registration Statement Nos. 333- 254773 and 333- 264041 on Form S- 8 of our report dated March 23-25 , 2623-2024 ,
relating to the consolidated financial statements of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10- K of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 20222023 . /s /
Wolf & Company, P. C. Wolf & Company, P. C. Boston, Massachusetts Exhibit 23. 2 We consent to the incorporation
by reference in Registration No. 333- 265173 on Form S- 3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333- 270788, 333- 254773
and 333- 264041 on Form S- 8 of our report dated March 23, 2023, relating to the consolidated financial statements of
Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Finch
Therapeutics Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2023 . Exhibit 31. | CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, MardeSmith-Matthew P.
Blischak , certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Finch Therapeutics Group, Inc.; 2. Based on my
knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as




of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant' s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing
and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: €a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; £b) Designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; €c) Evaluated the effectiveness of
the registrant' s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and €d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant'
s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant' s other
certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant' s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant' s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions): €a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant' s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and €b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 23-25 , 2023-2024 By: / s / Matthew P
Mark-Smith-MarlSmith; Ph-. B-Blischak Matthew P . Blischak Chicf Executive Officer, Pres1dent and Secretary (Principal
Executive Officer) Exhibit 31. 2 [, Mare-Blaustein-Lance Thibault , certify that: Date: March 23-25 | 2623-2024 By: / s / Mare
BlausteinrMare-Blaustein-Lance Thibault Lance Thibault Chicf Operating-Financial Officer ( PrlllClpd] Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer) Exhibit 32. 1 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Finch Therapeutics Group,
Inc. (the “ Company ) for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the “ Report ), each of the undersigned officers of the company, hereby certifies, pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ), and 18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his or her knowledge: (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of
section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act; and (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.
Exhibit 97. 1 1. Introduction In accordance with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “
Exchange Act ), and the regulations thereunder, the Board of Directors (the “ Board ) of Finch Therapeutics Group,
Inc. (the “ Company ) has adopted this policy (the “ Policy ”) providing for the Company’ s recoupment of certain
incentive- based compensation received by Covered Executives (as defined below) in the event that the Company is
required to prepare an accounting restatement due to its material noncompliance with any financial reporting
requirement under the securities laws. This Policy is designed to comply with, and shall be construed and interpreted to
be consistent with, Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D- 1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and the related
listing rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market. 2. Administration Administration and enforcement of this Policy is delegated
to the Compensation Committee of the Board (as constituted from time to time, and including any successor committee,
the “ Committee ). The Committee shall make all determinations under this Policy in its sole discretion. Determinations
of the Committee under this Policy need not be uniform with respect to any or all Covered Executives and will be final
and binding. 3. Effective Date This Policy shall be effective with respect to Covered Compensation (as defined below)
that is received by Covered Executives on or after October 2, 2023 (the “ Effective Date ). 4. Covered Executives This
Policy covers each current or former officer of the Company subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act (each, a ¢
Covered Executive ). 5. Covered Compensation This Policy applies to any cash- based or equity- based incentive
compensation, bonus, and / or award that is or was received by a Covered Executive and that is based, wholly or in part,
upon the attainment of any financial reporting measure (“ Covered Compensation ). This Policy shall apply to any
Covered Compensation received by an employee who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance
period for that Covered Compensation. 6. Financial Restatements; Recoupment Inthe event that the Company is
required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in
previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result
in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period
(such an accounting restatement, a “ Restatement ), the Committee shall review the Covered Compensation received by
a Covered Executive during the three- fiscal year period preceding the Required Financial Restatement Date (as defined
below) as well as any transition period that results from a change in the Company’ s fiscal year within or immediately
following those three completed fiscal years. Regardless of whether the Company files the restated financial statements,
the Committee shall seek recoupment of any Covered Compensation, whether in the form of cash or equity, received by
a Covered Executive (computed without regard to any taxes paid), if and to the extent : Mareh-23-a) the amount of the
Covered Compensation was calculated based upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently
the subject of a Restatement; and b) the amount of the Covered Compensation that would have been received by the
Covered Executive had the financial results been properly reported would have been lower than the amount actually



awarded (any such amount , 2023-By* Erroneously Awarded Compensation ”). To the extent Covered Compensation
was based on the achievement of a financial reporting measure, but the amount of such Covered Compensation was not
awarded or paid on a formulaic basis, the Committee shall determine the amount, if any, of such Covered Compensation
that is deemed to be Erroneously Awarded Compensation. For purposes of this Policy, the “ Required Financial
Restatement Date ” is the earlier to occur of : a) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or any officer or officers
authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the
Company is required to prepare a Restatement; or b) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs
the Company to prepare a Restatement. For the avoidance of doubt, a Covered Executive will be deemed to have
received Covered Compensation in the Company’ s fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure specified
in the award is attained, even if the Covered Executive remains subject to additional payment conditions with respect to
such award. 7. Method of Recoupment The Committee will determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recouping
Erroneously Awarded Compensation, which may include, without limitation: a. requiring reimbursement of cash
incentive compensation previously paid; b. cancelling or rescinding some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity
(and / or equity- based) awards; c. adjusting or withholding from unpaid compensation or other set- off to the extent
permitted by applicable law; and / or d. reducing or eliminating entitlements to future salary increases, cash- based or
equity- based incentive compensation, bonuses, awards or severance. 8. Impracticability Exceptions The Committee shall
not seek recoupment of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the extent it determines that: a) the direct expense
paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation
to be recovered; b) recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022;
and / or c¢) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax- qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly
available to Company employees, to fail to meet the requirements of Sections 401 (a) (13) and 411 (a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder. 9. No Indemnification For the avoidance of doubt,
the Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation or
any Covered Compensation that is recouped pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or any claims relating to the Company’
s AMark-Smith-Mark-Smith; Ph-enforcement of its rights under this Policy . B-10 . €hief-Severability If any provision of
this Policy or the application of any such provision to any Covered Exccutive ©ffieer-shall be adjudicated to be invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions
of this Policy, and the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent
necessary to render any such provision or application enforceable. 11. Amendments The Committee may amend, modify
or terminate this Policy in whole or in part at any time and may adopt such rules and procedures that it deems necessary
or appropriate to implement this Policy or to comply with applicable laws and regulations. 12. No Impairment of Other
Remedies The remedies under this Policy are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any legal and equitable claims the
Company may have, the Company’ s ability to enforce, without duplication, the recoupment provisions set forth in any
separate Company policy or in any Company plan, program or agreement ( Prineipat-each, a  Separate Recoupment
Policy ” and collectively, the “ Separate Recoupment Policies ), or any actions that may be imposed by law enforcement
agencies, regulators or other authorities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that there is a conflict between the
application of this Policy to a Covered Exccutive Offieerr-in the event of a Restatement and any additional recoupment
provisions set forth in a Separate Recoupment Policy to which a Covered Executive is subject, the provisions of this
Policy shall control. The Company may also adopt additional Separate Recoupment Policies in the future or amend
existing requirements as required by law or regulation.



